

Modifications moléculaires et fonctionnelles au cours du vieillissement des poudres d'isolats de protéines solubles (WPI)

Eve-Anne Norwood

► To cite this version:

Eve-Anne Norwood. Modifications moléculaires et fonctionnelles au cours du vieillissement des poudres d'isolats de protéines solubles (WPI). Alimentation et Nutrition. Agrocampus Ouest, 2016. Français. NNT : 2016NSARB281 . tel-01636155

HAL Id: tel-01636155 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01636155

Submitted on 16 Nov 2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



AGRO CAMPUS

OUEST

Eve-Anne NORWOOD • 13 octobre 2016

Thèse AGROCAMPUS OUEST sous le label de l'Université Bretagne Loire pour obtenir le grade de **DOCTEUR D'AGROCAMPUS OUEST** Spécialité Science de l'aliment ÉCOLE DOCTORALE • Vie - Agro - Santé (VAS) LABORATOIRE D'ACCUEIL • UMR 1253 INRA - AGROCAMPUS OUEST Science et Technologie du Lait et de l'Œuf (STLO)

Modifications moléculaires et fonctionnelles au cours du vieillissement des poudres d'isolats de protéines solubles (WPI) Gérard CUVELIER Professeur, AgroParisTech / président Bhesh BHANDARI Professeur, Univ. of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia / rapporteur Sylvie BANON Maître de conférences, ENSAIA, Nancy / examinatrice Alain RIAUBLANC Chargé de recherche, INRA, Nantes / examinateur Romain JEANTET Professeur, AGROCAMPUS OUEST, UMR INRA – AO STLO / directeur de thèse Thomas CROGUENNEC Professeur, AGROCAMPUS OUEST, UMR INRA – AO STLO / co-directeur de thèse

Iraz ALPER Chargée de mission, CNIEL Paris / membre invité Marie –Laure VIGNOLLES PhD, LACTALIS R&D, Retiers / membre invité





PhD THESIS

At Agrocampus Ouest Under the seal of the Bretagne Loire Univeristy

To obtain the degree of:

Docteur de l'Institut supérieur des sciences agronomiques, agro-alimentaires,

horticoles et du paysage

Specialisation: Food Science

Doctoral College: Vie-Agro-Santé (VAS)

Presented by:

Eve-Anne NORWOOD

Rennes, 13 October 2016

Molecular and functional changes occurring during ageing

of whey protein isolate powders

JURY

Gérard CUVELIER, Professor, AgroParisTech, Paris, France	President/Reviewer
Bhesh BHANDARI, Professor, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia	Reviewer
Sylvie BANON, PhD, ENSAIA, Nancy, France	Member
Alain RIAUBLANC, PhD, UR INRA BIA, Nantes, France	Member
Romain JEANTET, Professor, UMR INRA/AO STLO, Rennes, France	PhD Supervisor
Thomas CROGUENNEC, Professor, UMR INRA/AO STLO, Rennes, France	PhD Co-Supervisor
Iraz ALPER, PhD, CNIEL, Paris, France	Guest
Marie-Laure VIGNOLLES, PhD, Lactalis R&D, Retiers, France	Guest





"Ever tried.

Ever failed.

No matter.

Try again.

Fail again.

Fail better."

Samuel Beckett (1906-1989)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A l'issue de cette rédaction, je peux dire que la thèse est loin d'être un travail solitaire et je ne peux la terminer sans remercier les personnes qui m'ont encadrée, aidée et soutenue au cours de ces trois dernières années. Je tiens également à remercier par avance ceux dont le nom n'apparaitra pas dans ces pages.

En premier lieu, je souhaiterais remercier les membres de mon jury d'avoir accepté de lire et d'évaluer mon travail. Merci à Bhesh Bhandari, Gérard Cuvelier, Sylvie Banon et Alain Riaublanc.

Je tiens à remercier tout particulièrement Romain Jeantet qui m'a dirigée tout au long de ces trois années de thèse, pour sa disponibilité et son intérêt à l'avancée de mes travaux, ainsi que pour sa rigueur scientifique et technologique qui m'ont beaucoup appris. J'adresse mes sincères remerciements à Thomas Croguennec pour avoir co-encadré ce travail de thèse et pour être une source d'idées intarissable. Je remercie aussi Cécile Le Floch-Fouéré pour ses conseils et son appui scientifique. Enfin, je remercie Pierre Schuck pour son expertise du monde industriel et son soutien. Merci à tous les quatre pour m'avoir soutenue tout au long de ce travail.

Je remercie le *Centre National Interprofessionel de l'Economie Laitière* (CNIEL) d'avoir financé ce projet, avec un merci tout particulier à Iraz Alper et Jean-Pierre Guyonnet pour avoir suivi et encadré ce travail selon les attentes industrielles. Je remercie bien évidemment tous les industriels pour leur implication dans le projet. Et je remercie également Marie-Laure Vignolles pour avoir bien voulu participer au jury de ma thèse.

Je souhaite remercier Guillaume Delaplace, Sarah Nasser, Claire Gaiani, Joël Scher et Jennifer Burgain pour les échanges et discussions qui nous ont permis d'avancer dans nos travaux respectifs.

Je remercie mon tuteur de thèse, Jean-François Hubert, pour le suivi de ma thèse.

Je remercie également Joëlle Léonil pour m'avoir accueillie au sein de l'INRA UMR STLO.

Je remercie Arnaud Saint-Jalmes, Stéphane Pezennec, Valérie Briard-Bion avec qui j'ai eu la chance de pouvoir travailler et Serge Méjean, Benoit Robert, Gilles Paboeuf, Anne Dolivet, Ning Wang pour votre aide précieuse lors des productions de poudre ou pour les manips qui ont suivies. Merci aussi à Mr Daniel Gosselin et Isigny Sainte Mère pour leur aide lors du conditionnement des poudres. Merci à l'IPR, à Véronique Vié et Sylvie Beaufils pour m'avoir accueillie pour les manips d'ellipsométrie. Je

i

remercie également toutes les personnes de l'INRA STLO qui m'ont aidé de près ou de loin. Merci à Paulette, Rachel Boutrou, Chantal Cauty, Anne Giboulot, Marie-Bernadette Maillard, Eric Beaucher, Florence Rousseau, Pascaline Hamon et Anne-Cécile Santellani.

Un grand merci à toutes les personnes du côté Agrocampus pour votre accueil, pour votre chaleur et votre humour. Merci à Catherine, Françoise, Valérie, Juliane, Coralie, Amélie, Marie-Françoise, Dominique, à ma collègue de bureau Peggy et bien sûr Marie-Claude ! Un merci tout particulier à Maryvonne Pasco pour son aide sur les manips à l'IPR où le temps jouait contre nous, et à Claire Prioul pour les manips d'HPLC avec son lot de surprises (bonnes ou mauvaises) ainsi que pour ton amitié (et nos parties toujours très ludiques à Duel Quiz).

I would like to extend my gratitude to Palatasa Havea for making me discover the exciting world of research, particularly on dairy powders.

Merci à mes amis que j'ai eu la chance de rencontrer pendant cette thèse, que ce soit au labo ou non, pour m'avoir soutenue dans les bons moments comme dans les moins bons (Moi paniquer ? Non...). MERCl¹⁰ à Fanny, Linda, Mélanie C., Anne-Laure, Marie et Carlito, merci aussi à Coralie P., Lélia, Lucie, Samira... Merci à mes premières collègues de bureaux, Kéra et Céline, ainsi que Mélanie D. Merci aussi à Gaby et Alix pour m'avoir écoutée lors de nos balades à cheval ou lorsqu'on prenait soin de nos grosses bêtes au grand cœur.

Un remerciement spécial pour mes beaux-parents, Denis et Ginette pour votre soutien et votre gentillesse incomparable. Je n'oublie pas Ophélie, merci.

Merci à mes amies de toujours, avec qui j'ai grandi : Camizole, Beck, Sophie, Tipoune et Cadart. Je remercie aussi Pauline, Jeanne et Adeline.

Voilà, je voudrais terminer mes remerciements par les personnes qui me sont le plus chères... Merci à mes 5 frères, Pierre-Henry (et Xiu Yue), Tristan, James (et Adeline), Louis et Richard, que j'aime pardessus tout et qui font que notre famille est exceptionnelle. Un merci d'amour à Valentin, merci de m'avoir toujours soutenue par ta façon de me motiver qui n'appartient qu'à toi seul (« allez, go ! »), par ta compréhension et aussi pour avoir supporté mon humeur variante surtout durant les derniers mois, ceux de rédaction qui n'ont pas toujours été des plus agréables. Enfin, je pense à mes parents... Merci maman, merci papa... Merci de m'avoir soutenue, de m'avoir conseillée, de m'avoir encouragée, d'avoir cru en moi, d'avoir été là (au téléphone ou en vrai), et ce depuis toute petite. Merci pour votre amour, merci pour TOUT !

THESIS OUTPUTS

Articles

- Norwood EA, Pezennec S, Burgain J, Briard-Bion V, Schuck P, Croguennec T, Jeantet R, & Le Floch-Fouéré C. (2017). Crucial role of remaining lactose in whey protein isolate powders during storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 195, 206–216. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.10.010.
- Norwood EA, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Croguennec T, & Jeantet R. (2016). Structural markers of the evolution of whey protein isolate powder during aging and effects on foaming properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99(7), 5265–5272. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-10788.
- Burgain J, El Zein R, Petit J, Norwood EA, Francius G, & Gaiani C. (2016). Local modification of whey protein isolate powder surface during high temperature storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 178, 39–46. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.01.005.
- Norwood EA, Chevallier M, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Jeantet R, & Croguennec T. (2016). Heatinduced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions of whey protein isolate powders. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(6), 993–1001. doi:10.1007/s11947-016-1686-1.
- Norwood, E.-A., Le Floch-Fouéré, C., Schuck, P., Croguennec, T., & Jeantet, R. (2015). Marqueurs structuraux de l'évolution des poudres de WPI au stockage et impact sur les propriétés moussantes et l'indice de brunissement. *Récents progrès en génie des procédés*, 107 (national refereed journal). https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01209807

Review

Norwood, E.-A., Nasser, S., Le Floch-Fouéré, C., Schuck, P., Delaplace, G., Croguennec, T., & Jeantet R. Storage of high protein dairy powders: changes in protein structures and functions. A review. Submitted to *Trends in Food Science and Technology*.

Oral communications

- Norwood, E.-A., Chevallier, M., Floch-Fouéré, C. L., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R., & Croguennec, T. Heatinduced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions of whey protein isolate powders. IDF Concentration and Dried Milk Products Symposium, 11-13 April 2016, Dublin, Ireland.
- Norwood, E.-A., Chevallier, M., Floch-Fouéré, C. L., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R., & Croguennec, T. Structural markers of evolution of whey protein isolate powders during ageing and impact on functional properties. European Drying Conference, 21-23 October 2015, Budapest, Hungary.
- Norwood, E.-A., Le Floch-Fouéré, C., Schuck, P., Croguennec, T., & Jeantet, R. Structural markers of the evolution of WPI during ageing and impact on foaming properties. STPMF (Science and Technology of Powders and Sintered Materials), 8-10 April 2015, Nancy, France.

Poster

Norwood, E.-A., Le Floch-Fouéré, C., Schuck, P., Croguennec, T., & Jeantet, R. Heat-induced aggregation of WPI is affected by storage conditions of the powder. IDF World Dairy Summit, 20-24 September 2015, Vilnius, Lithuania.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	i
Thesis outputs	iii
List of abbreviations	ix
General introduction	1
Chapter 1. Milk market and importance of dairy powders storage	3
Part 1. Economic context	5
1.1.1. Economic position and interest of dairy powders	5
1.1.2. Drying in the dairy industry	8
1.1.3. Coveted high protein dairy ingredients in the European Union	8
Part 2. Storage of high protein dairy powders	13
1.2.1. Introduction	13
1.2.2. Powders' stability during storage	14
1.2.3. Changes in functional properties upon storage	15
1.2.4. Changes in structural properties of aged powders	
1.2.5. Conclusion	26
Part 3. About the PhD project: Aims and strategy	26
1.3.1. Context and research question	26
1.3.2. Objectives and Strategy of the PhD research project	29
Chapter 2. Study of the structural changes occuring in the WPI powder during storage	
Part 1. Introduction	
Part 2. Experimental strategy	
2.2.1. Production of the WPI powders	
2.2.2. WPI powder storage conditions	
2.2.3. Powder composition	
2.2.4. Powder surface characterization	

2.2.5. Chemical analysis	39
2.2.6. Physical analysis	41
Part 3. Changes at a mesoscopic scale	41
2.3.1. Fresh powder composition	41
2.3.2. Colour of stored powders	42
2.3.3. Morphological study	44
2.3.4. Particle surface chemistry	45
Part 4. Changes at a molecular scale	48
2.4.1. Protein denaturation of stored powders	48
2.4.2. Protein lactosylation	50
2.4.3. Conformational stability	52
2.4.4. Aggregation in the dry state	53
Part 5. Discussion: Maillard reaction is the main reaction occurring during WPI powder storage	57
Part 6. Additional results: influence of storage accidents	59
2.6.1. Objectives	59
2.6.2. Experimental strategy	59
2.6.3. Results and discussion	60
Part 7. Conclusions	63
Chapter 3. Study of changes in whey proteins heat-induced aggregation, foaming and interfa	cial
properties	65
Part 1. Introduction	67
Part 2. Experimental strategy	68
3.2.1. Heat-induced aggregation	68
3.2.2. Analysis of foam properties	68
3.2.3. Analysis of the interfacial properties	69
Part 3. Heat-induced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions	s of
whey protein isolate powder	72
3.3.1. Study of the heat-induced aggregates size and shapes	72

3.3.2. Role of the structural markers of ageing in heat-induced aggregation	74
Part 4. Little effect on the foaming and interfacial properties	
3.4.1. Foam stability	
3.4.2. Interfacial properties	80
Part 5. Additional results: effect of storage accident on whey proteins heat-induce	ed aggregation
properties	
3.5.1. Experimental strategy	84
3.5.2. Results and discussion	
Part 6. Conclusions	86
Chapter 4. Is there a solution to overcome these storage-related alterations?	
Part 1. Introduction	
Part 2. Experimental strategy	
4.2.1. WPI powders with different particle size	
4.2.2. Powders with different lactose content	
4.2.3. WP powders storage conditions	
4.2.4. Chemical & physical analysis	
4.2.5. Heat-induced aggregation properties	
Part 3. Study of the effect of powders particles size upon ageing	
4.3.1. Denaturation state	
4.3.2. Protein lactosylation	
4.3.3. Aggregation in the dry state	
4.3.4. Heat-induced aggregation properties	
4.3.5. Discussion	100
Part 4. Study of the crucial role of remaining lactose molecules on whey proteins pow	der ageing 101
4.4.1. Colour of stored powders	
4.4.2. Denaturation profiles of powders with different lactose content	
4.4.3. Protein lactosylation	105
4.4.4. Conformational changes in protein structure	107

4.4.5. Aggregation in the dry state113
4.4.6. Heat-induced aggregation properties117
4.4.7. Discussion 120
Part 5. Conclusions
Chapter 5. Knowledge integration
Part 1. Introduction
Part 2. Statistical analysis 128
Part 3. Ageing path of whey protein isolate powders 128
5.3.1. Correspondence between aged samples
5.3.2. WPI ageing path determined by PCA 130
Part 4. Beneficial contributions for industrials 133
Part 5. Conclusions
General conclusion
Further outlook
References
Table of figures
Table of tables

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AFM: atomic force microscopy
- AGE: advanced glycation end-products
- α -LA: α -lactalbumin
- Asp: aspartic acid
- ATR: attenuated total reflection
- AU: arbitrary units
- a_w: water activity
- β-CN: β-casein
- β-LG: β-lactoglobulin
- BI: browning index
- BSA: bovine serum albumin
- C_b: bulk concentration
- CD: circular dichroism
- D: diffusion coefficient
- Δ : ellipsometric angle
- DLS: dynamic light scattering
- DM: dry matter
- DTNB: 2.2'-Dinitro-5.5-dithiodibenzoate
- DTT: dithiothreitol
- ESCA: electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis
- FD: foam density
- FS: foam stability
- FTIR: Fourier transform Infrared spectroscopy
- γ : surface tension
- $\Gamma_0:$ surface concentration at which π is different from zero

GPC-HPLC: gel permeation chromatography – HPLC HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography I(lact): intensity of the lactosylated protein I(NAP): intensity of the non-aggregated protein Lys: Lysine residue mo: month MPC: milk protein concentrate MPI: milk protein isolate M_w: molecular weight NCN: non-casein nitrogen NP: native protein NPN: non-protein nitrogen PC: principal component PCA: principal component analysis pl: isoelectric point π : surface pressure Ref: Control WPI powder RP-HPLC: reverse-phase – HPLC SAXS: small angle X-rays scattering SDS-PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis SEM: scanning electron microscopy SMP: skim milk powder t: time T: temperature TEM: transmission electron microscopy θ : the amplitude of interactions at the air/water interface θ_{B} : Brewster angle

- TFA: trifluoroacetic acid
- T_{g} : glass transition temperature
- TN: total nitrogen
- TOF SIMS: time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry
- USD: US dollar
- WMP: whole milk powder
- WP: whey protein
- WPC: whey protein concentrate
- WPH: whey protein hydrolysate
- WPI: whey protein isolate
- XPS: X-Ray photoelectron spectroscopy

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Milk and whey dehydration originally targeted to stabilize the surplus coming from the dairy industry to ensure storage. Long considered by-products, the resulting powders were mainly intended for animal feed and then generated only a low valuation of matter. Now milk and whey powders are mainly used as food ingredients and are produced at large scales. The global market for milk powders has indeed undergone two major transitions over the past four decades, first by integrating scientific and technological knowledge, and secondly due to the growing demand from the emerging markets. The use of separation techniques such as membrane filtration (*i.e.* microfiltration and ultrafiltration) allowed to access a new range of dry products with higher added value, including concentrates and isolates of specific milk protein fractions (Schuck 2002). By the production of these latter, the dairy sector lastly turned towards the nutritional control of these powders as well as their technological functionalities (texture properties, gelling, foaming and emulsifying).

If one emphasizes the significant share constituted by these dry functional products on the global market (uses representing about 150 000 tonnes equivalent protein in the sole European Union; FranceAgriMer 2012), the challenge represented by this market segment makes now these products a relevant axis of development for the industrial sector. This is particularly true in terms of how their conservation may affect their techno-functional properties. Moreover, the literature gathers a great number of studies on high protein dairy powders storage but they principally focused on protein concentrate powders or caseinate powders. A lack of knowledge remains on the ageing of whey protein isolate powders in terms of storage stability and functionality whereas the uses of this dry ingredient are expected to strongly increase in the next five years (Potier 2015). Thus, characterizing and measuring precisely the changes occurring during storage of whey protein isolate powders in order to better control their functionalities, resulted in a major research program conducted by the National Institute for Agricultural Research (INRA) in close interaction with the *Centre National Interprofessionnel de l'Economie laitière* (CNIEL).

The so called program *CODE POUDRE* aims to better understand the evolution of the functional properties undergone by high protein dairy powders over time and to link these changes with the environmental storage conditions. This includes:

x Assessing the influence of both ageing and production conditions on rehydration properties and more generally on the functional properties

- x Identifying the mechanisms related to the structural changes in high protein dairy powders and the matter reorganization behind these changes. This characterization will be led at different scales of observation, which are the molecular, mesoscopic (particle), and macroscopic (powder) scales.
- x Finally, in terms of applied objectives, designing technological routes for increasing the high protein dairy powder stability and tools in order to define its storage conditions.

The CODE POUDRE program therefore aims to address the issues raised by the ageing of high protein dairy powders, which can be summed up by "What conditions of processing and / or storage to adopt in order to perpetuate the functional properties of high protein dairy powders", relying on tools, methods and strategy reflected in previous programs.

CODE POUDRE is a 4-years program and is financially supported by the CNIEL. It includes two PhD studies, supported by the ANRT, and a post-doctoral study. These are coordinated by two INRA joint Research Units – the Science and Technology of Milk and Eggs, Agrocampus Ouest (STLO) and the Interface Processes and Hygiene of Materials (PIHM) - in partnership with the University of Lorraine (LIBio).

This present work is therefore one of the two PhD studies of the program and is focused on the structural and functional ageing of whey protein isolate powders. The underlying objective was to assess the ageing path of these powders to better control their changes occurring during storage. This work has been divided into 3 main parts dealing successively with the study of the structural markers of protein ageing (**Chapter 2**), the study of the impact of these structural changes on the heat-induced aggregation properties, the foaming properties and the interfacial properties of the powders (**Chapter 3**) and finally the study of technological levers limiting and/or minimizing the changes specific to WPI powders storage, ending with the integration of the new knowledge brought by this project (**Chapter 4** and **Chapter 5**). Ahead of these three parts, the scientific and economic contexts of the PhD project are presented in order to understand its originality, its goals and its objectives (**Chapter 1**).

CHAPTER 1. MILK MARKET AND IMPORTANCE OF DAIRY POWDERS STORAGE

This chapter aims to introduce the interest of dairy powders and their economic weight regarding the current global milk production. In addition to key statistics on milk production and dairy powders, a literature section will show that this way to store milk compounds creates significant end use issues for industries using these dry ingredients. In particular, this part lists exhaustively changes at molecular, mesoscopic and macroscopic scales that are responsible for changes in powder functional properties during preservation. This part has been submitted as a review in *Trends in Food Science and Technology* journal (Paper¹). Last and based on the concluding remarks of this review, the final section of this chapter will display the aims, the originality and the strategy of this PhD project. Indeed, understanding the changes occurring during high protein dairy powders' storage is essential to guarantee the preservation of their properties on long-term storage. This will help manufacturers to improve their competitiveness on a challenging market by reducing added value losses consecutive to uncontrolled changes in powder functionalities.

The aims of this chapter were to:

- x provide an insight on the market of dairy powders and more specifically high protein dairy powders
- *x* provide highlights on the influence of storage conditions on high protein dairy powders ageing
- *x define the PhD research area and display the research question*

¹ Submitted to *Trends in Food Science and Technology* as Norwood EA, Nasser S, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Delaplace G, Croguennec T, Jeantet R. Storage of high protein dairy powders: changes in protein structures and functions. A review.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Milk market and importance of dairy powders storage	
Part 1. Economic context	5
1.1.1. Economic position and interest of dairy powders	5
1.1.2. Drying in the dairy industry	8
1.1.3. Coveted high protein dairy ingredients in the European Union	8
Part 2. Storage of high protein dairy powders	
1.2.1. Introduction	
1.2.2. Powders' stability during storage	
1.2.3. Changes in functional properties upon storage	
1.2.4. Changes in structural properties of aged powders	
1.2.5. Conclusion	
Part 3. About the PhD project: aims and strategy	
1.3.1. Context and research question	
1.3.2. Objectives and strategy of the PhD research project	

PART 1. ECONOMIC CONTEXT

1.1.1. ECONOMIC POSITION AND INTEREST OF DAIRY POWDERS

The year 2014 was characterized by a significant 3% increase of overall milk production compared to 2013, which was estimated at around 802 million tonnes (m. t) all milk species included (**Figure 1**). This characterized the start of market turnover since this abundant milk delivery had to lead to further output, especially dairy powders.



Figure 1: World milk production - all milk species (Pilet 2016)

Milk production is driven by three main world regions, being first Asia with 38% total milk followed by Europe and North & Central America with 29% and 15% total milk, respectively. As expected, the world trade is dominated by the exchanges between these regions and more precisely by North America, Western Europe and South East Asia, which represent alone 82% of the total milk production. Apart from these leader regions, South America, Africa and Oceania represent 9%, 6% and 4% of the total milk production, respectively.

However, all countries are not on the same basis of equality regarding milk production. A milk deficit compare to demand is observed in most countries, especially developing/emerging countries (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Dairy trade balances in 2013 composed of surplus countries with a positive trade balanced of more than 2% (blue), balanced countries (grey) and deficit countries with a negative trade balanced of less than 2% (yellow) (Pilet 2016)

The European Union (EU), Oceania, the United States (US) and some countries in South America (Chili, Argentine, Uruguay and Bolivia) have a surplus in milk production in relation to their domestic demand. Since mid-2013, the balance between the supply and the demand has shifted towards a bigger supply from the most producing countries (EU, New Zealand, US, Australia and Argentina) (Pilet 2016). This trends is emphasized in the EU with the abolition of the European milk quota in 2015. It is believed that French milk collection will increase of around 2% per year until 2020 (Maison de l'agriculture 2014).

The development of the international trade in the recent decades and the increased competition from Southeast Asian regions would suggest that today most regions heavily export and import to other parts of the world. However, as Asian countries are not self-sufficient with their milk production, a strong geographical trade polarization has been observed (**Figure 3**). Most of the global trade in milk is between rich countries. Here, the four parts of the world which constitute the main export areas are the EU and New Zealand with 25% of the exports share in the first place, the US and Australia in second place with between 5 and 15% of exports share and at last Argentina with less than 5%. These areas especially trade with each other and developed countries having milk deficit.



Figure 3: Top 5 export flows per exporter exceeding 10 000 tonnes. Development 2013/14 as indicated in % (IDF 2015)

As a consequence, the most producing countries had to find a way to preserve the milk production surplus and to export it in safe conditions. This has led to an increase in some types of dairy output and more specifically in dairy powders (**Table 1**). The global production of the main dairy powders showed an increase of about 20.6% between 2010 and 2014, which came up with an increase of about 29%, 20% and 10% for skim milk powder (SMP), whole milk powders (WMP) and whey powders, respectively. These increases are mainly due to the EU that increases its production of 47% and 15% in four years for SMP and whey powders, respectively, and to Oceania that increases its production of about 41% for WMP.

× 1000	SMP		WMP		Whey powders	
tonnes	2010	2014	2010	2014	2010	2014
EU (28)	1078	1590	751	803	1939	2229
N. & C. America	900	1116	138	136	498	437
Asia	536	640	1000	1100	-	-
Oceania	566	653	1098	1551	61	52
S. America	130	154	705	844	29	64
Total	3210	4153	3692	4434	2527	2782

 Table 1: Overall production of the main dairy powders between 2010 and 2014 (CNIEL 2016)

This evolution of dairy powders global production can be explain by the fact that powder processing is the major way to stabilize dairy products over long periods of time (up to 2 years), reduce the volume and consequently the cost of routing.

1.1.2. DRYING IN THE DAIRY INDUSTRY

The drying process is used in many fields such as pharmaceutical and food processing. Whatever the context, the aim is the same: *i.e.* improve stability and extend product shelf life, and reduce its transport and storage costs (Jeantet et al. 2011). The challenge is to keep the physical and functional properties of the dry material unchanged, for fresh powders as for long storage time.

Spray drying is the most commonly drying process used in the dairy industry for producing dairy powders and stabilizing dairy constituents. The spray drying method consists in obtaining a divided solid, through contact of a dispersed fluid sprayed into fine droplets with hot air (Schuck 2002). By varying the process parameters (spraying pressure and device, air flow rate and temperature, concentrate flow rate and dry matter), it is possible to control various properties of the finished product such as size, shape and porosity which will define its storage behaviour and eventually its functional properties.

1.1.3. COVETED HIGH PROTEIN DAIRY INGREDIENTS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

DESCRIPTION OF HIGH PROTEIN DAIRY INGREDIENTS

Nearly 12% of milk collection is valued in a powder form. Until the eighties, the bulk of dairy powders gathered whole or skim milk, whey or buttermilk powders. Hardly better valued than the raw milk, these powders were used as market release products and carryovers ingredients in human food or in animal feed. Thanks to the advances in the technique of milk "cracking", the market for dry ingredients has grown exponentially (Schuck et al. 2013). Indeed, the emergence of filtration technologies made it possible for the dairy industry to design increasingly sophisticated preparation processes (Figure 4) in order to improve milk component valorisation and meet user needs in term of functional and nutritional properties (Schuck 2002).

This gave rise to the development of a wide variety of high added value milk protein concentrate (MPC) or whey proteins concentrates (WPC) and isolate powders (WPI), etc. called high protein dairy powders. In the last ten years, the nature of dairy powders has changed to more specific powders. Indeed, they have been developed as techno-functional ingredients according to their expected functional properties such as gelation, foaming and emulsification.



Figure 4: "Cracking" of milk (Schuck 2002)

Several levels of high added value products can be distinguish:

- x Concentrates, with a protein content < 90% of the dry matter (DM):
 - o Whey Protein Concentrate (WPC)
 - o Milk Protein Concentrate (MPC)
- x Isolates, which are highly purified protein concentrate with a protein content \ge 90% of the DM:
 - o Whey Protein Isolate (WPI)
 - o Milk protein isolate (MPI)
 - o Whey protein hydrolysate (WPH)
- x Protein fractions:
 - o Micellar caseins
 - o Caseinates

Milk protein concentrate (MPC) powder obtained by ultrafiltration, skim milk powder or whole milk powder contain the milk proteins in the same ratio than in raw milk (80% caseins and 20% whey proteins) but with decreasing amount of protein and various amounts of lactose, mineral and fat (Schuck 2002). MPC may also be composed of 90:10 caseins / whey proteins if they are from microfiltration. Casein powders are obtained after separation of casein from whey proteins either by selective precipitation of casein at pH4.6 (casein, caseinate powders) or by microfiltration of milk

(micellar casein concentrate powders). Whey protein (WP) powders are obtained through the spray drying of whey protein fraction recovered either from milk microfiltrate, cheese whey or acid whey after casein removal.

High protein dairy powders represent a fast-growing market influenced by the thriving market of infant formulae and products with specific nutritional assets for the elderly, sportspeople and athletes. High protein dairy powders and infant formulae powders have thus become the driving force of investments in the dairy sector worldwide. In 2012, the uses of high protein dairy powders represented nearly 150 000 tonnes protein equivalent in the EU (FranceAgriMer 2012) and contributed significantly to the overall 8.4 billion USD of investments realised for dairy powders between 2012 and 2015 (Rouyer 2015). Nowadays, their properties – texturing, gelling, foaming or emulsifying – are well valued in the food industry. Besides, the pharmaceutical industry is also fond of dairy ingredients for skin moisturizing, sleep or appetite regulation, hypertension...

PRODUCTION VOLUME AND USES OF HIGH PROTEIN DAIRY INGREDIENTS

Casein and caseinates overall production in the EU reached approximately 125,000 tonnes with an availability for uses of 85,000 tonnes (FranceAgriMer 2012). WPC are used of up about 110,000 tonnes in protein equivalent in industry and the MPCs have an availability for uses of around 60 to 80,000 tonnes in the EU (FranceAgriMer 2012).

USES OF DAIRY POWDERS

Above the fact that there is a global increase in the dairy powder production, a change in the allocation of tonnage could be observed with a decrease in basic dried products towards more sophisticated ones (Table 2).

	Industrial uses (%)		
	2005	2010	
SMP	41	35	
WMP	11	12	
Whey powders	19	20	
Caseins/caseinates	13	10	
MPC	6	8	
WPC	10	15	

 Table 2: Industrial uses in EU 27 between 2005 and 2010 (FranceAgriMer 2012)

In the past decade, the substitution of milk powder, as SMP decreasing from 41% to 35% between 2005 and 2010, was essentially made with more concentrated dairy powders – high protein dairy powders – such as WPC and to a lesser extent through MPC. They are particularly found in animal feed, where the WPCs, whey permeate powder and vegetable proteins have come to replace the skim milk powder.





Figure 5: Identified uses of caseins and caseinates in the EU 27 in 2010 (FranceAgriMer 2012)

As shown in **Figure 5**, 72% of the caseins/caseinates are mainly used in the food industry for their texturizing properties (*e.g.* melted cheese, fresh dairy products), emulsifying properties (*e.g.* cooked meats) or their protein intake (*e.g.* dietary products). They are also involved in food mixes and ready to eat meals. Non-food uses include paint or glue and are of a significant use. These applications implies most often casein imported from third countries and of lower quality than that used in the food industry.

USES OF WHEY ISSUED PRODUCTS

Whey went from a status of waste to the status of by-product and co-product to finally become an ingredient itself. To illustrate this change of status in 2008, Smithers intituled its review "whey and whey proteins: from gutter to gold". Now the trend is to extract the whey proteins from the whey in order to optimize its global value. This resulted in the development of WPC at various concentrations, WPI, WPH and even more fractionated pure protein fractions such as beta-lactoglobulin (β -LG), alpha-lactalbumin (α -LA), which are the two main whey proteins, lactoferrin, etc. In parallel, a rich in lactose - poor protein product is produced, leading to whey permeate powders.

Over the past decades, WPC and WPI have been part of a growing market owing to their specific functional properties, including both technological (*e.g.* gelling or foaming) and nutritional properties. The rapid expansion of some dietary products targeting specific populations (infant formulae, specific nutrition for elderly and sportspeople) has boosted their added value on the European and the US market. In Europe, this development concerns WPC35 (protein content of >35%) but also concentrate with higher protein content (>50%) and WPI. In the US, the increased production of high-value whey protein appears to be a real trend.



Figure 6: Distribution of WPC applications in the food sector in the EU 27 in 2010 (FranceAgriMer 2012)

The main WPC application sector is animal feed (calves breastfeeding), representing half of the uses of WPC35 (about 170,000 tonnes) (Figure 6). In second place, fresh dairy products and diet and health applications are found with the use of around 23,500 tonnes in protein equivalent. Uses of WPCs are more and more developed in the ice cream industry, pastry and sauces due to the society expectations leading to more natural food products (ideally without additives). Whey proteins promote foam formation, gelation, water uptake, emulsification of fat, and improve the melt behaviour of cheese. One of the advantages of WPC is to contain less lactose than the whey powders.

CONCLUSION

In recent years, the production and uses of WPC/MPC and WPI/MPI have developed primarily thanks to their specific functional properties. Indeed, it has been observed that conventional dairy ingredients like skim milk powders and whey powders were gradually replaced by MPC or WPC in food products (including animal feed) consumed in the EU.

It can be further noted that the present development of health and dietary foods should increase significantly the use of high protein dairy ingredients. The demand specifically targets the high protein dairy ingredients: caseinates, MPI, and even more especially the WPI powders.

Thereby controlling the quality of the high protein dairy powders during storage is of crucial importance in order to keep the end use properties of a fresh powder. Indeed, the literature showed that a poor control of storage could cause significant functional changes that may lead to crucial issues in the industrial uses.

PART 2. STORAGE OF HIGH PROTEIN DAIRY POWDERS

1.2.1. INTRODUCTION

Following a growing global demand and a world trade (without intra-EU trade) of 42 billion USD (Rouyer 2015), dairy companies increasingly convert milk and milk derivatives into powders to facilitate storage and transportation across the world. Indeed, drying keeps dairy products over long periods (0.5 to 2 years) and facilitate trade through exportation by lowering volumes from a 5 to 15 times factor, given that milk production and milk consumption zones do not perfectly match.

Considering dairy powders as key ingredients in the formulation of a wide variety of food products, the control of their functional and nutritional properties is crucial as it determines their value and uses. This is particularly the case for products such as those indicated above (infant formulae, products for elderly and sportspeople, etc.) because of their high added value. Consequently, dairy powder properties must be reproducible and remain constant during storage and delivery. However, studies indicate that dairy powders stored under unfavourable temperature and humidity conditions undergo physical (wettability, flowability, browning,...) (E. H.-J. Kim et al. 2009a; Morgan et al. 2005; Stapelfeldt et al. 1997) and chemical (lactose crystallization, Maillard reaction, changes in protein structure, fat oxidation ...) (Le, Holland, et al. 2013; Morgan et al. 2005; Thomas, Scher, Desobry-Banon, et al. 2004) changes with time. The type and kinetics of changes are dependent on the composition of the dairy powder and the storage conditions.

This review aims to report the physical and chemical changes that occur during storage of high protein dairy powders with a special focus on the modifications impacting protein structure and functionalities. The changes of other milk powders will be considered if needed to shed light on the changes occurring in high protein dairy powder.

1.2.2. POWDERS' STABILITY DURING STORAGE

Powders are considered stable as soon as the functional properties of the powder are unchanged after storage. On an industrial perspective, this state has to be extended as long as possible. Dairy powders are predominantly in an amorphous glassy state; therefore the mobility of the molecules in the matrix is highly limited and the powders are considered stable. Molecular mobility and powder stability is dependent on the glass transition temperature (T_g) which is specifically the property of an amorphous material (Bhandari and Howes 1999). When the temperature is above T_g , the amorphous glassy state (high viscosity) change to a rubbery state (low viscosity). This change in viscosity accelerates molecular mobility and then the displacement of reactants towards each other is initiated, which are at the source of physico-chemical and functional changes in the powders (Roos 2002). Powders are considered to be glassy food products which should remain physically, chemically and functionally unchanged over storage, but this is known not to be the case (Roudaut et al. 2004). Indeed, storage is not as well mastered as any other manufacturing steps and powders can be subjected to high temperatures (above T_g) for weeks during delivery (Leinberger 2006). This could affect the molecular mobility and thus induces functional and structural variabilities (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7: Properties of dairy powders upon storage

1.2.3. CHANGES IN FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES UPON STORAGE

Ideally, dehydrated products must have similar properties to those of the original product after rehydration (Walstra et al. 2006). However dairy powders are complex systems and of varying composition (Schokker et al. 2011). During storage, some physico-chemical changes may occur depending on storage conditions, the powder composition and the physical state of the constituents. These can affect the physical and techno-functional properties including solubility, powders flowability and surfactant properties of proteins (Thomas, Scher, Desobry-Banon, et al. 2004).

PROPERTIES MODIFICATIONS IN THE DRY STATE

Colour properties. The colour measurements are often run in the L*a*b* space, where L* indicates lightness, and a* and b* are the chromaticity coordinates. Maskan (2001) proposed a formula combining the L*a*b* data to assess purity of the brown colour of food which was called "browning index" (BI):

$$BI = \frac{100 \times (x - 0.31)}{0.17} \tag{1}$$

With

$$x = \frac{a + 1.75 \times L}{5.645 \times L + a - 3.012 \times b}$$
(2)

This index is an indicator of Maillard reaction extent, as demonstrated by Martinez-Alvarenga et al. (2014). These authors followed the colour change of a WPI powders with a varying amine:carbonyl ratio, subjected to high temperature ($T \ge 50^{\circ}$ C) and high humidity ($\ge 50\%$ relative humidity). They were able to establish that the powder increasingly browned as a function of heating time (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8: Colour development in samples treated under different experimental conditions. WPI means whey protein isolate and MD means maltodextrin. Numbers correspond to the reaction conditions: temperature (°C)/ relative humidity (%)/ time (h)/ and molar ratio, respectively (Martinez-Alvarenga et al. 2014)

The same authors established a positive correlation between the disappearance of amino acids in the course of Maillard reaction and the appearance of brown colour (coefficient 0.743). Li-Chan (1983) also reported that, under accelerated storage conditions (37°C for 42 days and with a water activity (a_w) of 0.75), a dairy powder with a dry matter content of at least 35% browned. This browning was correlated to the decrease of residual lactose in the powder and also the decrease in lysine availability.

Caking and flow properties. The viscometer and the penetration test methods are widely used for characterization of caking and adhesion of dairy powders (Özkan et al. 2002).

During storage or transportation, dairy powders are subjected to temperature and a_w variations that affect powders caking and flow properties, depending on powder composition. Differences in caking and flow between WMP and SMP are explained by the particle surface composition. The surface of a WMP particle is mainly covered with a fine layer of fat, leading to a greater cohesion in the powder (Fitzpatrick et al. 2004; Özkan et al. 2002). Caking would primarily be due to the fact that fat forms non-covalent bonds in the powder (Özkan et al. 2002). It also appeared that the particle size is an important factor. The smaller the particles, the more the surface covered with a fat layer; thereby the cohesion of the powder increases which decreases its flow properties (Fitzpatrick et al. 2004). Amorphous lactose also influences flow properties, as it drives the moisture uptake of powder during storage. In fact, powders having a large amount of amorphous lactose are more susceptible to moisture uptake (hygroscopic powder). Water adsorption leads to a decrease of powder glass transition temperature, an increase of lactose crystallization kinetics and a release of water from lactose crystallization in the powder. This leads to the formation of bridges between particles responsible for powder caking phenomenon (Fitzpatrick, Barry, et al. 2007; Fitzpatrick et al. 2004; Fitzpatrick, Hodnett, et al. 2007). Therefore, SMP form more cohesive cakes than WMP because they are composed of a higher amount of amorphous lactose (49.5 - 52% against 36 - 38.5%) and this element is at the origin of caking (Özkan et al. 2002).

PROPERTIES MODIFICATION IN SOLUTION

Solubility properties. Solubility is a key step for powder rehydration, the latter being an essential property of dairy powders because most of them are rehydrated before use (Jeantet et al. 2010).

A well-known property change of micellar casein rich powders is the decrease of the rehydration kinetics and of the protein solubility with storage time, especially when stored above room temperature (Anema et al. 2006; Fyfe et al. 2011; Haque et al. 2010) and at high moisture content (>5%) (Fyfe et al. 2011; Haque et al. 2010), with whey proteins remaining soluble (Anema et al. 2006). By working on a MPC85 powder (protein content of >85%), Havea (2006) observed a reduction in the

powders solubility as a function of storage time because of the gradual formation of an insoluble material. The powders solubility decreased from 53% to 35% after two years storage at 20°C. However, unlike Havea (2006), Schokker et al. (2011) have demonstrated that, by modifying the nonmicellar casein content in the powder, the rehydration process was not deteriorated by the presence of an insoluble material but because of a slowing down in the particles dispersion. These authors also showed that increasing the concentration of non-micellar caseins before drying reduced the loss of solubilisation after storage. To explain this result, they proposed two possible mechanisms. The first is based on the preferential adsorption of non-micellar caseins at the liquid-air interface during spray drying thereby reducing the proportion of casein micelles at the particle surface. As a consequence, the intensity of interactions between micelles is decreased. The second mechanism involves the limitation of micelle-micelle interactions through steric hindrance caused by the presence of nonmicellar caseins. Gazi and Huppertz (2015) add that only micellar caseins become insoluble during storage, whereas non-micellar caseins remain soluble, strengthening the results of Schokker et al. (2011). Adding NaCl or chelating agents to micellar casein concentrate before spray-drying improve the rehydration properties of the powder (Schuck 2002). The release of caseins from the micellar casein structure was hypothesized to be responsible of the observed change in rehydration properties.

Foaming, emulsifying and interfacial properties. Whey proteins have good emulsifying and foaming abilities thanks to their amphiphilic nature, solubility and size. They are not as good as caseinate to stabilize emulsions but they are better foams stabilizers because they form a viscoelastic interface (Croguennec et al. 2008).

The Maillard reaction, which occurs in dairy powders ageing, seems to be one of the major cause of changes in the interfacial properties.

It appeared that surface tension of protein solutions was unaffected by Maillard reaction (Fechner et al. 2007; Hiller and Lorenzen 2010). However, all authors do not share these observations as for Baeza et al. (2005) who claimed that the Maillard reaction products increase the surface tension of protein solution. These differences could be due to the type of sugar used, not all have the same properties and the same ability to induce protein structural change after binding.

Regarding the foaming properties, foamability (surfactant ability to encapsulate air) is diminished by mixtures of milk protein/glucose and milk proteins/lactose due to the increase formation of neoformed Maillard reaction products (Hiller and Lorenzen 2010; Thomas, Scher, Desobry-Banon, et al. 2004). In addition, some authors noted an improvement in foamability (Martinez-Alvarenga et al. 2014), but it is probably due to the heat treatment in the dry state that induces protein denaturation

rather than the actual glycation (Báez et al. 2013). On the other hand, it has been shown that the previous mixtures improved foam stability (Hiller and Lorenzen 2010). These changes would be due to Maillard reaction products because they result in a steric protection against coalescence (Dunlap and Côté 2005), or because they are found in the interfacial film which would be thicker and more viscoelastic (Ganzevles et al. 2006; Wooster and Augustin 2007). For Báez et al. (2013), aggregates formed by Maillard reaction (β -LG + glucose) deteriorate foam stability by decreasing the rigidity and viscoelasticity of the interfacial film. The difference between these studies is in the foaming process, since the latter was using a bubbling apparatus whereas the former used an Aero-Latte stirrer, generating two different types of foam.

Changes in emulsifying properties, dependent on the type of milk powder, have also been highlighted. Hiller and Lorenzen (2010) observed a low emulsifying activity of sodium caseinate/lactose and glucose, whey proteins/glucose mixtures due to the formation of Maillard reaction products of high molecular weight causing a delay in the adsorption and in the deployment at the interface. Only mixtures of hydrolysed SMP and whey proteins with lactose have improved emulsifying activity. However, other authors have seen no difference, including Oliver et al. (2006) with sodium caseinate/glucose or lactose mixtures and French and Harper (2003) with a β -LG/lactose mixture.

Last, emulsion stability was also assessed. It increased for mixtures of milk proteins/glucose or lactose and decreased for mixtures of sodium caseinate or WPI/glucose or lactose. The decrease was explained by the fact that Maillard reaction products would cover an insufficient area of the interface and/or Maillard reaction products of high molecular weight would be left at the interface of several lipid droplets thereby promoting coalescence.

1.2.4. CHANGES IN STRUCTURAL PROPERTIES OF AGED POWDERS

Components in powders may evolve during storage; the kinetics of the changes is dependent on the composition of the powder and the storage conditions (Haque et al. 2012). Two levels of structural changes are commonly considered: the mesoscopic scale and the molecular scale, both being govern by molecular mobilities. These structural changes are assumed to be the sources of the modifications in the functional properties observed above.

The aim of this section is to understand the structures modifications during storage.

POWDER STABILITY AND COMPONENT MOBILITY

Variations in the component – or molecular – mobility including internal molecular motions and molecular migration or diffusion, are related to stability of dairy powders during storage (Fan and Roos
2016). Many milk powders are in an amorphous glassy state (Bhandari and Hartel 2005). Amorphous glassy systems are in an out-of-equilibrium, arrested state and as such are considered as stable as long as they are stored below T_g (Struik 1977). However, this condition is not always sufficient to ensure the physical and chemical stability of protein powders during long storage (Zylberman and Pilosof 2002). In terms of the free energy landscape, protein powders might still undergo a progressive relaxation process towards a more stable state. The change in powders occurring during the relaxation process is called physical aging (Schokker et al. 2011). The relaxation enthalpy is specific to the molecule and local including restricted long-range cooperative motions and internal molecular motions (not involving surroundings molecules) in the glass (Fan and Roos 2016) or it can also concern translational molecular motions of molecules or segments of molecules when the glassy material is heated to above its glass transition (Y. Liu et al. 2006). The level of physical aging is increasing above T_g and typically higher at high a_w, water acting as a plasticizer and promotes relaxation processes (Struik 1978). It is associated with macroscopic changes such as density, flowability and caking (Y. J. Kim et al. 2003) which are of practical importance as they play on the stability and shelf life of dairy powders.

Several studies have been carried out on the molecular mobility in milk powders during storage. Regarding to the study of Haque et al. (2012), increasing the moisture content initiates the relaxation of the proteins to a more thermodynamically stable state by molecular motions of protein segment. This has been verified for a MPC powder stored at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C for 11 weeks under relatively high a_w conditions above or equal to 0.45. For a_w conditions below or equal to 0.23 molecular motions were restricted due to the lower amount of water molecules surrounding proteins. Molecular rearrangements would be the result of molecular motions in the relaxation processes and, with longer storage time, would lead to interactions between casein micelles responsible for the loss of solubility (Haque et al. 2012). During storage, molecular mobility can also be influenced by lactose crystallization, a process during which water is released into the reactive medium (Thomsen et al. 2005).

Rearrangements caused by the molecular mobility can therefore affect protein structures and thereby molecular interactions (Abdul-Fattah et al. 2007).

STRUCTURE MODIFICATIONS

MODIFICATIONS AT A MESOSCOPIC SCALE

Changes in surface, formation of skin. Several authors, as Anema et al. (2006), have shown that storage modulates powder functions through changes on the surface of powder particles which can be emphasise with time, temperature and relative humidity. As the particle surface is the first zone in

contact with water, any change at this point could be responsible for modification of rehydration properties (Fyfe et al. 2011).

Few changes of the particle surface of stored powders have been highlighted by Mimouni et al. (2010) using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) during powder rehydration. After 2 months storage at 20°C, a skin like layer was detected through the microstructure analysis of powder particles (**Figure 9**, A and B) while the particle surface of fresh MPC80 powder (protein content >80%) is smooth (Tamime et al. 2007) (**Figure 9**, C and D). This was explained by the increase of the particle density and a compaction of the casein micelles at the surface of the particle leading to short and direct inter-micellar bridges forming a new network. It is in accordance with Fyfe et al. (2011) who put forward that storage conditions of MPC powders, located between 25 and 40°C with relative humidity above 44% during 3 months, will increase the particle density with water uptake. Anema et al. (2006) mentioned that powders may undergo some degree of molecular rearrangements during long-term storage, such as protein crosslinking.



Figure 9: SEM images of particle surface of fresh powder after 10 and 80 min of rehydration (A, B respectively); of a 2 months stored powder at 20°C after 10 and 80 min of rehydration (C, D respectively) (Mimouni et al. 2010)

The dissolution of aged MPC powder particles is then much slower. During dissolution, the crosslinked micelles appeared to be the last portion of the particle to be dispersed which lead to a possible relation between the decrease in solubility of aged MPC powder and the skin formation from intermicellar crosslinking.

Changes in surface, migration of lipids. Changes in the surface composition have also been observed during powder storage (E. H.-J. Kim et al. 2002; Nijdam and Langrish 2006). In order to monitor these modifications, X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS), also known as Electron Spectroscopy for Chemical Analysis (ESCA), seems to be the ideal method to perform (Fyfe et al. 2011; Gaiani et al. 2006; E. H.-J. Kim et al. 2002). In fact, XPS gives information on elementary elements (C, O, and N percentages) within 10 nm of the particle surface. The method described by Fäldt et al. (1993) permitted to obtain fat, protein and lactose contents. Fyfe et al. (2011) observed that fat content at the particle surface of MPC powder decreased and the protein content increased after 30 days storage or more at 40°C and relative humidity between 44 and 84%. Beyond 90 days storage, the reduction of fat at the surface was set against the significant increase in lactose content. However, all researchers do not share the same point of view. For example E. H.-J. Kim et al. (2005) did not find significant changes in the surface composition of several milk powders after 6 months of storage at 20°C. On the other hand, Gaiani et al. (2009) shows that lipid content at the particle surface increases from 6 to 17% after 60 days of storage at 20°C or 50°C (with no effect of storage temperature) and the protein percentage at the surface was decreased from 94% to 83%. The difference between the first study and the latters might be attributed to the kind of powder as Gaiani et al. (2009) were working on micellar casein powder. Indeed, the fat content at the particle surface was around 30% for the first study against 1.5% for the latters. According to Fäldt (1995), an irregular and wrinkled surface is associated with the presence of fat thus supporting the hypothesis of a lipid release at the particle surface, which is also believed to be linked to the presence of pores (Baechler et al. 2005; Gaiani et al. 2009).

MODIFICATION AT A MOLECULAR SCALE

Changes in secondary and tertiary structures. Protein conformational modification is one of the major factors inducing instability of protein of MPC powder during processing and storage. Indeed, after denaturation, hydrophobic regions of proteins are exposed, favouring protein-protein interactions (Arrondo and Goñi 1999).

Several authors have used Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) to monitor changes in protein structure. Schokker et al. (2011) compared the protein structure of fresh and stored MPC85 powders during 54 days at 30°C and detected protein unfolding. Haque et al. (2010) highlighted the

importance of moisture content with an MPC powder stored 12 weeks at 25 and 45°C and at a_w from 0 to 0.85. The higher the moisture content, the higher the amount of α -helix decreases and of β -sheet increases.

Above, mesostructural analysis already demonstrated in MPC powder that casein micelles increasingly interact with storage time leading to a skin formation (Mimouni et al. 2010). However, spectral changes are too minor to enable direct correlation between loss of solubility and modification of the secondary structures of the caseins (Kher et al. 2007). The protein unfolding cannot be the only responsible for the loss of solubility, but it may be the initiation step leading to change in casein micelle structure, possibly involving intermolecular β -sheet formations, which at the end affect the solubility (Haque et al. 2010). The Small Angle X-rays Scattering (SAXS) profiles of fresh and stored MPC powders showed similar profiles showing that the internal organisation of casein micelles was not altered by storage (Schokker et al. 2011).

Concerning whey proteins, studies focused on dry heating of β -LG at 100 °C for 24 hours and controlled pH showed that secondary and tertiary structures evolve (Gulzar, Bouhallab, and Croguennec 2011). In particular, the authors observed that at acidic pH (2.5), the rigid environment of tryptophan is partially lost. Changes in the secondary structures of the proteins were detected at acidic pH and neutral pH. Other authors, such as Havea (2006), also showed changes in the structure of proteins with an increased exposure of hydrophobic residues by denaturation during storage.

Protein interactions and crosslinking. The insoluble material appearing upon reconstitution of stored micellar casein rich powders is thought to be the result of protein-protein interactions, which are mainly hydrophobic. It was observed for a storage in more severe conditions (50 days at 40°C) that caseins and the minor whey proteins would be involved in the formation of the insoluble material, while α-LA and β-LG remained soluble (Anema et al. 2006). Gazi and Huppertz (2015) believe that the insoluble fraction formed during storage of a MPC at 50°C is a combination of denatured whey proteins and casein micelles. It is also the case in the study of Havea (2006) who claimed that both soluble and insoluble covalent aggregates were mainly composed of K-casein and β-LG linked by disulphide bonds during storage of a MPC. Indeed, during storage of whey protein concentrate powders, whey proteins partially denature and a gradual polymerization was observed (Morr and Ha 1993). It is important to note that temperature and storage time have a positive effect on aggregates are also found in fresh MPC powder, which means they are not exclusively formed during storage. Casein interactions with each other also increase with storage time. These are responsible for the formation

of a very compact layer at the particle surface acting as a barrier to rehydration and thereby slowing the dissolution of powders (Anema et al. 2006; Mimouni et al. 2010).

After a dry heat treatment of WPI powder at 100°C for 24h at pH 2.5, pH 4.5 and pH 6.5, Gulzar, Bouhallab, Jeantet, et al. (2011) observed a decrease in the amount of native whey proteins in parallel with formation of aggregates whose size increases with pH. At acidic pH, aggregates are soluble and covalent bonds between proteins are only made of disulphide bridges while at higher pH, aggregates are partly soluble and covalently linked by disulphide bonds and other types of bonds that still have to be determined.

α-LA cyclization in WPI powder. Aside the formation of covalent aggregates, a significant proportion of the non-aggregated whey proteins during dry heating treatment was converted into non-native forms. Mass spectrometry analysis revealed a change in the molecular weight of the whey proteins attributed to a loss of one or two water molecules per proteins. The loss of water molecules was observed for 73% of non-aggregated α -LA and only 18% of non-aggregated β -LG molecules. For α -LA, water molecule loss was attributed to the formation of pyroglutamic acid from the N-terminal glutamic acid and to the formation of an internal cyclic imide at position Asp 64 (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10: Chemical structures of (a) N-terminal pyroglutamic acid resulting from the cyclization of the N-terminal glutamic acid of α -LA, (b) a cyclic imide resulting from the cyclization of an internal aspartyl residue (Gulzar et al. 2013)

Maillard Reaction. Maillard reaction, or non-enzymatic browning, usually develops during processing and storage of milk protein powders. This reaction modifies protein structures and leads to Maillard reaction products with specific functional properties. Its control is difficult since it is composed of three steps involving a multitude of reactions whose kinetics are dependent on various intrinsic and

extrinsic factors (Martins et al. 2000). The first step is called "Early stage" and leads to lactosylation of an amine function basically of a protein. At this stage, the major consequence is the loss of available lysine (Van Boekel 1998). The second stage described as "Advanced stage" results in the formation of Advanced Glycated End products (AGE) initiating protein crosslinking. The third phase is the "Final stage" and leads to the formation of melanoidins which are molecules generated by polymerization reactions from the highly reactive AGE. Melanoidins are high molecular weight brown compounds (Van Boekel 1998).

The specificity of lactosylation sites is related to the exposure of amine residue at the protein surface and its chemical environment. Thus, a large number of combination of lactosylation sites would be expected for whey proteins in specific heat treatment conditions. β -LG and α -LA are composed of 15 and 12 lysines respectively and several authors who have worked on the β -LG agree on the lysines that are most involved in Maillard reaction in a powder state or in solution (Fogliano et al. 1998; Losito et al. 2010; Morgan et al. 1997; Morgan, Léonil, et al. 1998). Morgan, Bouhallab, et al. (1998) have identified every lysine which are involved in the lactosylation reaction of β -LG (**Table 3**). In particular, Lys 60, 83, 135, 141 and 8 have been reported to be particularly reactive in a powder state. Moreover, they observed by mass spectrometry a heterogeneity of populations of glycosylated β -LG by the number of lactose bound per protein, which can range up to 11 lactose molecules after 22h of reaction at 50°C and 65% relative humidity.

Table 3: Progressive reactivity of β-LG sites towards lactose in dry way glycation; protein/lactose ratio of 1:50 under 65% relative humidity at 50°C (Morgan, Bouhallab, et al. 1998)

Reaction time (h)	Glycated sites
0	Lys _{47,91}
2	NH ₂ -term, Lys _{15, 70, 100}
6	Lys _{60, 69, 75, 77, 83, 135, 138}
10	Lys _{8, 141}

Concerning SMP, Guyomarc'h et al. (2000) showed that the extent of protein lactosylation during storage were very slight or nil over 16 weeks at 20°C; at 37°C lactosylation rapidly increases over the first two weeks of storage then slows beyond; finally, lactosylation peaks were no longer detected after only 3.5 weeks at 52°C, the powder having a pronounced brown colour resulting from the Maillard reaction extent (Guyomarc'h et al. 2000; Van Boekel 1998).

The presence of lactose causes an increase in protein crosslinking in WPI powders, forming compounds of more than 100 kDa (Guyomarc'h et al. 2014; Le, Holland, et al. 2013). AGE are probably

involved in these interactions following lactosylation (Le, Holland, et al. 2013; Singh 1991). The greater the amount of lactose, the higher the level of crosslinking. Even if lactose is present in small quantities, whey proteins are modified through the formation of Maillard reaction products which then participated to the formation of large aggregates. The effect is more important on caseins, which become insoluble, than on whey proteins which remain soluble (Le, Holland, et al. 2013). It is noteworthy that lactosylation started during spray drying possibly due to the temperature applied as proteins in fresh milk are not lactosylated (Anema et al. 2006). In order to study this phenomenon, these authors stored a MPC powder during 10 days at 50°C. After 3 days of storage at 50°C, the level of lactosylated casein increased and species with two lactose groups attached were detected while 5 days later, lactosylation didn't evolve that much. As for whey proteins, Maillard reaction progress through interactions of lactose molecules on the lysines of caseins micelles which lead to further crosslinking affecting the powder solubility (Anema et al. 2006).

According to Hiller and Lorenzen (2010), the first step of Maillard reaction (lactosylation) does not lead to whey protein conformational changes. Indeed, the compact conformation (globular) of whey proteins would limit changes induced by the sugar binding. When the reaction progressed polymers of heterogeneous size are formed concomitantly to the disappearance of monomers present at first and the decrease in the soluble fraction of nitrogen. In this way, Guyomarc'h et al. (2014) reported a study on denaturation and aggregation of whey proteins in three types of powder – one commercial WPI (WPI_c) and two model WPI powders composed of pure proteins, one without added lactose (WPI_{M-L}) and the other one with lactose (WPI_{M+L}) in an equivalent amount as measured in WPI_c. It has been observed that the presence of lactose (WPI_{M+L}) has a dramatic effect on aggregates formation at pH 6.5, this suggests that some covalent intermolecular bonds formed in the WPI_c at pH 6.5 involved some degradation products of Maillard reaction. Conversely in WPI_{M+L} powders at acidic pH (pH 2.5), condensation reaction between lactose and whey proteins is a limiting step preventing further aggregation.

Finally, Hiller and Lorenzen (2010) reported that several studies suggested a loss of organised tertiary protein structures upon covalent binding of sugar molecules. Sugar binding induces a steric stress favouring protein unfolding by a decrease in intra/inter molecular interactions (Nacka et al. 1998; Wooster and Augustin 2007). The loss of tertiary structure was also observed upon temperature (Broersen et al. 2004) and humidity (Morgan et al. 1999) effects on proteins. For Báez et al. (2013), glycation did not result in changes in the secondary structure of proteins, but led to very slight changes in tertiary structure. This structural change come out as an exposure of tryptophan after partial protein unfolding as well as an appearance of a small amount of aggregates after glycation.

However, according to these authors, conformational changes are more due to heat treatment than protein glycation.

The Maillard reaction in powders is strongly dependent on the storage conditions: temperature, water activity (a_w) and time. Within these factors, temperature and a_w have the most significant impact in the extent of Maillard reaction (Martinez-Alvarenga et al. 2014; Pereyra Gonzales et al. 2010). The temperature influences the reaction kinetics (Cheriot 2007; Pereyra Gonzales et al. 2010; Thomsen et al. 2005) and in dairy powders the Maillard reaction proceeds maximally when a_w is between 0.50 and 0.80 (Martinez-Alvarenga et al. 2014; Thomas 2004). Above, the dilution of reactants and high water content lead to a reaction limitation because of the mass action law.

1.2.5. CONCLUSION

The shelf-life of a dairy powders clearly depends on its composition and storage conditions. Powders are relatively stable products compared to non-dehydrated products but they are still subjected to molecular mobility which is enhanced at temperature above the powder's T_g . The molecular mobility are responsible for mesoscopic structural changes (*e.g.* component migration) and for local molecular changes (*e.g.* protein cyclisation) and also for interaction reactions with other components in the medium (*e.g.* polymerization reactions, skin formation). These structural modifications are believed to be at the origin of the modification of the dairy powders' functions occurring during storage. Understanding the mechanisms of structural changes would help to avoid or at least minimize usability issues after long-term storage. Temperature, time and moisture content are crucial parameters to take into account in order to control the quality of powders. As such, optimum conditions should include storage at low temperature and low moisture content.

PART 3. ABOUT THE PHD PROJECT: AIMS AND STRATEGY

1.3.1. CONTEXT AND RESEARCH QUESTION

Regarding the economic weight of the high protein dairy powders worldwide, the control of their quality among storage or export is a major challenge in terms of compliance to consumers' requirements and dairy companies' competitiveness.

INDUSTRIAL CHALLENGE

This study tackles with a real industrial challenge since whey protein isolate powders are supposed to be extremely stable thanks to their high protein content and T_{g} . However, their functionality

sometimes does not match with the factory tests. Our aim is to identify the cause of these changes occurring during storage and delivery.

This PhD project is incorporated within the framework of the project CODE POUDRE, a research programme funded by the *Centre National Interprofessionnel de l'Economie Laitière* (CNIEL). This project aims to provide predictive tools of the high protein powder behaviour during their storage so as to adjust storage conditions according to the expected features or limiting their evolution among storage.

IMPORTANCE OF MONITORING THE DELIVERY AND STORAGE CONDITIONS

As shown by campaigns of temperature measurement inside containers during continental and intercontinental delivery, extreme temperatures – above 50°C – can be underwent by the powders and this repeatedly for some deliveries over 3 months (Figure 11) (Médecins Sans Frontières 2009). Similarly, Leinberger (2006) showed that more than 40% of shipments were experiencing temperature above 40°C (Figure 12). Deliveries also involve breakpoints (sometimes unexpected ones) and therefore powders can be stuck in temporary storage points that can last for several weeks. Leinberger study (2006) only shows the time of delivery but it does not take into account storage time of powders on their final destination, although they can be stored in non-insulated depot for up to 2 years before use.



Figure 11: Temperature record during exportation: France toward Tchad (Médecins sans frontières 2009)



Figure 12: Temperatures reached by cumulative shipments (Leinberger 2006)

The literature review showed that these storage conditions involved changes in structural and functional properties of high protein dairy powders even at low storage temperature, thus making the definition of storage conditions a competitive key advantage on an industrial scale. Indeed, it will enable the increase in powders shelf-life and guarantee their functionality.

However, studies published to date were mainly conducted on MPC and native phosphocaseinate powders or on model systems of whey proteins. As a consequence, there is not much on WPI powders' storage in the literature even though this is a key ingredient for food industries. This comes to the *research question* of this PhD project:

'What are the structural markers of the evolution of whey protein isolate powders during storage and how they affect powders' functionalities after rehydration?'

Ultimately, monitoring of high protein dairy powders changes during storage will provide tools and predictive methods of structural ageing by identifying markers of ageing and qualifying sensors able to trace the storage history. These tools will make it possible to map the product evolution relative to the expected properties, and adapt storage to the type of product and/or the optimal duration of use of the route taken during export. Therefore, they are essential outputs to ensure the functionalities expression of these products.

1.3.2. OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY OF THE PHD RESEARCH PROJECT

OBJECTIVES

Many studies have already been conducted on whey powders. However, few studies display the reactions occurring during storage of whey protein isolate (WPI) powders, the latter being constituted of at least 90% proteins (w/w) (Burin et al. 2000), of which essentially whey proteins including about 70% β -LG and 20% α -LA (McClements et al. 1993), and extremely low amount of minerals and lactose thanks to diafiltration before drying. Moreover, due to the specific properties and high added values of these high protein dairy powders, the knowledge of their behaviour during storage is a major concern for the dairy industry.

Ahead of this project, WPI ingredient users have been reporting changes in product functionality among ageing, involving browning and protein denaturation. At this stage, it was difficult to establish clear correlation between structural changes, changes in functionality and storage conditions, as these latter weren't controlled neither monitored. The general objective of this study was to fill this gap by conducting a systematic study on how the storage conditions of well-characterized WPI powders affect the structure-functionality relationships.

More precisely, the 3 main objectives of this PhD project were to:

- x Identify and quantify changes in protein structure and functional properties during ageing under controlled storage conditions
- x Identify the relevant structural markers of the evolution of WPI powders during storage affecting their functionalities and understand the contribution of protein modifications on powder functional changes
- x Validate these changes and define optimal storage conditions [initial state, duration t, temperature T] allowing to maintain the powders properties in the expected specifications, and conversely the extreme storage conditions above which these properties are irreversibly affected.

STRATEGY

Our study focused on the structural changes of whey protein isolate (WPI) powder stored under different conditions and their effects on the functional properties of the proteins once recombined in aqueous solution. In particular, this research aimed to investigate structural changes such as protein denaturation and aggregation in order to understand functional changes (foaming properties and heat-induced aggregation after recombination) that occurred in WPI powders after 15 months of

storage. Understanding these changes may represent a key point in the control of the properties of high protein dairy powders, providing a major competitive advantage for the dairy industry.

As mentioned earlier, it was of prime importance to control the initial state of the powder, particularly regarding protein denaturation limitation and exact environmental conditions underwent from the production stage. Therefore, all the WPI powders studied in this project were produced from fresh industrial WPI concentrate on the Bionov pilot workshop (Rennes, France).

The choice of the storage conditions derived principally from the ones currently used in the food industry. As powders are stored between 1 and 2 years, the storage time was of 15 months. Concerning the temperature, our aim was to choose temperatures allowing to sweep all the changes that can happen during storage and that are also relevant for the food industry. As such, 20°C, 40°C and 60°C were taken to lead this study. The ambient temperature is currently widely used to store all powders. 40°C appear to be a temperature midpoint during delivery (cf. 1.3.1., p28) so it appeared as a judicious temperature set. It was also interesting to go beyond, hence 60°C was taken as the highest temperature studied. It may seem to be a high storage temperature, however we have seen above (cf. 1.3.1., p27) that 60°C is an extreme condition but real for industrial exportations as it can be repeatedly reached during delivery. For longer storage time (>3 months), the treatment was pushed into more severe storage conditions in order to understand and/or validate the mechanisms of interaction between the various components in the powder (or solution) and thus to bring out the major players.

A 6-STAGES DEVELOPMENT

The project was conducted in 6 phases in which strategies were refined and validated during steering committees with the CNIEL (Figure 13).

Chapter 1



Figure 13: Organization of the PhD research project

The first step was conducted as a screening towards a better definition of the experimental field. The two following phases aimed to simultaneously quantify the kinetics of protein structural changes and functional properties under controlled storage conditions. The objective of these phases was to establish links between protein structural changes observed in the dry state and the modifications of functional properties both related to the storage conditions. These were orchestrated so as to answer the following question "Are we in the presence of a catch-up phenomenon or different routes of ageing?". In addition, one or more storage accidents were mimed to quantify the impact of such an event on the powder ageing kinetics. The structural and functional parts of these phases are exposed in the second and the third chapters, respectively. Following this, the influence of the powder initial state on its ageing itinerary was studied. In the literature, it is known that the changes occurring during powders ageing are also inherent to the initial state of the powder (powder composition, drying parameters ...). The objective of this phase was to understand how the powder initial state in interaction with the storage conditions affects the structural and functional changes in the powder among storage. In particular and despite the very low lactose concentration, browning reported by WPI ingredients users suggested that the Maillard reaction still occurs in the powder and contributes to the ageing of the WPI powder. Therefore, this study, reported in the 4th chapter, aimed to precise the concentration threshold at which lactose still contributes to the ageing phenomenon. This chapter also gathers the study of complementary modalities including assessing the impact of the drying method. Finally, the general discussion (Chapter 5) provides correspondence between accelerated ageing conditions (e.g. high temperature) and actual kinetics considered in phases 2 and 3.

CHAPTER 2. STUDY OF THE STRUCTURAL CHANGES OCCURING IN THE WPI POWDER DURING STORAGE

In this chapter, the structural changes occurring during storage in the powder state are investigated in experimental conditions close to those on an industrial scale (time, temperature and water activity). It is highly important to identify the structural markers and understand the mechanisms involved in the ageing of WPI powders in order to control their end use properties. Six different storage conditions combining temperature and $a_{\rm w}$ control (20, 40 and 60°C; $a_{\rm w}$ 0.23 and 0.36) were applied over 15 months to WPI powders produced from fresh concentrate. These powders were characterised according to the mesoscopic and the molecular scales. The first was set to characterize changes on the particle surface and monitor the powder colour. The second involved protein denaturation, protein lactosylation and protein aggregation to better understand the role of proteins in the mechanisms of the storage-induced structural changes. It was revealed that the powders were relatively stable during storage at 20°C. On the other hand, powders presented hydrophobic patches and a loss in the amino acid content on the powder particles while significant levels of aggregation and protein modifications were observed at a molecular scale for storage at higher temperatures. A part of these results has been published in Food And Bioprocess Technology journal (Paper²), Journal of Food Engineering (Paper³) and Journal of Dairy Science journal (Paper⁴). WPI powders were also subjected to storage accidents, involving short exposure at high temperature. The purpose of this additional study was to assess their impact on changes occurring upon ageing.

The aims of this chapter were to:

- *x* investigate powders' changes in the dry state under controlled storage conditions
- *x* specifically quantify the changes in protein structure
- *x identify pertinent structural markers of WPI powders' ageing*

² Published as Norwood EA, Chevallier M, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Jeantet R, Croguennec T. (2016). Heatinduced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions of whey protein isolate powders. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(6), 993–1001. doi:10.1007/s11947-016-1686-1.

³ Published as Burgain J, El Zein R, Petit J, Norwood EA, Francius G, Gaiani C. (2016). Local modification of whey protein isolate powder surface during high temperature storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 178, 39–46. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.01.005.

⁴ Published as Norwood EA, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Croguennec T, Jeantet R. (2016). Structural markers of the evolution of whey protein isolate powder during aging and effects on foaming properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99(7), 5265–5272. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-10788.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 2. Study of the structural changes occuring in the WPI powder during storage	
Part 1. Introduction	
Part 2. Experimental strategy	
2.2.1. Production of the WPI powders	
2.2.2. WPI powder storage conditions	
2.2.3. Powder composition	
2.2.4. Powder surface characterization	
2.2.5. Chemical analysis	
2.2.6. Physical analysis	
Part 3. Changes at a mesoscopic scale	
2.3.1. Fresh powder composition	
2.3.2. Colour of stored powders	
2.3.3. Morphological study	
2.3.4. Particle surface chemistry	
Part 4. Changes at a molecular scale	
2.4.1. Protein denaturation of stored powders	
2.4.2. Protein lactosylation	50
2.4.3. Conformational stability	
2.4.4. Aggregation in the dry state	53
Part 5. Discussion: Maillard reaction is the main reaction occurring during WPI powder stor	age 57
Part 6. Additional results: influence of storage accidents	59
2.6.1. Objectives	
2.6.2. Experimental strategy	
2.6.3. Results and discussion	60
Part 7. Conclusions	63

PART 1. INTRODUCTION

The drying process is widely applied at the industrial level with the main objective to increase the product shelf life and reduce transport costs. Ideally, dehydrated products should exhibit similar properties to those of the original product after reconstitution in water (Walstra et al. 2006). Thus, the main technological challenge in this field is to prevent unwanted changes that may occur during storage, and that could lead to a loss of techno-functional, sensory and/or nutritional characteristics of the rehydrated product (Walstra et al. 2006).

The preservation of powders properties depends on the processes implemented in the powders production (concentration processes, spray-drying parameters, etc.), their composition and physicochemical characteristics, as well as their storage conditions (time, temperature, water activity). This set of parameters defines the powders sensitivity to different types of alteration, their end-use properties and the conditioning requirements with regard to their conservation ability.

As presented in Chapter 1, powders may be subjected to extreme conditions, such as temperatures as high as 57°C for weeks, during continental and intercontinental delivery (Leinberger 2006). Such conditions can lead to deterioration of powder properties and a reduction in their commercial value. The definition of storage conditions that increase powder shelf-life while guaranteeing their functionality is a competitive key advantage on an industrial scale.

Among the changes identified in the dry state, it can be found changes in protein structure including protein cyclisation or protein aggregation (Gulzar, Bouhallab, Jeantet, et al. 2011; Gulzar et al. 2013), the protein structure being the key of the expression of specific powders properties. Changes inherent to the particle surface have also been identified for high protein powders, in particular MPC80. This is an important issue in view of the powder uses, the surface being the first contact point with water when rehydrated (Fyfe et al. 2011); it is well known that the surface composition can affect the powders' functional properties, such as its rehydration, density and flow properties (Gaiani et al. 2006). Last, reactional changes have been exposed especially with the Maillard reaction, altering the powder visual appearance and which can lead to functional and/or nutritional issues. However, the literature is principally based on the study of protein concentrate powders and does not provide information on WPI powder stability upon ageing. This causes a research gap in the field of study of high protein dairy powder changes during storage.

Thus, in this study, two WPI powders were produced from fresh whey protein concentrate: the first one with an a_w close to industrial regular storage conditions (0.23), and a second one with a_w representative of a poor a_w control (0.36). These powders were then stored at representative storage

temperature conditions (from 4°C to 60°C). Then the evolution of powder particle and the protein structures were monitored up to 1 month and 15 months, respectively. The results will be mainly related to the powder of $a_w 0.23$ and only a part of the results for the powder of $a_w 0.36$ (mentioned in the text) will be exposed in the following sections.

PART 2. EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY

2.2.1. PRODUCTION OF THE WPI POWDERS

WPI powder was obtained by spray drying a fresh whey protein concentrate originating from ultrafiltration and diafiltration of the milk microfiltrate. Provided by a dairy company based in Brittany, this concentrate had a dry matter of 27.8% (w/w) and contained 95% milk proteins. Spray drying was carried out to produce fine powders, using a three-stage spray drying pilot, Bionov (GEA, Niro Atomizer, Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines, France). The flow was set at around 100 L.h⁻¹ and the inlet and outlet temperatures were fixed at 169°C and 66°C, respectively, in order to obtain a powder of a_w of 0.23, and at 146°C and 54.3°C in order to obtain a powder of a_w 0.36. After drying, WPI powders presented water content of 7.5% and 10.1% at a_w 0.23 and 0.36 respectively. Both were packed under air in 400 g airtight tins.

2.2.2. WPI POWDER STORAGE CONDITIONS

WPI powder tins were stored in heat chambers at 4 (control powder), 20, 40 and 60°C for periods of up to 15 months. After 0.5, 1, 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15 months of storage, 1 tin per temperature condition was opened in order to analyse the structural and functional properties of the powders.

2.2.3. POWDER COMPOSITION

MINERALS

Cations (calcium, magnesium, sodium, and potassium) and anions (inorganic phosphate, citrate and chloride) were measured using atomic absorption spectrometry (Varian 220FS spectrometer, Les Ulis, France) and ion chromatography (Dionex DX 500; Dionex, Voisin-le-Bretonneux, France) respectively (Gaucheron et al. 1996).

DRY MATTER

The dry matter (DM) was determined as described by Schuck et al. (2012). It was calculated by weight loss after drying 1 g of sample mixed with sand in a forced air oven at 105°C for 5 h.

LACTOSE

The amount of free lactose in the WPI powder was determined using a High Performance Liquid Chromatograph (HPLC) chain (Dionex, Germering, Germany) linked to a 6.5 mm diameter and 300 mm length column "house-packed" with an ion exchange resin Aminex A-6 (Biorad, St Louis Mo., USA). The oven was kept at 60°C and the elution flow was 0.4 mL.min⁻¹ using a 5 mM H₂SO₄ buffer. Free lactose content was detected through a differential refractometer (model RI 2031 plus, Jasco).

NITROGEN CONTENTS

The nitrogen contents of the initial powder were determined as described by Schuck et al. (2012). The total nitrogen (TN) content, non-casein nitrogen (NCN) content corresponding to the soluble fraction at pH 4.6, and non-protein nitrogen (NPN) content corresponding to the soluble fraction after their precipitation were determined by the Kjeldhal method. Nitrogen contents were converted into protein contents using 6.38 as multiplying factor.

2.2.4. POWDER SURFACE CHARACTERIZATION

SCANNING ELECTRON MICROSCOPY OBSERVATION

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to observe the morphology and surface structure of WPI powders. To this end, analysed powders were set on a double-sided adhesive tape and fixed to SEM stubs. Excess particles were removed by gentle tapping. Samples were then coated under partial vacuum with gold-palladium for 2 × 100 s (Polaron SC7640, Thermo VG Scientific, England). Finally, the samples were observed with a Stereoscan 240S/N (Léo, Rueil-Malmaison, France) operating at 15 kV.

X-RAY PHOTOELECTRON SPECTROSCOPY (XPS)

Elemental composition of WPI powder surface (up to 5 - 6 nm depth) was measured by X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) (Fäldt et al. 1993). Spectra were obtained with a KRATOS Axis Ultra X-ray photoelectron spectrometer (Kratos Analytical, Manchester, UK) equipped with a monochromated Al K α X-ray (hv = 1486.6 eV) operated at 150 W. Spectra were collected at normal take-off angle (90°), and the analysis area was 700 × 300 μ m².

TOF-SIMS ANALYSIS

Measurements were performed in both positive and negative ion modes with TOF-SIMS 5 (IonTOF GmbH, Münster, Germany) in order to characterise the elemental and molecular composition of the sample surface. The analysis was performed using a bismuth liquid metal ion gun (LMIG, Bi_3^+ ions, 25 keV). Images of WPI powder surface were acquired with a field of view of 200 × 200 μ m²

corresponding to 512 × 512 pixels, leading to a pixel size of 0.4 μ m. The fluence (also called primary ion dose density) was maintained to 1.0×10^{12} ions/cm² that is below the so-called static SIMS limit (Vickerman and Briggs 2001). The data acquisition and processing software was SurfaceLab 6.3 (ION-TOF GmbH, Münster, Germany).

ATOMIC FORCE MICROSCOPY

Gold-coated AFM tips (NPG-10, Bruker AXS, Palaiseau, France) were functionalized by immersing the tip for 15 h in a solution containing 2 mM 1-dodecanethiol (\geq 98%, 471364 SIGMA). The process for tip functionalization consisted in the immobilization of thiol-based self-assembled monolayer on a gold-coated tip. This resulted in an oxidative addition of the thiol bond to the gold surface, concurrently with hydrogen removal. The functionalization of AFM tips with alkane-thiol monolayers is useful for mapping the spatial arrangement of hydrophobic chemical groups on powder surface by measuring adhesive forces. A glass substrate was coated with chromium through the use of a sputter coater (EMITECH, K575 Turbo, United Kingdom) and was further covered with a top gold layer. Gold-coated glass surfaces were immersed in a solution containing 1-dodecanethiol and rinsed with ethanol. The gold surfaces are used as references to control the correct functionalization of AFM tips (Alsteens et al. 2007). Interaction measurements were performed in liquid to avoid capillary forces. The spring constant of functionalized tips was determined using the thermal calibration method (Lévy and Maaloum 2002). The usual calibration process was employed to transform the experimental cantilever deflection curves as a function of the vertical scanner displacement Δz into force-distance curves (Figure 14).



Figure 14: A force distance curve showing the approach and retract parts of the cycle: A, tip is a large distance from the surface and no interaction is measured; B, the tip contacts the surface; C, the cantilever is bent and a repulsive force (positive) is measured; D, the cantilever holder is retracted from the surface and an adhesive interaction (negative) between tip and surface is observed; E, the pull-off point (Smith et al. 2003)

In the contact region, the slope of the retraction deflection curve was used to convert the cantilever deflection into a force F using Hooke's law:

$$F = k_{exp} \times \Delta z \tag{3}$$

where k_{exp} is the experimentally determined spring constant.

2.2.5. CHEMICAL ANALYSIS

REVERSE PHASE CHROMATOGRAPHY

E-LG and D-LA were quantified in stored powders by reverse phase chromatography using a 300A 8μ M 150x2.1 MM PLRP-S column (Polymer Laboratories, Amherst, MA, USA). The latter was connected to a HPLC made of a separation system Waters 2695, a double wavelength detector Waters 2487 and an acquisition and Empower data processing software (Milford, USA). The elution flow was 0.2 mL.min⁻¹ using a gradient of acetonitrile obtained by an appropriate combination of buffer solution A (trifluoroacetic acid, TFA, 0.1%) and buffer solution B (80% acetonitrile and 0.1% TFA). The column was first equilibrated with 35% buffer solution B and then linear gradients of buffer solution B moving from 35 to 44% in 3 min, from 44 to 48% in 11 min, from 48 to 53% in 12 min, and finally from 53 to 62% in 14 min were used to elute the proteins. Proteins were detected at 214 nm.

GEL PERMEATION CHROMATOGRAPHY

Native proteins (Gulzar et al. 2013) were quantified during powder storage after gel permeation chromatography (GPC) using a Yarra SEC 3000 column (Phenomenex, Le Pecq, France) connected to a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) apparatus comprising a Waters 2695 separation system, a Waters 2489 double wavelength detector and Empower (Milford, USA) acquisition and data processing software. The protein elution flow applied was 0.8 mL.min⁻¹ using a 0.05 M phosphate buffer at pH 7 containing 0.1 M NaCl. Proteins were detected at 214 nm.

SULFHYDRYL QUANTIFICATION

The thiol groups exposed on the protein surface were quantified using Ellman's method (Ellman 1959). Briefly, 100 μ L of a 10 g.L⁻¹ solution of rehydrated stored WPI powder were mixed with 900 μ L of Tris Glycine Buffer (50 mM, pH7.0) and 25 μ L of a 2.2'-Dinitro-5.5-dithiodibenzoate solution (8 mM) (DTNB, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). After 2 h at room temperature, absorbance was measured at 412 nm and the accessible DTNB thiol groups were determined according to H_{12nm} = 13,600 M⁻¹.cm⁻¹.

CIRCULAR DICHROISM

Fresh and stored powders were diluted in 10 g.L⁻¹ solutions with milli-Q water and far-UV spectra were recorded at ambient temperature using the Synchrotron Radiation Circular Dichroism (SRCD) on DISCO beamline at SOLEIL synchrotron (Saint-Aubin, France). This technique is well explained by Miron et al. (2005).

MASS SPECTROMETRY

The percentages of lactosylated E-LG were determined by mass spectrometry after protein separation on reverse phase HPLC using a C4 VYDAC column (214TP5215, 150u2.1mm) (GRACE, Columbia, USA). The analysis was carried out with 15 μ L of a 0.5% (w/w) solution reconstituted in milliQ water 2/3 diluted with a 0.212% buffer solution of TFA. The flow applied was 0.25 mL.min⁻¹ with an acetonitrile gradient. At the end of the column, a fraction of the eluate entered a QSTAR XL mass spectrometer (MDS SCIEX, Toronto, Ontario, Canada) at a flow rate of 75 μ L.min⁻¹. Proteins were ionized with an Ion sprayer source before determining their mass with a TOF scanner (MDS SCIEX, Toronto, Ontario, Canada) previously calibrated with β -CN peptide from β -casein (193-209). The mass acquisition was carried out in the mass range of m/z 500 to 3,000 at 5 kV.

The percentage of lactosylation was determined using the following calculation:

$$\frac{I(lact)}{I(NAP) + I(lact)} * \% NP \tag{4}$$

With I(lact): intensity of the lactosylated protein

I(NAP): intensity of the non-aggregated protein

%NP: % native protein amount determined from reverse phase HPLC

SDS-PAGE ANALYSIS

SDS–PAGE was performed under reducing (with dithiothreitol (DTT)) and non-reducing conditions (without DTT) using a precast 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide tris/HCl gel (Biorad, St Louis Mo., USA) as described by Laemmli (1970). Solutions of 0.2% (w/w) were diluted with the denaturing buffer (0.5 M Tris–HCl pH 6.8; 20% glycerol; 10% SDS; 0.5% bromophenol blue). 15 µg of each samples was loaded in the well and was separated at 200 V for 30 min. Precision Plus Protein Standards unstained (10-250 kDa, Biorad, St Louis Mo., USA) was used for molecular weight calibration. Gels were stained with Biosafe Coomassie Stain G250 (Biorad, St Louis Mo., USA) for an hour followed by a 20% ethanol solution. The gels were scanned by Image Scanner III (GE Healthcare, Paris, France).

2.2.6. PHYSICAL ANALYSIS

COLOUR

The browning index (BI) of powders was determined by measuring L*a*b* parameters (Konica Minolta Photo Imaging France SAS, Roissy, France) using the formula (Maskan 2001):

$$BI = \frac{100 * (x - 0.31)}{0.17} \tag{1}$$

$$x = \frac{a + 1.75 * L}{5.645 * L + a - 3.012 * b}$$
(2)

PART 3. CHANGES AT A MESOSCOPIC SCALE

2.3.1. FRESH POWDER COMPOSITION

The detailed composition of the fresh powder is visible in Table 4.

 Table 4: Composition of the fresh powder

Dry matter (DM; w/w %)	DM	92.5
Nitrogen composition (% N × 6.38)	TN	88.81
	NPN	0.32
	NCN	84.66
Mineral composition (w/w %)	Na⁺	0.100
	K ⁺	0.405
	Ca ²⁺	0.330
	Mg ²⁺	0.059
	CI	0.003
	PO4 ³⁻	0.059
	Citrate	0.022
Carbohydrate (w/w %)	Lactose	1.28

Fresh WPI powder (t_0) of a_w 0.23 was characterized by 4.7% proteins that precipitated at pH 4.6. This fraction was considered to correspond to the proteins that had been denatured during spray drying or prior processing steps. As this study deals with the structural and functional evolution of proteins during storage, the contribution of these latter does not appear in the present results. Moreover, no structural or functional modifications were detected during 15 months' storage at 4°C. The powder

stored at 4°C was therefore taken as a control (Ref) and any difference from Ref properties were considered as structural and/or functional changes affected by storage conditions.

2.3.2. COLOUR OF STORED POWDERS

The colour of dairy powders constitutes an essential criterion for their end use properties and reflects overall changes occurring in powders because of the Maillard reaction, which is one of the major deteriorative evolution during storage of dehydrated dairy products. Indeed, dairy powders that incorporate amorphous lactose are susceptible to non-enzymatic browning through the Maillard reaction, because of melanoidins apparition. Moreover, Martinez-Alvarenga et al. (2014) have shown that powder browning was correlated with a loss of amino acids in the presence of sugar. The Maillard reaction development was therefore evaluated (Figure 15) and analysed through colour measurements, making it possible to quantify the change of the Browning Index (Figure 16).



Figure 15: Images of powders after 15 months of storage at 4°C, after 1, 3, 6, 9 and 15 months of storage at 20°C, 40°C and after 1, 3, 6 months of storage at 60°C



Figure 16: Evolution of Browning Index (Arbitrary Units, AU) for powders stored at 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and $60^{\circ}C$ (square) as a function of storage time, with experimental relative error < 0.7%

Powders developed colour changes with storage time and temperature (**Figure 15**). At t_o, the browning index of WPI powder was 15, typical for a non-aged powder as shown in **Figure 16**. During storage at 20°C, changes in the browning index were very slight or nil over 15 months, whereas powders stored at temperature over 20°C browned from as early as 15 days during storage, with a sharper increase at 60°C. These results are in agreement with those of Stapelfeldt et al. (1997) and Burin et al. (2000) who showed that milk powder turned brown as a function of time and temperature during storage at T \geq 25°C. Li-Chan (1983) reported that WPC35 browning was correlated with a decrease in the residual lactose as well as a decrease in lysine availability under accelerated storage conditions (37°C for 42 days and a_w of 0.75).

2.3.3. MORPHOLOGICAL STUDY

This part and the following one (cf. 2.3.4., p45-47) only tackle with the comparison of the evolutions of the particle surface of Ref powder and the powder stored one month at 60°C.

SEM analysis revealed powder particles with smooth surface and large dents (Figure 17, A), characteristics typically encountered in high protein dairy powders (Fyfe et al. 2011; Mistry 2002). After one month of storage at 60°C, the surface powder mainly remained smooth but cracks and broken structures were observed (Figure 17, B). This means that particle structure is affected by storage at high temperature.



Figure 17: SEM images of A) Ref and B) aged powder. The bottom images are magnifications of their correspondent top ones

2.3.4. PARTICLE SURFACE CHEMISTRY

Adhesion force mapping with a hydrophobic AFM tip was used to probe the hydrophobic properties of the particle surface. Adhesion force histograms and maps are presented in **Figure 18**.



Figure 18: Evaluation of A) hydrophobic forces and representation of B) adhesion force maps for Ref and WPI powder stored 1 month at $60^{\circ}C$

Most of recorded curves showed two main areas of adhesion forces for each sample. The first area, of mean adhesion force of approximately 5 nN, is common to both Ref and aged powder. For Ref, the second area presented a mean adhesion force of 27.3 ± 1.2 nN whereas it was of 80.6 ± 0.2 nN for the aged powder. Interestingly, the adhesion maps of the aged WPI powder were heterogeneous and presented large hydrophobic patches. As these patches correlate with heterogeneous surface morphology, it is believed that a chemical modification on particle surface occurred upon storage at high temperature.

Many analysis methods can provide information on surface chemical composition; among them, XPS and ToF-SIMS stand out as the most relevant and most widely used techniques (Kingshott et al. 2011). In the present case, XPS analysis revealed no differences in surface composition between Ref and aged WPI powders (Table 5).

	Ref	Aged powder
0	17.00	17.38
Ν	14.01	14.08
Са	0.14	0.13
С	68.39	67.93
S	0.32	0.37
Р	0.14	0.12

Table 5: XPS analysis of WPI powder (relative atomic percentage, %)

A key advance for ToF-SIMS was the development of imaging combined with narrowly focused ion guns, which enables discriminating surface composition of smooth versus bump areas. During measurements, two regions of interest were analysed for each powder (**Figure 19**): the first one was on the smooth area and the second on the cracks previously described by SEM imaging. Results acquired in positive mode showed that the particle surface of powders stored at 60°C presented less amino acids than Ref (**Figure 19**).



Figure 19: ToF-SIMS analysis of the smooth area (grey) and the cracks (white) for A) Ref and B) aged powder

In particular on Ref, the presence of amino acids was less detected on a crack area compared to the smooth area. The same observation was done for the aged powder. This means that changes in

Chapter 2

surface morphology during storage is likely to be connected to surface chemical modification. To confirm these results, ToF-SIMS analysis were performed in negative mode. As expected, no lipids were found on the powder surface, as these latter are retained during the microfiltration step implemented for obtaining the WPI concentrate. This means that migration of lipids from the core to the surface was not responsible for the observed increase in surface hydrophobicity and decrease in amino acid content, even though it has been already described for skim milk powders (Gaiani et al. 2007). The changes in hydrophobicity and in amino and content reported above are thus thought to be the result of the Maillard reaction. This reaction has been extensively described in the literature (Martins et al. 2000; Van Boekel 1998; Waller and Feather 1983) and is actually believed to occur in dairy powders ageing (Anema et al. 2006; Guyomarc'h et al. 2000). It leads to amino acid degradation (Patel et al. 2013), consistent with the decrease in amino acid surface content observed in ToF-SIMS experiments. Moreover, the final stage of the Maillard reaction of heterocyclic nitrogen compounds (melanoidins) of brown colour, responsible for the evidenced colour change (**Figure 15**).

Fyfe et al. (2011) already described an increase in surface hydrophobicity for milk protein concentrate powders by evaluating particle adhesion to hydrophilic or hydrophobic materials. However, no differences in surface composition were evidenced by XPS in the current work. This can be explained by the fact that the XPS technique quantifies atoms and bonds on a relative large region. In the present study, it was demonstrated that modification on WPI particle surface might be at a very local stage. During one month storage of WPI powder at 60°C, powder surface principally underwent extremely local modifications.

From a structural point of view, the initially smooth surface presented cracks after storage and from a chemical point of view, a more hydrophobic material appeared on particle surface. According to the present work and literature, two main hypothesis can be issued: (1) The increase in hydrophobicity can originate from the unfolding of whey proteins resulting in an exposition of hydrophobic residues (Havea 2006), or (2) the increase in hydrophobicity and browning of the powder can result from the Maillard reaction, as heterocyclic nitrogen compounds, known to be hydrophobic and coloured, are produced (this second mechanism has clearly been evidenced by the multiscale approach of the current study). The alterations of powder surface during storage may result from many reactions involving all the powder components, among them, the 2 hypothesis highlighted previously. These latter are believed to be the main alteration mechanisms of WPI powders. So as to confirm the presence of these ageing alterations, a study at a molecular level was completed.

PART 4. CHANGES AT A MOLECULAR SCALE

2.4.1. PROTEIN DENATURATION OF STORED POWDERS

In their native state, D-LA and E-LG are soluble at pH 4.6, and in reverse phase HPLC these proteins were eluted with a retention time of 20 min and 33-34 min, respectively (double peak corresponding to the two E-LG variants) with the gradients used in this study (**Figure 20**, A). Any reduction in the area of the native form peaks or any modification of their elution time was considered as a marker of non-native protein state and was attributed to denatured/aggregated and/or the lactosylated fractions of D-LA and E-LG during storage.

The denatured/aggregated proteins were quantified by difference with Ref using reverse phase chromatography after precipitation at pH 4.6. Powders stored at 20°C were stable for 15 months (**Figure 20**, B). A level of denaturation corresponding to 7% and approximately 45% of E-LG was observed for powders stored for 15 days at 40°C and 60°C, respectively. After 15 months' storage at 40°C, powders presented chromatograms with a shifted peak concerning approximately 38% of E-LG: the delayed elution time made it possible to consider the denatured proteins to be more hydrophobic (Gulzar et al. 2013). The level of denaturation was not quantifiable after 1 month at 60°C due to very low amount of remaining native proteins. As shown on **Figure 20**, B and in agreement with Stapelfeldt et al. (1997), the kinetics of powder property modifications were slightly faster at a_w 0.36 than those at a_w 0.23 for a storage temperature higher than 20°C. The difference between the two studied a_w was not that wide, making possible to state that there is a tolerance threshold on a_w of WPI powder between 0.2 and 0.36.

Chapter 2



Figure 20: A) RP-HPLC profile of WPI powders at t_0 (solid line) and stored 15 months at 20°C (long-dashed line), at 40°C (dashed line) and stored 6 months at 60°C (dotted line). B) Influence of storage time and temperature on the amount of native 6-LG at pH4.6 during storage à 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) for powders of a_w 0.23 (empty symbols) and a_w 0.36 (solid symbols)

Changes in protein conformation were monitored by quantification of free thiol groups accessible to the DTNB probe upon 12 months of storage (**Figure 21**).



Figure 21: Influence of storage time on the amount of free thiol groups at the protein surface. Powders stored at 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square)

At t_0 , the level of free thiol groups was 0.34 ± 0.016 µmol –SH/g protein. Among the whey proteins, only E-LG and BSA have a free thiol group. It is possible to consider the concentration of BSA to be negligible compared to that of E-LG. On this basis, it can be estimated that only 1% of E-LG presented a free thiol group at t_0 , in agreement with the structural data indicating that the free thiol group of E-LG (Cys121) is buried in the protein structure (Sawyer et al. 1999). Exposure of free thiol groups increased during storage, reflecting an opening in protein structure (denaturation). For powders stored at 20°C for 12 months, the amount of free thiol group accessible to the probe. A decrease was observed at around 12 months' storage. At 60°C, the level of free thiol groups reached 11 ± 0.85 µmol –SH/g protein after 6 months' storage. In agreement with the previously reported changes in the denaturation level, this free thiol exposure might participate in exchange reactions with other protein disulphide bonds (Hoffmann and van Mil 1997; Roefs and De Kruif 1994; Visschers and de Jongh 2005).

2.4.2. PROTEIN LACTOSYLATION

Among the non-aggregated proteins that were detected by reverse phase chromatography at the characteristic retention time of E-LG and α -LA, some were lactosylated. The fraction of lactosylated E-LG (**Figure 22**), which could carry one or more lactose molecules per protein, was determined by mass

spectrometry. Only the results for β -LG are presented due to the difficulty of detecting lactosylation on α -LA with storage time.



Figure 22: Evolution of lactosylation of β -LG for powders stored at 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

The fraction of lactosylated proteins was less than 10% of whey proteins at t₀. This proportion regularly increased to reach 27% after 15 months' storage at 20°C. The lactosylation phenomenon evolved faster in powders stored at 40°C and 60°C. At 40°C, the level of lactosylated proteins reached 30% after 15 days storage, then remained stable for up to 3 months' storage before decreasing. Protein lactosylation constitutes therefore a marker of early change in the powder during storage. Lactosylation was rapidly undetectable in powders stored at 60°C. Indeed, over the first weeks of storage at 60°C, it was actually possible to quantify protein lactosylation; for longer storage time, lactosylated proteins were no longer quantifiable although still remaining detectable, as a result of the growing complexity of the signal. The decrease in proportion of lactosylated protein after 3 months' storage at 40°C and the rapidly undetectable lactosylation signal at 60°C corresponded to a high level of progression of denaturation (**Figure 20**, B).

The results of protein lactosylation have to be considered with caution. Indeed, these results are only estimated since ionization efficiency during mass spectrometry analysis could vary according to the level of lactosylation of the proteins. However, as the number of lactose molecules bound per protein was low (mainly one or two lactose molecules), the ionization efficiency between proteins was considered to remain stable.



Figure 23: Comparison of the evolution of β -LG lactosylation for two different powder productions (production 1, white; production 2, grey), both stored at 20°C (circle) and 40°C (triangle) as a function of storage time

The study of the evolution of β -LG lactosylation was also repeated on another powder produced under the same conditions as the first one to look at the repeatability of these changes extended to different powder productions (**Figure 23**). The results showed that the level of lactoyslation of the second production was superimposed to the first production for a storage at 20°C. At 40°C, the curve was in the standard deviation following the same path. These results confirm the evolution of this parameter for 3 months storage of a WPI powder.

2.4.3. CONFORMATIONAL STABILITY

The far-UV CD spectrum of fresh WPI powder (**Figure 24**, A) displayed extremes around 195, 210, and 218 nm comparable to previously reported spectra of β -LG (Broersen et al. 2004; Hirota-Nakaoka and Goto 1999). This result was consistent with our expectations since whey proteins are composed of around 70% of β -LG. A zero-crossing (around 200 nm) was retained upon 12 or 15 months' storage at 20 and 40°C, respectively (**Figure 24**, A and B), and the shape of the spectrum showed extremes around 195, 210, and 218 nm, similar to the fresh WPI powder. The difference in spectra intensity of stored WPI powders was attributed to the increasing rate of protein aggregation with longer storage time. As lactosylation seems to be the major protein modification during storage of WPI powders and as the shapes of the spectra showed only minor changes (mainly, same zero-crossing at 203 nm coupled with a difference in intensity), it can be conclude that the WPI powder was not significantly affected at any structural level by the lactosylation procedure. For samples stored under less severe conditions, these differences were even smaller.



Figure 24: A) Far-UV CD spectra of WPI powders at t_0 (solid line) and stored at 20°C for 15 months (dashed line), and B) stored at 40°C for 3 months (dotted line), 6 months (dashed line) and 12 months (long-dashed line)

From these data it can be concluded that the binding of a lactose molecule to a protein does not apparently lead to a large loss of secondary structure if any.

2.4.4. AGGREGATION IN THE DRY STATE

QUANTIFICATION

Quantification of monomeric and aggregated forms of proteins upon storage has been determined using GPC-HPLC by difference of Ref and stored powders. Powders stored at 20°C were thus stable until 15 months (Figure 25).



Figure 25: Amount of native (empty symbols) and aggregated (full symbols) proteins for powders stored at 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

Similar behaviour was observed for powders stored at 40°C for between 1 and 3 months; from this date, the fraction of native protein started to decrease, with a concomitant increase in aggregated proteins. After 15 months' storage at 40°C, powders presented around 25% aggregated protein. At 60°C, powders showed a high level of aggregation starting from the first 2 weeks of storage being of 31% aggregated proteins. This level continuously increased to reach 68% aggregated proteins after 6 months but no difference in solubility could be evidenced at this stage. Morr and Ha (1993) reported that storage of WPC powder resulted in partial denaturation and progressive polymerization. The amount of native protein therefore decreased from 60 to 33% during 7 days of storage at 80°C. Furthermore, one year storage at 25°C caused the polymerization of 18% of β -lg monomers. Havea (2006) reported that these proteins tended to unfold during storage at 40°C, making them more available to the formation of aggregates linked by disulphide bridges. Protein-protein interactions have been observed by other researchers (Anema et al. 2006; Mimouni et al. 2010; Zhou and Labuza 2007). This has also been reported for whey proteins dry heated in a powder state (Gulzar, Bouhallab, Jeantet, et al. 2011).


Figure 26: Comparison of the evolution of aggregated proteins amount for two different powder productions (production 1, white; production 2, grey), both stored at 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

As for β -LG lactosylation, the study of the amount of aggregated protein upon storage was repeated on another production (the same powder as for lactosylation) and this for the same purpose (**Figure 26**). The results showed that changes in the amount of aggregated proteins of the second production for storage at 40°C and 60°C are closely following their associated twins from the first production. These results confirm the evolution of this parameter during the first 3 months storage of a WPI powder.

CHARACTERISATION

SDS–PAGE analysis in the absence and presence of the reducing agent DTT was used to determine the type of intermolecular interactions in the formed aggregates.



Figure 27: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored powders at 40°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_W, low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 month; 3, 3 months; 4, 6 months; 5, 9 months; 6, 12 months; 7, 15 months



Figure 28: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored powders at 60°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_{W} , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 15 days; 3, 1 month; 4, 3 months; 5, 6 months

In the absence of DTT (**Figure 27**, A), the fresh powder sample showed two major bands corresponding to monomers of α -LA and β -LG. At 40°C, the intensity of the bands corresponding to monomers of α -LA and β -LG decreased when increasing the storage time and the bands on top of the separating gel and in the wells, corresponding to large aggregates, intensified. Increasing the storage temperature at 60°C (**Figure 28**) accelerated the conversion of monomeric proteins into larger aggregates, in agreement with size exclusion chromatography and reverse-phase chromatography. Moreover, these aggregates were covalently linked as SDS-PAGE would preserve this type of links while breaking non-covalent bonds.

To further investigate the type of covalent interactions, the samples were analysed by SDS–PAGE in the presence of the reducing agent, DTT (**Figure 27**, B). Under these conditions, the polymer bands observed in powders in the absence of DTT largely disappeared in profit of the monomeric forms, showing that a majority of the proteins in these aggregates were joined together by disulphide bonds. However, the recovery of the proteins in the monomeric band was incomplete, and darker smear was observed with storage time as significant amounts of polymers were still concentrated on top of the separating gel. This indicated that covalent bonds, other than disulphide bonds, also participated in protein cross-linking. Moreover the presence of smear showed that these aggregates were of heterogeneous size.

PART 5. DISCUSSION: MAILLARD REACTION IS THE MAIN REACTION OCCURRING DURING WPI POWDER STORAGE

During storage at 20°C, changes in the browning index were very slight or nil over 15 months, in accordance with the relatively small changes in protein lactosylation. At 40°C, powders browned to an intermediate level, BI values being in the 17.6 to 41.8 range. Several studies have reported powder colour changes with storage time and temperature (\geq 50°C), suggesting participation of the Maillard reaction (Burin et al. 2000; Martinez-Alvarenga et al. 2014; Stapelfeldt et al. 1997). The Maillard reaction is based on the condensation of amino groups on reducing sugars, then followed by degradation of the condensation products and the formation of brown compounds. Due to diafiltration of the ultrafiltrate before spray drying, WPI powders consist of about 95% protein and a very small amount of lactose still remaining in an amorphous state (1.28% w/w corresponding to a lactose/protein molar ratio of 0.7) of which part is associated with proteins, as indicated by mass spectrometry analysis. Moreover, it is interesting to note that the level of lactosylation first increased for storage at 40°C up to 3 months when maximum lactosylation was reached with no change in the browning index. At this point, the latter started to increase continuously whereas the level of lactosylation decreased concomitantly and tended to be undetectable after 15 months' storage. The decrease in lactosylation after 3 months' storage also matched with a concomitant increase in protein aggregation. This suggests that, with storage time, lactosylated proteins are getting through the process of the Maillard reaction which ends up with the formation of aggregated proteins in the dry state (Guyomarc'h et al. 2000; Morgan et al. 1999).



Figure 29: Correlation between lactosylation and aggregation for Ref (empty diamond) and powders stored at 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) from 15 days to 15 months (from white to black)

As shown in **Figure 29**, powders stored at 40°C for up to 15 months first presented a sharp increase in protein lactosylation (**Figure 29**, A), which then decreased towards protein aggregation (**Figure 29**, B). It is likely that free lactose molecules were in the process of binding to protein, while a fewer of these latter that were already bound were degraded into aggregates and tended to colour the powder from the first month of storage.

It can be hypothesized that proteins were extensively modified by lactosylation after 3 months' storage at 40°C, increasing the rate of the subsequent Maillard reaction and leading to the formation of new coloured compounds. These results are in agreement with previous studies showing that storage at high temperatures induces an increase in the amount of Maillard reaction products (Ipsen and Hansen 1988; Kieseker and Clarke 1984). SDS-PAGE showed that aggregates comprised disulphide bridges and also other covalent bonds. The latter are thought to be linked to the presence of lactose degradation products in the medium forming covalent protein crosslinks (Enomoto et al. 2007; Guyomarc'h et al. 2014; Le, Deeth, et al. 2013; Li et al. 2009).

Aggregation from crosslinking might also be due to heat-induced denaturation of proteins in view of the increase in free thiol groups exposed on the protein surface. In such a scheme, the storage temperature would act as a dry heat treatment which could affect the exposure of buried thiol groups with partial unfolding of β -LG, which initiates thiol or disulphide interchange reactions leading to protein aggregation (Busti et al. 2006; Hoffmann and van Mil 1997).

PART 6. ADDITIONAL RESULTS: INFLUENCE OF STORAGE ACCIDENTS

2.6.1. OBJECTIVES

WPI powder may be subjected to non-constant environmental conditions during delivery, involving short exposure to high temperature. Such episodes are considered to be storage accidents. The purpose of this additional study was to assess whether the time dependence of changes occurring upon WPI powder ageing was according to a proportional scale or not.

2.6.2. EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY

At first, we defined a reference time/temperature exposure representative of storage accident. Our choice fell on storage accidents of continuous 72 h rather than simulating combination of daily exposure (with a period of 12 h for example) at the critical temperature. Indeed, we first compared the evolution of the powder colour and the denaturation state of its protein (reverse phase HPLC) for a set made of 6 exposures at 60°C for 12 h, each separated by a 12 h lapse at room temperature, and for one exposure of 72 h at 60°C. We observed that the differences between powders were very low, although powders undergoing 72 h at 60°C were slightly browner than powders undergoing 6*12 h at 60°C. For the sake of simplification of the experimental strategy, the choice of a continuous period of 72 h was then adopted for defining one storage accident.

WPI powder was obtained as above using a three-stage spray drying pilot, Bionov (GEA, Niro Atomizer, Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines, France). The flow was set at around 100 $L.h^{-1}$ and the inlet and outlet temperatures were fixed at 152°C and 58.9°C respectively. After drying, the WPI powder of a_w 0.28 and was packed under air in airtight tins of 400 g capacity.

6 powders were stored at 20°C for 4.5 months, 3 of them being subjected to 1, 2 or 3 storage accidents and the 3 others being subjected to 1 storage accident at 3 different times among the storage period (Figure 30).



Figure 30: Diagram of the strategy adopted for the study of the influence of storage accidents on powders ageing

It was then possible to distinguish the impact of repeated storage accidents, from the time at which they occur: the comparison between powder 1, powder 4 and powder 5 gave an insight on the influence of the time at which the storage accident occurs; and the comparison between powder 1, powder 2 and powder 3 displayed the influence of the number of storage accidents.

2.6.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

DATE OF THE STORAGE ACCIDENT

The results obtained showed that the rate of protein denaturation (Figure 31, A), the rate of monomeric and aggregated forms (Figure 31, B) and the Browning Index (Figure 31, C) were not significantly affected by the time at which the storage accident occurred. This indicated that the changes occurring between the storage accident at 20°C for 3 months were very low if measurable on this storage period (overall 4.5 months): consequently, the reactions induced by the storage accident should be considered as slowed/stopped during these relatively low temperature intervals.



Figure 31: A) RP-Phase profile of WPI powders at pH 4.6 at t₀ (solid line) and powders with 1 storage accident after 2 weeks (long-dashed line), after 1.5 months (dashed line) and after 3.5 months (dotted line). B) Amount of monomers (empty square) and aggregated proteins (full square) and C) evolution of Browning Index for Ref powder (diamond) and powders with 1 storage accident (square) after 2 weeks, 1.5 months and 3.5 months, with experimental relative error < 0.7%

NUMBER OF STORAGE ACCIDENTS



Figure 32: A) RP-Phase profile of WPI powders at pH 4.6 at t_0 (solid line) and powders with 1 storage accident (long-dashed line), 2 storage accidents (dashed line) and 3 storage accidents (dotted line); B) Amount of native (empty square) and aggregated (full square) proteins; and C) evolution of Browning Index for Ref powder (diamond) and powders with 1, 2 and 3 storage accidents (square), with experimental relative error < 0.7%

Our results showed that the more the number of storage accidents, the higher the rate of denaturation (Figure 32, A), the browning index (Figure 32, C) and the aggregation (Figure 32, B), and conversely the lower the monomer amount. Clearly, the structural evolutions – loss of monomeric forms through the formation of aggregated proteins – were cumulative among the number of storage accidents, given the linear shape of the curves of Figure 32, B.

This part of the study showed that several storage accidents can affect irreversibly the powder structural properties and this from the first storage accident. It is thus of high importance to control their storage conditions in the depot or in the course of delivery.

PART 7. CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter, we studied the influence of representative storage conditions on protein structural properties of WPI powders. The results showed that WPI powders stored at temperatures below or equal to 20°C were relatively stable from a structural point of view up to 15 months' storage with only a limited lactosylation increase. On the other hand, WPI powders particles presented hydrophobic patches and a decrease in amino acid content concomitant with a significant levels of aggregation and protein modifications. These involved first protein lactosylation and then degradation of Maillard reaction products resulting in a higher Browning Index compared to the reference, starting from the first two weeks of storage at 60°C. At 40°C, powders showed intermediate evolution.

Moreover, one to several storage accidents (72 h at 60°C) applied on powders stored at 20°C affected the structural properties of the WPI powder. The time at which the storage accidents occurred didn't influence the rate of modifications on 4.5 months; however, the number of storage accidents linearly affected the changes in protein structure and the Browning Index.

Although the WPI powder had been thoroughly diafiltered before spray drying, a very small amount of lactose still remains in the powder (1.28% w/w) to enable the development of the Maillard reaction. Indeed, two ageing steps depending on water activity, time and temperature have been highlighted in this study involving first protein lactosylation and then degradation of Maillard reaction products. This resulted in an increase in the aggregation rate in the dry state and a higher Browning Index compared to the reference.

The definition of storage conditions is obviously very important in order to keep the WPI powderstructural properties upon ageing. However, how the storage-induced structural changes in the drystateaffectthefunctionalproperties?

CHAPTER 3. STUDY OF CHANGES IN WHEY PROTEINS HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION, FOAMING AND INTERFACIAL PROPERTIES

The aim of this chapter is to identify which structural markers participate in the changes in protein functionality and to understand the mechanisms involved in these modifications. Functional properties of whey proteins are directly dependent on their structure, either native or in the form of protein aggregates, especially through their size, shape, surface properties, and also the type of bonds maintaining proteins together in the aggregates. In order to study the impact of whey proteins structural changes on their functional properties, WPI powders were characterized by three types of properties relevant to the industrials regarding their use: a) heat-induced aggregation, b) foaming and c) interfacial properties. It was demonstrated that even though protein lactosylation occurred in WPI powders stored at 20°C, the properties of these latter were not significantly different from the nonaged WPI powder. On the other hand, powders stored at 40°C, in which protein lactosylation and aggregation in the dry state occurred, showed a decrease in aggregate size after heat treatment at 5.8 d pH d 6.6 with concomitant changes in the aggregate shape. However, no changes in the foaming and interfacial properties among storage were observed. At 60°C, only foaming and interfacial properties have been studied and the changes in the dry state led to an improved foam stability in the most severe conditions although the diffusion coefficient of the proteins at the air/water interface decreased. A part of these results has been published in *Food And Bioprocess Technology* (Paper²) and in Journal of Dairy Science (Paper⁴).

The aims of that chapter were to:

- *x* highlight the changes in functional properties caused by the structural changes in the dry state
- *x* identify the relevant structural markers affecting whey proteins functionality
- *x* understand their role in the functional properties modifications

² Published as Norwood EA, Chevallier M, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Jeantet R, Croguennec T. (2016). Heatinduced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions of whey protein isolate powders. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(6), 993–1001. doi:10.1007/s11947-016-1686-1.

⁴ Published as Norwood EA, Le Floch Foueré C, Schuck P, Croguennec T, Jeantet R. (2016). Structural markers of the evolution of whey protein isolate powder during aging and effects on foaming properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99(7), 5265–5272. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-10788.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 3. Study of changes in whey proteins heat-induced aggregation, foaming and interfacial
properties
Part 1. Introduction
Part 2. Experimental strategy
3.2.1. Heat-induced aggregation68
3.2.2. Analysis of foam properties
3.2.3. Analysis of the interfacial properties
Part 3. Heat-induced aggregation properties of whey proteins as affected by storage conditions of
whey protein isolate powder
3.3.1. Study of the heat-induced aggregates size and shapes72
3.3.2. Role of the structural markers of ageing in heat-induced aggregation
Part 4. Little effect on the foaming and interfacial properties
3.4.1. Foam stability
3.4.2. Interfacial properties
Part 5. Additional results: effect of storage accident on whey proteins heat-induced aggregation
properties
3.5.1. Experimental strategy
3.5.2. Results and discussion
Part 6. Conclusions

PART 1. INTRODUCTION

As a reminder, WPI consists of protein fraction greater than or equal to 90% (w/w) (Burin et al. 2000), including about 70% β -lactoglobulin (β -LG) and 20% α -lactalbumin (α -LA) (McClements et al. 1993). Whey proteins in their native state have biological and functional properties that provide undeniable advantages in many food applications. They are recognized for their nutritional role, their solubility and their ability to form gels, emulsions and foams.

In the literature it has been shown that changes occurring in the dry state during storage affect powders functionality (Fyfe et al. 2011; Gaiani et al. 2009). However and from a scientific point of view, the main issue is to link structural modifications to powder's functional evolution in order to identify relevant markers giving information on early changes in properties.

On an industrial scale, heat treatment is an essential step since it modifies the structure of whey proteins, which is needed for some functional applications as a food ingredient. Depending on the severity of the treatment and the physicochemical environment of the proteins, structural changes occur, leading to aggregation that may be desired for structuring or texturing food (Nicolai 2015). Several types of whey protein aggregates that differ in size and morphology are used for specific functional properties such as the texture of dairy products (firmness, creaminess, etc.), as fat substitutes or agents in the stability of foams and emulsions (Guilmineau and Kulozik 2006), or for their stability in high protein drinks during long term storage (Sağlam et al. 2014).

Whey proteins also form stable viscoelastic layers at the air/water interface when they are adsorbed, which can lead to a resistant and cohesive interfacial network improving foam stability (Martin et al. 2002). Their interfacial properties allow the formation of a wide range of foamed products such as bread, meringues and ice creams. Moreover, proteins are often used as foaming agents in food since they contribute both to foam formation and foam stability; and controlling these properties is therefore of great interest for the food industry.

In order to study the impact of whey proteins structural modifications on their functional properties, powders were characterized through three types of relevant properties to the industrials: heat-induced aggregation, foaming and interfacial properties.

PART 2. EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY

3.2.1. HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION

HEAT TREATMENT AFTER REHYDRATION

Solutions of non-aged WPI powder (stored at $4^{\circ}C - Ref$) and WPI powders stored for 3, 6, 12 and 15 months dissolved in milli-Q water (4% w/w) were adjusted to pH 5.8, 6.2 and 6.6. Solutions were heated in a water bath at 80°C for 1 hour and then quenched in cold water. After heat treatment, 0.02% (w/w) sodium azide was added to each solution and the solutions were sampled for analysis. Samples which were analysed the same day were kept at room temperature (GPC, dynamic light scattering (DLS)) and those that were not analysed the same day (transmission electron microscopy (TEM)) were stored in a cold room.

HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION ANALYSIS

Particle size distribution of the heat-treated dispersions was determined by DLS using a Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instrument, Worcestershire, UK). Measurements were performed in triplicate at 20°C, measuring the backscatter at 173° over 120 s. Prior to measurement, samples were diluted 1:100 with milli-Q water. Average size diameters were reported. TEM was performed using negative staining. Samples were diluted to 160 mg.L⁻¹ protein and stained using a 2% uranyl acetate solution (Ayache et al. 2007). Samples were observed using a JEOL JEM 1400 transmission electron microscope (TEM, Croissy-sur-Seine,France) operating at 120 kV. Images were recorded with a GATAN Orius SC 1000 camera (Digital Micrograph software).

3.2.2. ANALYSIS OF FOAM PROPERTIES

Foaming properties were evaluated by beating 200 mL of 50 g.L⁻¹ WPI solution reconstituted in milliQ water at room temperature with a Hobart N50 whisk (Hobart, Peterborough, UK) at speed 3 (maximal speed) for 2 min. A foam core of 74 cm³ was removed and the initial foam weight was determined (time *ti*). The foam core was placed in a glass funnel on a measuring tube previously tared and the exuded liquid was regularly measured for up to 60 min. The experiment was repeated in triplicate at room temperature.

The foam density (*FD*; g.cm⁻³) was evaluated according to:

$$FD = \frac{Foam \, weight}{Foam \, volume} \tag{5}$$

The foam stability (FS; %) was calculated during drainage according to Howell and Taylor (1995):

$$FS = \frac{Initial \ foam \ weight \ (ti) - drained \ weight \ (t)}{Initial \ foam \ weight \ (ti)} * 100 \tag{6}$$

3.2.3. ANALYSIS OF THE INTERFACIAL PROPERTIES

Measurements of the ellipsometric angle value were carried out with an in-house automated ellipsometer in a "null ellipsometer" configuration (**Figure 33**) (Berge and Renault 1993; Azzam and Bashara 1977) and were repeated twice. A polarized He–Ne laser beam ($\lambda = 632.8$ nm, Melles Griot, Glan-Thompson polarizer) was reflected on the liquid surface. The incidence angle was 53.12°, *i.e.* Brewster angle (β_B) for the air/water interface. This particular angle is defined by (Lheveder et al. 2000):

$$tan\theta_B = \frac{n_2}{n_1} \tag{7}$$

With n₁: air index

n₂: water index

After reflection on the liquid surface, the laser light passed through a $\lambda/4$ retardation plate, a Glan-Thompson analyser, and a photomultiplier. The analyser angle, multiplied by 2, yielded the value of the ellipsometric angle (Δ), *i.e.* the phase difference between parallel and perpendicular polarization of the reflected light. The laser beam probed the 1 mm² surface with a depth in the order of 1 μ m.



Figure 33: Diagram of the ellipsometric measurements

The surface pressure, π , was measured following the Wilhelmy plate method. The plate was a 10 mm × 22 mm filter paper (Whatman, Velizy-Villacoublay, France) and was connected to a microelectronic feedback system (Nima PS4, Manchester, England). The surface pressure was recorded every 4 s with precision of ± 0.2 mN.m⁻¹. The measured surface pressure is defined by (Vargaftik et al. 1983):

$$\pi = \gamma_w - \gamma_f \tag{8}$$

With γ_w : surface tension of water, which is of 72.8 mN.m⁻¹ at 20°C

 $\gamma_f:$ surface tension of the protein film

Initial values of the ellipsometric angle (Δ_0) and surface pressure (π_0) of milliQ water were recorded for at least half an hour to assure that the interface was clean. Experiments were performed only when obtaining a stable and minimal signal.

Fresh and stored powders were diluted in 3 mg.L⁻¹ solutions with milli-Q water in order to study only the protein diffusion at the air/water interface and then values of the ellipsometric angle (Δ_t , °) and surface pressure (π_t , mN.m⁻¹) for each solution were recorded for 3h at 20°C. Three parameters have been taken into account to characterize the interfacial properties of whey proteins of stored WPI powders: Γ_0 (mg.m⁻²), the surface concentration at which π is different from zero; θ (mN.m.mg⁻¹), the amplitude of interactions at the air/water interface; and D (m².s⁻¹), the diffusion coefficient of the proteins at the air/water interface.

D was determined graphically according to De Feijter et al. (1978) and Ward and Tordai (1946) and is represented as the slope of the curve $d\Gamma/dt$ (**Figure 34**):

$$\Gamma = 0.2 * \Delta \tag{9}$$

$$\frac{d\Gamma}{dt} = C_b * \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi * t}}$$
(10)

With C_b : protein concentration in the bulk (µg.mL⁻¹)



Figure 34: Graphic determination of the diffusion coefficient D

The two previous equation are true only for a diffusive regime. The parameters θ and Γ_0 were also determined graphically thanks to $\pi_t = \Gamma_t$ (Figure 35). θ is represented by the slope of the curve and Γ_0 the surface concentration at which π is different from zero.



Figure 35: Graphic determination of Γ_{α} , the surface concentration at which π is different from zero; and ϑ , the amplitude of interactions at the air/water interface

PART 3. HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION PROPERTIES OF WHEY PROTEINS AS AFFECTED BY STORAGE CONDITIONS OF WHEY PROTEIN ISOLATE POWDER

Whey proteins are widely used for their ability to form stable aggregates under controlled conditions (Donato et al. 2009), generally associated with the formation of intra- and inter-molecular interactions that occur during heating (Roefs and De Kruif 1994). It is known that heat-induced aggregation is very dependent on pH (Hoffmann and van Mil 1999), ionic strength and divalent cations (Ca²⁺) content (Petit et al. 2016). Changes in techno-functional properties of stored WPI powders were analysed after reconstitution at pH ranging from 5.8 (just above their isoelectric point, pI) to 6.6 (regular pH of reconstitution in water).

3.3.1. STUDY OF THE HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATES SIZE AND SHAPES

Heat-induced aggregation of reconstituted WPI powders was studied at pH 5.8, 6.2 and 6.6. Several studies have shown that heating generates microgels at pH 5.8, strands at pH 6.6 and a mixture of both at pH 6.2 (Nicolai et al. 2011; Nicolai and Durand 2013; Phan-Xuan et al. 2011).

Figure 36 shows the evolution of heat-induced aggregate size as a function of powder storage time and temperature after an hour of static heating of WPI solutions (4% w/w) adjusted to a given pH. The aggregate size of Ref was around 400 \pm 24.96 nm, 170 \pm 0.28 nm and 120 \pm 2.75 nm at pH 5.8, 6.2 and 6.6, respectively. As expected, WPI powders stored at 20°C showed relative stability with regard to heat-induced aggregate size after 15 months of storage, whatever the pH (Figure 36, A). In fact, no significant variation was registered in DLS after repetition. However, storage at 40°C provided very different results. Heat-induced aggregate size decreased as a function of storage time regardless of pH (Figure 36, B); this decrease was significant from 3 months. At pH 5.8, 6.2 and 6.6, aggregate size decreased to 225 \pm 19.23 nm, 130 \pm 1.56 nm and 78 \pm 1.16 nm after 12 months, respectively.



Figure 36: Average aggregate sizes as a function of storage time for powders stored at A) 20°C and B) 40°C after heat treatment at pH 5.8 (white symbols), pH 6.2 (grey symbols) and pH 6.6 (black symbols)

Heat-induced aggregates from WPI powders stored for 12 months at 40°C were observed by TEM (Figure 37). In the Ref samples, heat-induced aggregates consisted of microgels (spherical units) at pH 5.8 (Figure 37, A) and a mixture of smaller individual particles, mostly spherical and strand-like, at pH 6.2 (Figure 37, C) and 6.6 (Figure 37, E), respectively. Images of heat-induced aggregates using 12-months stored powder still showed spherical units although smaller than in Ref at pH 5.8 (Figure 37, B), mostly strands at pH 6.2 (Figure 37, D), and only strands at pH 6.6 (Figure 37, F). The morphological

features of Ref were not in agreement with the results reported by Phan-Xuan et al. (2011) for samples heat treated at pH 6.2 and 6.6. According to these authors, only strands could be formed at pH 6.6 and mostly strands at pH 6.2. The difference between our results and those of Phan-Xuan et al. (2011) might be related to the age of the powder as the shapes of the aggregates changed with storage time. It is also possible that differences in powder composition may affect the morphology of the aggregates. Phan-Xuan et al. (2013) indicated that small variations in amount of calcium could shift microgels to fine strands and vice-versa.



Figure 37: TEM images of negatively stained WPI Ref (A, C, E) and powder stored for 12 months at 40°C (B, D, F) when heat treated at pH 5.8 (A, B), pH 6.2 (C, D) and pH 6.6 (E, F)

3.3.2. ROLE OF THE STRUCTURAL MARKERS OF AGEING IN HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION

Upon heating, whey proteins shift to a reactive state. The protein structure is modified, free to unfold, exposing their hydrophobic core and free thiol groups so that they are able to interact with nearby molecules. First, covalent oligomers are formed linked by disulphide bridges (Croguennec et al. 2004; Surroca et al. 2002). Their structure is flexible and when the number of oligomers exceeds a critical level, they form relatively monodisperse structured aggregates (Nicolai et al. 2011; Schmitt et al. 2009). Their presence seems to be a condition for the formation of microgels (Da Silva Pinto et al.

2012; Schmitt et al. 2009), and according to Schmitt et al. (2010), small aggregates resulting from an association of oligomers are only a stage in the formation of final heat-induced aggregates. In fact, these small aggregates appear to be the source of new larger aggregates, first linked by hydrogen and hydrophobic bonds, and then stabilized by disulphide bridges. Other authors have hypothesized that the heat-induced aggregation originates from growth and nucleation processes (Aymard et al. 1996; Bromley et al. 2006; Phan-Xuan et al. 2011), the nuclei being the oligomers formed in the early stages of aggregation on which the denatured proteins aggregate (Phan-Xuan et al. 2013). Environmental conditions (pH, ionic strength, nature of salts) govern heat-induced aggregation as they determine the ability of proteins to unfold, change the net charge and thus the interaction between proteins which finally affect oligomers formation.

It was possible to see on Figure 37 that all aggregates were not identical, depending on the solution pH when heat treated. At pH 5.8 microgel types were visible while at pH 6.2 and 6.6, mixtures of microgels and strands were observed. Phan-Xuan et al. (2014) highlighted the importance of the net charge density of native protein in the type of heat-induced aggregate formed, and therefore the key role of the solution pH during heat treatment (Hoffmann and van Mil 1999). Around pI, aggregates form a spherical structure (microgels) which is reinforced by new covalent bonds (Giroux et al. 2010), whereas when the pH increases, aggregate size decreases and strands are observed (Phan-Xuan et al. 2011). This can be explained by the repulsion generated by surface charges of denatured proteins, thereby limiting further aggregation. In our samples at pH \geq 6.2, a mixture of strands and microgels was present, in agreement with Hoffmann and van Mil (1999) and Phan-Xuan et al. (2011). In fact, heat-induced aggregation favours the formation of microgels before strands (Nicolai 2015) as the pH increases upon aggregation, leading to an increase in the protein net charge and then a shift from microgels to strands.

Structural findings confirmed that heat-induced aggregation was not significantly different from the Ref when the powders were stored at 20°C, although lactosylation was observed following 15 months of storage. When powders were stored at 40°C, the amount of native protein decreased in favour of aggregation in the dry state. According to Phan-Xuan et al. (2013), as oligomers are formed from native proteins, heat-induced aggregates are smaller because of the reduction in amount of native protein. A steady state is reached when the solution no longer contains native monomers. Our results were consistent with those of Jones et al. (2010) that explained that smaller heat-induced aggregates should probably be due to a reduction in available protein monomers. The literature also indicates that the reduction in aggregate size is due to the presence of sugar which modifies native proteins into AGE (Da Silva Pinto et al. 2012). In these conditions, proteins are found to be less flexible and thus lose

75

part of their ability to form aggregates and then inhibit protein aggregation (Lee et al. 2009). Indeed, in our study, proteins were partly lactosylated, without subsequently aggregation in a dry state during storage at 20°C, and no changes in heat-induced aggregation could be observed.

Moreover, heat-induced aggregates decreased in size at pH 6.2 and 6.6 but their shape moved from microgels to strands. The decrease in the amount of native protein after powder storage at 40°C could explain the change in aggregate morphology (Lee et al. 2009). The extensive binding of lactose molecule and Maillard reaction products on whey proteins (mainly on amino groups) stored at 40°C could also increase their net charge. Consequently, clustering of oligomers upon heating might rapidly reach a critical charge density, thus limiting aggregation, and strands would form preferentially.

To summarize, a mechanism for heat-induced aggregation of stored WPI powders under the experimental conditions tested is proposed in **Figure 38**.



To put it in a nutshell, changes in heat-induced aggregation properties of whey proteins after storage are a consequence of structural changes occurring in the WPI powder in the dry state. Moreover, it can now be stated that lactosylated proteins are not directly responsible for the changes in aggregate size or shapes, but their degradation in AGE or Maillard aggregates is more likely to be involved in these modifications.

PART 4. LITTLE EFFECT ON THE FOAMING AND INTERFACIAL PROPERTIES

3.4.1. FOAM STABILITY

Foams are a dispersion of gas bubbles in a smaller volume of liquid with surface-active reagents, which increase the foam stability. In our case of study, the aqueous phase was composed of water, the gas was air and the surface-active molecules was represented by the proteins (modified or not). Foams are made of polyhedral gas bubbles with liquid films surrounding bubbles, which are called Plateau borders. The latter are formed by the meeting of three films and four of them join into a node. Liquid films and Plateau borders constitute a network for liquid drainage out of the system by gravity, and also by surface and capillary forces. Foams are thus thermodynamically unstable systems. Indeed, there are 3 major processes of destabilization of foams: film cohesion, drainage and disproportion (Ostwald ripening). One of them, drainage, was assessed over time through the change of *FS* (Equation n°6; **Figure 39**) and *FD* (Equation n°5; **Figure 40**). Only the results obtained after 12 months' storage at $T \leq 40^{\circ}$ C and 6 months at 60°C are presented.

The foam stability of powders stored at T \leq 40°C did not differ significantly from Ref powders. On the other hand, foams made from the powders stored at 60°C were denser and those of a_w 0.36 were slightly more stable (p > 0.05) than Ref powders after 40 min.

For powders stored at $T \le 40$ °C, the amount of monomers did not appear to be limiting leading in no change in the foam stability. This results can also be explain by the presence of remaining caseins (**Table 4**), which are surface active components (Dickinson 2001) and may have participated to the foam stability.



Figure 39: Effect of storage time and temperature on foam stability. Powders of $a_w 0.23$ at t_0 (full grey circle) and stored 12 months at 20°C (empty circle), at 40°C (empty triangle) and 6 months at 60°C (empty square). Powder of $a_w 0.36$ stored 6 months at 60°C (full square)



Figure 40: Effect of storage temperature on foam density. Powders of $a_w 0.23$ at t_0 and stored 12 months at 20°C, 40°C and 6 months at 60°C (grey bar). Powder of $a_w 0.36$ stored 6 months at 60°C (white bar)

The coexistence of aggregated proteins and non-aggregated proteins has been assessed to be a key parameter for foaming properties (Foegeding et al. 2006). In accordance with our results, the latter study showed that an increase in the relative percentage of whey protein polymers in the solution led to more stable foams by decreasing the drainage rate with a concomitant decrease in the air phase volume. Non-aggregated proteins contributed to the foam formation as they diffuse to the interface

faster, then unfold and adsorbed to form an aqueous film surrounding the air bubbles. These unfolded proteins at the interface can also serve as an anchor for aggregated proteins (Dimitrova et al. 2004). In our case, with more than 65% in the powder, the aggregates were likely to be forced to adsorption during foam threshing and participate in strengthening the viscoelasticity of the bubble interface. Moreover, these aggregated proteins contributed to the aqueous film stability by increasing its viscoelasticity and acting against the gravitational drainage and gas diffusion between bubbles (Davis and Foegeding 2004; Zhu and Damodaran 1994). Other authors have claimed that the increase in surface hydrophobicity could be considered as a decisive factor for the formation and stabilization of protein foams due to the rapid formation of viscoelastic films (Báez et al. 2013; Moro et al. 2011). The reverse phase HPLC results showed a decrease in the amount of native protein with storage time in favor of more hydrophobic denatured proteins. These new hydrophobic particles could adsorb irreversibly and form a solid shell stabilizing bubbles against disproportion (Kam and Rossen 1999).

Some of the aggregates which did not adsorb might provide additional stabilization mechanisms. They can become trapped in the film during foam formation and structure themselves into layers that are difficult to remove from the film (Sethumadhavan et al. 2001a, 2001b). The foam stability is then improved by repulsive forces which structure the aqueous film (Sethumadhavan et al. 2001a). This kind of aggregates is also subjected to crosslinking between the interfaces to form a gel-like network which prevents the film to become thinner, therefore preventing the interfacial layers of air bubbles to become closer and finally helping to retain the solution in the film (Rullier et al. 2008; Saint-Jalmes et al. 2005). Moreover, these aggregates can be located in the Plateau borders, playing a role of steric clutter impeding drainage.

It is assumed that shapes and sizes of aggregates are crucial to the stability of foams (Fameau and Salonen 2014; Rullier et al. 2010; Zhu and Damodaran 1994). However, the size of aggregates formed during storage in our study were too heterogeneous and their shapes couldn't be studied to confirm this hypothesis.

3.4.2. INTERFACIAL PROPERTIES

Because of their surface-active properties, whey proteins contribute to the formation of foam based food products and also improve their physical stability. They absorb spontaneously from the aqueous solution to the air/water interface where their free energy is lower than in the unabsorbed state. Upon adsorption, proteins unfold and establish intermolecular interactions with other proteins at the interface or close to the interface leading to the formation of an interfacial film of proteins. In this section, the influence of storage conditions on the interfacial properties of whey proteins considering three characteristic parameters of the adsorption, the diffusion coefficient D of the proteins at the air/water interface on the one hand, and the surface concentration Γ_0 at which the surface pressure π is different from zero and the amplitude of interactions θ at the air/water interface on the other hand.

ADSORPTION KINETICS

The characterization of the interfacial properties first consisted in determining the adsorption kinetics by ellipsometry (Figure 41).



Figure 41: Diffusion coefficient (D, $m^2 \cdot s^{-1}$) of surface active molecules in 3 mg.L⁻¹ solutions reconstituted with powders stored at 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

The diffusion coefficient D of surface active molecules from fresh powder (Ref) was of 1.02×10^{-10} m².s⁻¹. As expected, D was comparable to the values found in the literature for proteins, namely ranging between 0.7 and 1.0×10^{-10} m².s⁻¹ (De Feijter et al. 1978). Indeed, the WPI powder consisting of at least 90% protein, it is likely to be the proteins who govern the adsorption at the air/water interface. At 20°C, D appears to increase with storage time of up to 2.00×10^{-10} m².s⁻¹ after 9 months of storage despite the broad standard deviation. Similar behaviour was observed for powders stored 3 months at 40°C, at around which time the diffusion coefficient reached 1.44×10^{-10} m².s⁻¹. However, it is worth noting that the recorded changes were not significant in terms of standard deviations at temperatures below or equal to 40°C. At 60°C, D seemed to decrease with storage time going from 5.36×10^{-11} m m².s⁻¹ in the first month of storage to 2.94×10^{-11} m².s⁻¹ after 6 months.

The results obtained at 20 and 40°C can be explain by the level of lactosylation of the proteins being close to the maximum value measured (~30%). In the literature it has been reported that hydrophilic polysaccharides promote interfacial adsorption and dilatation of milk protein (Baeza et al. 2005; Hiller and Lorenzen 2010). Baeza et al. (2005) showed a cooperative behaviour between the hydrophilic polysaccharide and the protein leading to a significant increase of surface pressure of adsorbed films. At 60°C, the increase in molar mass of Maillard reaction products – aggregates formed in the dry state – is probably at the origin of the decrease in D. Contrary to small protein aggregates, larger aggregates, coming from an extent of the Maillard reaction, weren't able to adsorb at the air/water interface in the given time of the experiment as demonstrated by Rullier et al. (2008, 2009).

ADSORPTION BEHAVIOUR

The surface concentration at which $\pi \neq 0$ (Γ_0) and the amplitude of interactions at the interface (θ) for different powders samples are given in **Figure 42** and **Figure 43**, respectively.



Figure 42: The surface concentration at which $\pi \neq 0$ (Γ_0 , $mg.m^{-2}$) of surface active molecules $mg.L^{-1}$ solutions reconstituted with powders solve (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

For the fresh powder, Γ_0 was of 0.90 mg.m⁻². This value is close to those reported in the literature for protein and is between 1.04 and 1.17 mg.m⁻² (Razumovsky and Damodaran 1999). At 20 and 40°C, the values of Γ_0 were not affected by storage time for a period of up to 12 months. By contrast, no measure of Γ_0 was possible in the time of adsorption experiments for powders stored 6 months at 60°C.



Figure 43: The amplitude of molecular interactions (ϑ , mN.m.mg⁻¹) of surface active molecules mig.L⁻¹ solutions reconstituted with powders@@tqr@de), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time

The amplitude of molecular interactions (θ) at the interface between air and solution reconstituted from fresh powder was 16.18 mN.m.mg⁻¹, in agreement with those found in the literature for protein that are ranging from 16.1 to 19.9 mN.m.mg⁻¹ (Razumovsky and Damodaran 1999). This shows that the amplitude of the cohesive interactions was low in the early stages of adsorption for fresh powder. This happened to be similar for powders stored at 20 and 40°C, within the experimental error. At 60°C, the samples showed a decrease in θ after 3 months of storage which become non-measurable after 6 months storage.

Lactosylated proteins did not affect Γ_0 and θ as shown by the results of powders stored at 20°C for 12 months and at 40°C for a storage between 1 and 3 months. These results are consistent with Wierenga et al. (2009) who showed no difference in the interfacial properties of dry state glycated lysozyme. Moreover, powders stored for more than 3 months did not show any difference from the control sample while proteins had already started to aggregate in the dry state. The properties or the amount of aggregated proteins did not seem to be sufficient to modify Γ_0 and θ . However, results for powders stored 6 months at 60°C can be related to the previous paragraph showing no adsorption during the first times of adsorption. It is interesting to note that for shorter storage times, Γ_0 and θ were not affected or only slightly. With more than 65% aggregated proteins in the dry state, it looks like there were not enough proteins to adsorb at the air/water interface for powders stored 6 months

at 60°C, or that aggregated proteins were to slow to adsorb within the 3h experiments in accordance with the adsorption kinetics study.

To conclude and in combination with the results of the adsorption kinetics, there was no great change in the interfacial properties of WPI powders upon storage. As the literature reports that the interfacial properties can be modulated according to the degree of modification of the protein structures (Foegeding et al. 2002; Gauthier et al. 2001; Mackie et al. 1999), it can be concluded that the protein structure doesn't seem to be modified by lactosylation and that the extent of structural modifications, including protein denaturation and aggregation in the dry state, was too small to induce significant change in interfacial properties.

PART 5. ADDITIONAL RESULTS: EFFECT OF STORAGE ACCIDENT ON WHEY PROTEINS HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION PROPERTIES

3.5.1. EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY

To study the effect of one or more storage accidents on heat-induced aggregation properties, the same powders as described in Chapter 2 (cf. 2.6.2., p59) were considered. Specifically, the experimentations were carried out on samples that differed in the number of storage accident. We have chosen not to determine the heat induced aggregation properties of the samples that differed in the moment at which the storage accident was set as they didn't show significant difference on the structural properties of whey proteins in the WPI powders (cf. 2.6.3., p60-63).

The study of heat induced aggregation properties was the same as described above (cf. 3.2.1., p68), but only considering reconstitution pH 5.8 and 6.6.

3.5.2. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

It was seen in Chapter 2 that the number of storage accidents affected cumulatively structural changes, including aggregation and browning whose levels increased from the first storage accident. Moreover, it has been described above that the structural changes induced by storage had a significant impact on the heat-induced aggregation properties and especially through the products of degradation of lactosylated proteins (*e.g.* aggregates formed in the dry state).

Heat-induced aggregation of reconstituted WPI powders in milli-Q water was studied at pH 5.8 and 6.6 with the objective of studying the impact of storage accident on these properties.



Figure 44: Pictures of samples arranged in pairs per conditions; unheated (left side) and heat treated (right side) solutions

Solutions reconstituted with fresh WPI powder (Ref) and WPI powders having undergone one to three storage accidents were analysed visually before and after heat treatment (**Figure 44**). In the Ref samples, the solution after heat treatment appeared to be milky and a little less turbid at pH 6.6 than pH 5.8. Heat treated solutions of powders subjected to storage accidents became less and less turbid supposing the heat-induced aggregates became smaller with the number of storage accident. In order to verify this hypothesis, the heat-induced aggregate size was studied through DLS.

Figure 45 shows the evolution of heat-induced aggregate size as a function of the number of storage accidents after one hour of static heating of WPI solutions (4% w/w) adjusted to a given pH. The aggregate size of Ref was around 385 nm and 128 nm at pH 5.8 and 6.6, respectively. The average size of heat-induced aggregate decreased as a function of the number of storage accident, regardless of pH. This decrease was significant from the first storage accident. At pH 5.8 and 6.6, size decreased to 186 nm and 77 nm after the third storage accident, respectively.



Figure 45: Average aggregate sizes as a function of the number of storage accidents at pH 5.8 (empty square) and pH 6.6 (full square)

A parallel can be drawn with the results and discussion presented in the paragraph 3.3.2. as the same phenomena were observed for powders subjected to a given number of storage accidents. The more the powder was subjected to storage accidents, the more the heat-induced aggregation properties were impacted. This involved storage-induced structural changes including an increase in the aggregation in the dry state with the number of storage accidents, leading to a reduction of the heatinduced aggregate size. Therefore, the scheme presented in **Figure 38** is also relevant for cumulative storage accident.

PART 6. CONCLUSIONS

In this study, changes in functional properties of WPI powders stored at representative storage conditions of the current modes of delivery were monitored. The results showed that WPI powders stored at temperatures below or equal to 20°C were relatively stable from a functional point of view for up to 15 months' storage even though the protein were lactosylated. On another hand, the results highlighted an evolution of heat-induced aggregation properties of WPI with moderate storage conditions (40°C) and storage accidents. Heat-induced aggregates appeared to decrease in size with storage time and also to change in their shapes. Regarding the foaming properties, a storage at 40°C did not induced significant changes in foam stability or the interfacial properties. At 60°C, the foaming stability was slightly improved for powders of a_w 0.36 after 6 months of storage.

The structural changes studied in the previous chapter could explain the variability of functional properties in WPI powder. At 40°C, the powder got browner and protein started to aggregate in the

dry state, but these evolutions did not impact the foaming properties whereas it was of a great influence on the heat-induced aggregation properties. Moreover, a high level of structural change in the WPI – storage at 60° C – resulted in a better foam stability.

Control of storage conditions is thus a critical step to ensure all the expected final properties of WPI powders. However, it is not as crucial as for other high protein powders (*e.g.* micellar casein), as only colour and heat induced aggregation properties were shown to be affected, whereas solubility, foaming and interfacial properties were not significantly changed. In order to preserve the entire native powder properties over a long period, one should recommend storage at temperatures below or equal to 20°C. The future perspective of this work will be to study and confirm the key role of lactose in the changes in protein structure and functional properties during storage of WPI powders.

CHAPTER 4. IS THERE A SOLUTION TO OVERCOME THESE STORAGE-RELATED ALTERATIONS?

In Chapter 2 and 3, we showed that even though WPI powders are made of at least 90% protein in a dry matter and assumed stable state, changes still occurred affecting the functional properties. The purpose of this chapter was to evaluate potential solutions to overcome the issues caused by the storage under moderate conditions. The presence of remaining lactose seemed to play a key role in WPI powder ageing. Thus, a part of this study aimed to validate the effect of lactose on the ageinginduced changes of WPI powders through a varying lactose content in WP powders from a very high to a very low content. This would eventually help us to evaluate the current stability of the WPI powders among storage and to determine the lactose content threshold at which the changes in WPI powders were minimized. In this scope, four powders differing in their lactose content were stored at 40°C and 60°C for up to 3 months and sampled periodically. Lactose was found to affect the structural and functional properties during powder ageing. In the presence of a higher lactose content, proteins were lactosylated more rapidly which were then aggregated in the dry state, causing a transition from soluble aggregate forms to insoluble ones. These results highlighted the great contribution of the Maillard reaction during ageing of WPI powders. Reducing lactose content in the WPI powders seemed to extend their stability among storage. A part of these has been published in Journal of Food Engineering (Paper⁵).

Moreover, the effect of particle size has been investigated, as the surface composition is known to be a parameter that strongly affects dairy powders properties. However, our results showed that it didn't modify the extent and kinetics of changes of WPI powders among storage. It can't therefore be proposed as a relevant tool to control WPI powder ageing.

The aims of this chapter were to:

- *x* study the effect of particle size on WPI powder's changes upon storage
- x validate the effect of lactose on the ageing-induced changes of WPI powders
- x define the lactose content threshold at which the WPI powders ageing is limited

⁵ Published as Norwood EA, Pezennec S, Burgain J, Briard-Bion V, Schuck P, Croguennec T, Jeantet R, Le Floch-Fouéré C. (2017). Crucial role of remaining lactose in whey protein isolate powders during storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 195, 206–216. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.10.010.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 4. Is there a solution to overcome these storage-related alterations?	89
Part 1. Introduction	
Part 2. Experimental strategy	
4.2.1. WPI powders with different particle size	
4.2.2. Powders with different lactose content	
4.2.3. WP powders storage conditions	
4.2.4. Chemical & physical analysis	
4.2.5. Heat-induced aggregation properties	
Part 3. Study of the effect of powders particles size upon ageing	
4.3.1. Denaturation state	
4.3.2. Protein lactosylation	
4.3.3. Aggregation in the dry state	
4.3.4. Heat-induced aggregation properties	
4.3.5. Discussion	100
Part 4. Study of the crucial role of remaining lactose molecules on whey proteins p	owder ageing 101
4.4.1. Colour of stored powders	101
4.4.2. Denaturation profiles of powders with different lactose content	
4.4.3. Protein lactosylation	105
4.4.4. Conformational changes in protein structure	107
4.4.5. Aggregation in the dry state	113
4.4.6. Heat-induced aggregation properties	117
4.4.7. Discussion	120
Part 5. Conclusions	123
PART 1. INTRODUCTION

Several researches have shown that storage conditions affect the structural and functional properties of dairy powder (Anema et al. 2006; Fitzpatrick, Barry, et al. 2007; Gazi and Huppertz 2015). However, the link between these two properties remains to date relatively indirect: namely, it would be inherent to the initial state of the powder, including composition and physical properties, and on reactions and migrations occurring upon storage. As an example, Schokker et al. (2011) demonstrated that increasing the concentration of non-micellar caseins in micellar caseins concentrate before drying reduced the solubility loss after storage. On the other hand, Gaiani et al. (2009) showed that native micellar caseins powder storage induced lipids release through pores onto the surface, which is believed to have repercussions on powder functional properties. Lipids were found to accumulate preferentially at the surface of the particle even when they were stored at 20°C. Lactose is also a component known to modify the properties of dairy powders during long-term storage (Guyomarc'h et al. 2000; Yazdanpanah and Langrish 2013). We have demonstrated in Chapter 2 that whey proteins were lactosylated among storage and that they seemed to engender aggregation in the dry state through the Maillard reaction. These changes were also supposed to affect whey proteins functionalities such as heat-induced aggregation, as shown in Chapter 3. Our results are in accordance with those of Guyomarc'h et al. (2000) who showed an increase in protein lactosylation during storage of a skim milk powder and dependant on the storage conditions. In addition, an insoluble material was observed upon reconstitution, probably due to largely modified proteins by advanced lactosylation. Moreover, the study of Fyfe et al. (2011) suggested that this lactose, which is located within the particle of a non-aged powder, would migrate to the particle surface of MPC80 up to twice the initial concentration after 90 days of storage at 25°C. This evolution has to be considered as the presence of lactose at the particle surface is known to strongly influence the agglomeration (Nijdam and Langrish 2006) or the wettability of milk powders (Gaiani et al. 2006). It is also believed that physical properties of the powder such as the particle size play a non-negligible role in powders ageing. Indeed, Fitzpatrick, Barry, et al. (2007) stated that surface composition of the powder particle is essential regarding the powder ageing capacities. The more the fat there is at the particle surface, the more the powder cakes. Ultimately, the smaller the particles, the larger the overall particle surface area: in such conditions, the changes in properties should be greater.

The present study is based on the storage of WP powders with a high protein content, namely WPC80 and WPI powders. Obtained from whey or milk microfiltration/ultrafiltration, and then spray dried, WPC80 and WPI powders are thus essentially composed of proteins (in the range of 80% and 95% of the dry matter, respectively), with a reduced lactose content and almost free from fat (Gulzar, Bouhallab, Jeantet, et al. 2011; Vignolles et al. 2007). The presence of the lactose, albeit at low

concentration (< 2%) in WPI powders, is believed to have a strong effect on the ingredient stability during storage thanks to our previous work (Norwood, Chevallier, et al. 2016; Norwood, Le Floch-Fouéré, et al. 2016). Due to its high content of proteins and its close-to-neutral pH, WPI powder gathers ideal physicochemical conditions for the occurrence of the Maillard reaction. Indeed, lactose, as a reducing sugar, reacts with free amino groups of proteins, peptides, and free amino acids and can thus negatively influence powder properties altering the powder quality (loss of lysine residue, development of a brown colour, protein cross-linking, ...) (Van Boekel 1998). The role of remaining lactose in WP powders will thus be studied so as to relate its presence to the changes observed in the previous chapters, and this with different lactose content.

Besides, the effect of the particle size is also considered in order to evaluate the ability of this parameter in better controlling storage induced changes in the WPI powder. In the literature, it is shown that powder particle surface plays an important role in powders' properties and ageing (Gaiani et al. 2010). Indeed, as the particle surface area per mass fraction unit increases as particle size decreases, it provides a greater interface area for reaction/interaction to take place, potentially resulting in more structural and functional changes. As a consequence, the local changes that occurred on the WPI powder surface observed previously (Paper⁵) would increase. Moreover, when particle size decreases, more contact points between particles are available for inter-particle interactions (Scholl and Schmidt 2014). Consequently, modulating the particle size of WPI powders may be an interesting tool to control their structural and functional changes during storage.

Therefore, it seems essential to study the influence of the initial composition and the physical properties of WPI powders, respectively and namely the lactose content and the particle size, on the powder physico-chemical changes and the ageing mechanisms at the molecular level.

PART 2. EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY

All powders were obtained by spray drying a whey protein concentrate provided by a dairy company based in Brittany.

4.2.1. WPI POWDERS WITH DIFFERENT PARTICLE SIZE

Here, two complementary modalities assessing the impact of the drying method were studied (1. Particle size, 2. Production mode).

PRODUCTION

The non-granulated WPI powders with different particle size were all obtained from a protein concentrate (ultrafiltration / diafiltration of a skim milk microfiltrate) with a dry matter of 26.6%

(w/w). Three powders differing from their mean particle size (37, 62 and 74 μ m for WPI_{B37}, WPI_{B62}, WPI_{B74}, respectively; **Table 6**) were obtained from a three-stage spray drying pilot, Bionov (GEA, Niro Atomizer, Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines, France). In order to study the influence of the drying mode, a powder with a mean particle size of 37 μ m (WPI_{M37}; **Table 6**) was obtained from a pilot-scale MOBILE MINORTM spray-drier, MM-PSR type (GEA Niro A/S, Søeborg, Denmark), equipped with a two fluid spray nozzle. The following parameters were set in order to vary the particle size of the produced powder (**Table 6**).

	WPI _{B37}	WPI _{B62}	WPI _{B74}	WPI _{M37}
Drying scale / pilot	Bionov	Bionov	Bionov	Minor
Nozzle	69/17	72/21	65/21	Orifice diameter: 0.80 mm
Pressure (bar)	280	140	70	-
Flow (L.h- ¹)	103	100	100	3.2
Inlet temperature (°C)	169	165	177	247
Outlet temperature (°C)	61.3	61	65	68.5
Mean particle size (d0.5; µm)	37	62	74	37

Table 6: Parameters set used to produce the four powders of different particle size

COMPOSITION

As the four different powders came from the same protein concentrate, their composition is very similar (**Table 7**).

 Table 7: Composition of the four powders of different particle size

Dry matter (w/w %)	DM	≥ 93
Water activity	a _w	0.27
Nitrogen composition	TN	≥ 88
(% N × 6.38)	NPN	≥ 0.2
	NCN	≥ 74
Carbohydrates (w/w %)	Lactose	1.4

4.2.2. POWDERS WITH DIFFERENT LACTOSE CONTENT

PRODUCTION

The WP powders with different lactose content were all obtained from a protein concentrate (ultrafiltration / diafiltration of a skim milk microfiltrate) with a dry matter of \geq 24% (w/w). Four

powders differing from their lactose content (16, 2.6, 1.2 and 0.1% for WPC, WPI^[+], WPI (control) and WPI^[-], respectively; **Table 8**) were obtained by spray drying. The WPI^[+] and WPI^[-] were obtained by diafiltration of the WPC and WPI liquid protein concentrates, respectively, in order to remove the lactose surplus. For this purpose, an ultrafiltration pilot (Carbosep TECH-SEP, Rhône-Poulenc, France) equipped with dual ceramic membranes (Tami Industries, Nyons, France) with a total membrane surface area of 13.3 m² and a molecular weight cut off of 10 kDa was used. The flow rate of the retentate was set at 40 L.h⁻¹. A diafiltration at 1.9 and 3 volumes was carried out on WPC and WPI liquid concentrate, respectively, with a salt solution to keep the soluble fraction of minerals constant. The composition of the salt solution was determined by quantifying the soluble fraction of minerals of a WPI (Control) reconstituted at the protein concentration of the retentate subjected to diafiltration. The WPI^[+] and WPI^[-] diafiltered retentates had a dry matter of 16.2 and 20.9% (w/w). After drying, the four powders were packed under air in airtight tins of 400 g capacity.

COMPOSITION

Table 8 provides the chemical composition of the four powders differing in their lactose content.

		WPC	WPI ^[+]	WPI	WPI ^[-]
DM (w/w %)	DM	94.7	92.4	92.9	92.7
Water activity	a _w	0.33	0.36	0.25	0.27
Nitrogen	TN	74.4	86.9	88.6	89.5
$(\% N \times 6.38)$	NPN	0.85	0.28	0.19	0.21
(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	NCN	69.6	80.7	84.6	84.7
Mineral	Na⁺	0.226	0.155	0.173	0.103
(w/w %)	K ⁺	0.818	0.508	0.270	0.179
	Ca ²⁺	0.297	0.260	0.414	0.389
	Mg ²⁺	0.063	0.045	0.055	0.05
	CI	0.231	0.019	0.008	0.007
	PO4 ³⁻	0.31	0.127	0.025	0.05
	Citrate	0.491	0.119	0.033	0.034
Carbohydrates (w/w %)	Lactose	16.2	2.6	1.2	0.1

Table 8: Composition of the powders with different lactose content

4.2.3. WP POWDERS STORAGE CONDITIONS

WP powder tins were stored in heat chambers at 4 (control powder), 40 and 60°C for periods of up to 3 months. After 1, 2 and 3 months of storage, 1 tin per temperature condition was opened in order to analyse the structural and functional properties of the powders.

4.2.4. CHEMICAL & PHYSICAL ANALYSIS

Chemical and physical analysis were the same as described in Chapter 2, Part 2. Additionally, the protein secondary structure in the dry state was monitored by FTIR measurements using a Bruker Tensor 27 instrument (Bruker Optics, Marne La Vallée, France). It was equipped with a mercury/cadmium telluride detector cooled with liquid nitrogen and used in the Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) mode using a single-reflection Ge crystal in a MIRacle accessory (Pike Technologies, Madison, WI, USA). Spectra were recorded in the region 850–4000 cm⁻¹ at a 4 cm⁻¹ resolution at room temperature taking the spectrum of blank diamond as the background. Spectra were corrected automatically for water vapour contributions using the dedicated routine of the OPUS 6.5 software (Bruker Optics, Marne La Vallée, France), and truncated to 1200–1900 cm⁻¹, which covers the typical amide bands, and normalised with the extended multiplicative scatter correction (Martens et al. 2003). Briefly, each spectrum is expressed as a linear combination of a reference spectrum and 'contaminant' spectra. The linear combination coefficients are computed by linear regression, and spectra are corrected for 'contaminations' weighed by the corresponding coefficients. The terms used in the regression were the mean spectrum (reference spectrum), the liquid water spectrum and linear and quadratic functions of the wave number ('contaminant' spectra). This procedure allows correcting each spectrum for variability in overall intensity, variability due to the liquid water signal (hence, to total protein concentration) and to the baseline changes.

A principal component analysis (PCA) was performed on spectra from fresh and stored WP powders. The general principles of this multivariate statistical technique have already been described in the literature (Abdi and Williams 2010; Jolliffe 2014; Wold et al. 1987). PCA is used to summarise a data set consisting in a numerical (continuous) *variables* × *individuals* table. Based on the correlations between variables in the table, PCA computes an ordered, orthogonal set of 'new' variables, called principal components, which are linear combinations of the *n* original variables, in such a way that whatever $m, 1 \le m \le n$, the scores of individuals on the first *m* principal components have the highest possible total variance, among all possible sets of linear combinations. In other words, PCA enables the projection of an *n*-dimensional data set onto a new *p*-dimensional coordinate system (p < n), while keeping the most part of the original 'information' content. The output of PCA therefore are

i) coefficients of the linear combination for every principal component; in the general case, correlations between the principal components and original variables are represented graphically on a correlation circle, and ii) the scores (or coordinates) of individuals in the new coordinate system, which are used to plot individuals similarity maps. In the case of spectral data, the original variables are the absorbances or intensities measured at each wavelength of wavenumber (variable *i* is the set of values measured for all spectra at the *i*-th wavelength). All the variables are expressed using the same unit, and differences in variance do have a physical meaning: scaling to unit variance is therefore not applied to spectral data. Being linear combinations of the original variables, principal components are homologous to spectra, and can be represented as such. Statistical analysis were done using the R package (R 2.9.2. Foundation for Statistical Computing) as an open source statistical computing environment.

4.2.5. HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION PROPERTIES

Heat treatment after rehydration and heat-induced aggregation analysis were the same as described in Chapter 3, Part 2. The heat treatment after rehydration was performed only at pH 6.6.

PART 3. STUDY OF THE EFFECT OF POWDERS PARTICLES SIZE UPON AGEING

4.3.1. DENATURATION STATE

Denaturation state analysis of WPI proteins after three months storage at 40°C and 60°C were studied using reverse phase HPLC and are shown in **Figure 46**, A and B, respectively.

The reduction in the area of the native form peaks represented in grey in **Figure 46**, A and B, and the modification of the elution time showed that after 3 months of storage non-native proteins are formed for all powders at both 40 and 60°C. However, no difference in the type of changes or in the ageing kinetics was observed between the four powders.



Figure 46: RP-Phase profiles of WPI powders at t_0 (grey solid line) and WPI_{B37} (black solid line), WPI_{B62} (black longdashed line triangle), WPI_{B74} (black dashed line) and WPI_{M37} (black dotted line) stored 3 months at A) 40°C and at B) 60°C

4.3.2. PROTEIN LACTOSYLATION





Figure 47: Evolution of t -LG lactosylation for WPI_{B37} (circle), WPI_{B62} (triangle), WPI_{B74} (square) and WPI_{M37} (solid circle) stored at 40°C as a function of storage time

The level of lactosylation reached values around 26.5% and 23% after 1 month and both 2 and 3 months respectively whatever the size of the particle. Consequently, all the points in **Figure 47** were superimposed or in the experimental error range, showing that the particle size did not have a significant effect regarding the level of lactosylation.

4.3.3. AGGREGATION IN THE DRY STATE

As in Chapter 2, the amount of aggregated proteins in the four powders stored at 40°C (Figure 48, A) and at 60°C (Figure 48, B) was determined using GPC-HPLC.



Figure 48: Amount of aggregated proteins for WPI_{B37} (circle), WPI_{B62} (triangle), WPI_{B74} (square) and WPI_{M37} (solid circle) stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time

The amount of aggregated proteins reached around 10% and 50% after 3 months storage at 40°C and 60°C, respectively, for all the powders. Thus, the results did not show significant changes between the four powders indicating that all the powders were ageing at the same rate regardless of the particle size.

4.3.4. HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION PROPERTIES

The aggregate sizes of all controls were around 395 \pm 10 nm, 379 \pm 39 nm, 378 \pm 20 nm and 374 \pm 23 nm for WPI_{B37}, WPI_{B62}, WPI_{B74} and WPI_{M37}, respectively. Heat-induced aggregation properties did not

differ from one powder to another after 2 months of storage. Heat-induced aggregate size decreased as a function of storage time regardless of the particle size. For WPI_{B37}, WPI_{B62}, WPI_{B74} and WPI_{M37} powders stored at 40°C, particle size decreased to 281 ± 7 nm, 258 ± 27 nm, 258 ± 14 nm and 254 ± 16 nm after 2 months, respectively. At 60°C, size decreased to 119 ± 3 nm, 129 ± 13 nm, 111 ± 6 and 108 ± 7 nm after 2 months for WPI_{B37}, WPI_{B62}, WPI_{B74} and WPI_{M37}, respectively.

The similar evolution of heat-induced aggregation properties for the four powders was not surprising. Indeed, all powders had very alike structural evolutions in terms of protein lactosylation and aggregation in the dry state, which are believed to play a significant role in the modifications of heatinduced aggregation properties.

4.3.5. DISCUSSION

As the study of Burgain et al. (2016) showed very interesting results by monitoring the changes on the particle surface, our first assumption was that changes were located on the particle surface making the particle size an important parameter to take into account. Indeed, particle size rules the extent of the reaction and/or interactions that may occur at the particle surface upon storage. However the present study refuted this hypothesis as no structural and no functional differences were observed for the four powders differing in their particle size upon storage. This could result of whether the Maillard reaction starting in the core of the particle and not on the particle surface or less likely of the component distribution within the particle.

Considering dairy powders particle composition, results differ from one powder type to another. Given the components properties (*e.g.* surface activity), their distribution into the particle occurs during the drying process resulting in heterogeneity between the particle surface concentration and the core concentration (Briggs 1994; (E. H.-J. Kim et al. 2002; Nijdam and Langrish 2006). Indeed, both protein and fat accumulate at the particle surface during spraying and drying, whereas lactose content is reported to be higher in the core of the particle (Nijdam and Langrish 2006). Proteins and moreover fat being surface active components adsorb preferentially to the droplet air / water interface during spray drying and thus appeared on the powder surface after drying (Fäldt 1995). Therefore, all dairy powders do not have the same component distribution in the particle due to variation in their bulk composition. As an example, powder particles of WMP and SMP have not the same surface composition: WMP is mainly covered with fat followed by lactose then proteins whereas SMP is mainly covered with proteins and a little lactose (Murrieta-Pazos et al. 2012). For high protein dairy powders, a different trend is observed as fat is only present at trace levels (micellar casein powders) or not present at all (whey protein isolate powders) due to skimming and filtration operations. Regarding

native micellar caseins, lipids and proteins are mainly located at the particle surface whereas lactose is located in the core of the particle for (Gaiani et al. 2010).

Our study is based on WPI powders, which is composed of at least 90% of proteins, small amounts of lactose and minerals and no fat. This results in a limited component segregation due to a low amount of lactose and minerals beside the whey proteins content. Thus protein should be located at a higher amount at the surface particle, and conversely lactose in the core of the particle. Our results showed that for a given bulk composition, lactosylation and changes occurring during ageing weren't affected by particle size and in turn didn't affect the overall particle surface area. This could be due to limiting lactose concentration at the particle surface to induce Maillard reaction. If so, the Maillard reaction would likely start in the core of the particle and then progress through a series of reactions toward the particle surface. This made it visible and quantifiable by ToF-SIMS afterwards (cf. 2.3.4., p46-47). In this view, the particle surface would not be the starting point of the Maillard reaction but only an indicator of its extent. This is in agreement with the same rates of structural and functional changes observed for the four powders differing in their particle size. Another hypothesis would be that the component distribution is more homogeneous in the particle due to concentrate high viscosity and spray drying conditions. It is known that high feed solid content and spray drying kinetics greatly affect the component distribution within the particle, this latter being reduced at high viscosity and high drying kinetics (E. H.-J. Kim et al. 2009b). The viscosity of our whey concentrate before drying was high thus decreasing the mobility of the components and resulting in a rather homogenous composition of our particle. This would lead to a relative homogenous spread of the Maillard reaction in the whole particle and as a consequence, explain why the four powders, although differing in their particle size, showed no difference upon ageing.

The results also showed that the WPI production mode (Minor vs Bionov) had no effect on powder ageing as WPI_{M37} and WPI_{B37} aged at the same rate. This means that there is no influence between the spray drying modes regarding the component distribution in the particle. This result is of interest for further powder research as spray drying at lower scale (Minor) is easier to implement.

PART 4. STUDY OF THE CRUCIAL ROLE OF REMAINING LACTOSE MOLECULES ON WHEY PROTEINS POWDER AGEING

4.4.1. COLOUR OF STORED POWDERS

The development of a brown colour is one of the characteristic changes of powders ageing caused by the Maillard reaction. According to a visual analysis (**Figure 49**), the colour development is more flagrant for powders stored at 60°C than at 40°C.

Chapter 4



Figure 49: Images of Ref powder and WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] stored for 1 and 3 months at 40°C; and stored for 1 week to 3 months at 60°C

No significant evolution was observed after 1 month at 40°C. After 3 months, WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI seemed to have a little more browning increase compared to WPI^[-]. For a storage at 60°C, the WPC powder developed a brown colour only after one week, which increased drastically among storage time reaching a dark brown colour. In the meantime, the WPC powder evolved in part as blocks, a result from caking possibly due to the progress of the Maillard reaction. This phenomenon was less obvious for the 3 other powders. WPI^[+] and WPI powders appeared yellower compared to the Ref during storage but not that different between each other. Finally, the colour of the WPI^[-] powder didn't seem to evolve at all among 3 months of storage.

In order to validate these observations, the Browning Index has been calculated for all powder samples stored at 40°C and 60°C (**Figure 50**, A and B, respectively).



Figure 50: Evolution of Browning Index for WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time

The calculation of the Browning Index confirmed our previous observations. At 40°C (**Figure 50**, A), the BI of WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI powders evolved at a same rate reaching a value around 25 (AU) after 3 months of storage. At 60°C, the BI increased faster reaching different values for WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI powders (**Figure 50**, B). WPC powder had the higher BI followed by the WPI^[+] and WPI powders with values of 100, 63 and 45, respectively. The colour of the WPI^[-] powder was unchanged during the same storage period at 40°C and 60°C and remained stable around 16.8.

The storage temperature and lactose content are preponderant factors affecting powder colour. Indeed, the higher the storage temperature, the browner the powders. Furthermore, the lactose content has a significant effect as soon as the amount is as low as 1.2% in the powder.

4.4.2. DENATURATION PROFILES OF POWDERS WITH DIFFERENT LACTOSE CONTENT

RP-HPLC profiles of 3 months stored powders of WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] are compared with the one of WPI powder at t_0 (**Figure 51**).



Figure 51: *RP-HPLC profiles of WPI powders at* t_o (grey, solid line) and WPC (black, long-dashed line), WPI^[+] (black, dotted line), WPI (black, solid line) and WPI^[-] (black, dashed line) stored 3 months at A) 40°C and B) 60°C

At t_0 , the native proteins peaks of α -LA and the two variants β -LG B and A were eluted at 18 min, 31 and 32 minutes with the gradients used in this study, respectively. Any difference with the RP-HPLC profile of the WPI at t_0 is indicative of the denaturation and/or aggregation of the native proteins (α -LA and β -LG) during storage. RP-HPLC profiles of WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] samples stored 3 months at 40°C showed that the reduction the native peaks forms was correlated to the lactose content in the powders (**Figure 51**, A). Furthermore, the presence of molecular species with shorter elution times in the RP-HPLC of WPC indicated the presence of more hydrophilic species. The 3 other powders only showed a shoulder, that could indicate that a lesser amount of hydrophilic species was formed. This increase in hydrophilicity is likely to be due to protein lactosylation during storage (Mulsow et al. 2008).

After powder storage at 60°C, the RP-HPLC profiles exhibit more drastic changes (**Figure 51**, B). After 3 months of storage at 60°C, the elution profile of WPC was completely flat meaning that the proteins did not go through the column. Indeed, during powders reconstitution in milli-Q water prior to the RP-HPLC analysis, an insoluble fraction was formed from two weeks of storage at 60°C. The RP-HPLC profile of WPI^[+] was very similar to the one of WPC. In contrast, the RP-HPLC profile of WPI^[-] still showed a large amount of native proteins after 3 months of storage at 60°C. However, it is worth noting that a shoulder appeared on the right hand side of α -LA peak (**Figure 51**, B). Similar modification has been reported to be typical of α -LA cyclisation by Gulzar et al. (2013). This was probably due to a lower competitiveness between reactions occurring in the powder with low lactose content among ageing resulting in a higher level of α -LA cyclisation. As expected, WPI has intermediate behaviour between WPI^[+] and WPI^[-].

In the presence of a higher lactose content, proteins were rapidly affected for storage at 40°C, including protein denaturation/aggregation and the formation of more hydrophilic forms. For more severe storage conditions (60°C), the rapid formation of an insoluble fraction was observed. This looks like coming from an advanced stage of the Maillard reaction.

4.4.3. PROTEIN LACTOSYLATION

The level of protein lactosylation was determined using liquid chromatography combined with mass spectrometry. The freshly prepared powders had already some lactosylated proteins that probably appeared during spray drying and prior processing steps. As indicated in Chapter 2, we focused on the lactosylation of β -IG as the detection of α -LA lactosylation became difficult with storage time.

The level of protein lactosylation in fresh powders was of 16.5%, 12.3%, 3.8% and 2.5% for WPC, WPI ^[+], WPI and WPI ^[-], respectively. The fractions of lactosylated E-LG among storage are shown in **Figure 52**.



Figure 52: Evolution of lactosylation of β -LG (in % in regards to the native form) for WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time. The fraction of lactosylated β -LG in WPC and WPI^[+] powders at t₀ is also indicated

For the WPC and WPI^[+] samples, the level of protein lactosylation was undetectable after only a week of storage. This means that the Maillard reaction progressed rapidly in these powders. Regarding the

WPI powders stored at 40°C (**Figure 52**, A), a maximum fraction of lactosylated E-LG of 26% was reached after one month of storage and then remained stable in accordance with the results presented in Chapter 2. At 60°C, this fraction reached 12% after 15 days of storage and then decreased to no longer be detectable after 3 months of storage. A different evolution was observed for the WPI ^[-] powder. The proportion of lactosylated proteins remained almost stable over 3 months of storage at 40°C (2 < 6%) while at 60°C, it rapidly decreased from the first month of storage. It can be assumed that lactose molecules reacted with proteins and due to their low amount in the powder, they rapidly became the limiting factor. The lactosylated proteins were then consumed resulting in a decrease in their proportion among storage at 60°C. Indeed, 0.1% w/w of lactose in the WPI ^[-] corresponds to a lactose/protein molar ratio of 0.06. This means that a theoretical maximum of 6% of lactosylated proteins could be formed in this powder, which is in agreement with the results showed in **Figure 52**.

4.4.4. CONFORMATIONAL CHANGES IN PROTEIN STRUCTURE

Protein structures of the aged and non-aged WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] powders were studied by FTIR and the spectra region between 1200 and 1900 cm⁻¹ was analysed by PCA. The reviewing of the latter region is relevant for this aim as it gathers the Amide I, II and III bands (Barth 2007; Dufour and Robert 2000). The Amide I band is located around 1650 cm⁻¹ and arises mainly from the C=O stretching vibration. The Amide II band is located around 1550 cm⁻¹ and comes from the combination of the NH in plane bend and the CN stretching vibration. The Amide III band is located around 1550 cm⁻¹ and comes from the combination ¹, results mainly from the NH bending.

The PCA gathers 44 individuals differing in their lactose content (WPC, WPI^[+], WPI, WPI^[-]), their storage time and their storage temperature. The principal components are represented as spectral patterns. Besides, the factorial map gathers the individuals' projection following their similarities and the quality of their projection is defined by their size. The poorer the projection, the smaller the symbols will be.

According to FTIR analysis, proteins in the four powders showed only slight modifications of the secondary structure, as all spectra were more or less superimposed on each other (Figure 53).

Chapter 4



Figure 53: All spectra of the WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] powders as Ref or stored at 40°C and 60°C up to 3 months

The factorial map gathers about 83% of the total inertia (**Figure 54**; projection of individuals), including PC1 that explains half of the total variability. This result is satisfying considering the number of individuals and variables.



Figure 54: PC1–PC2 factorial map of the samples characterised by FTIR analysis in the region of amide I and II bands of WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders for Ref (black symbols) and stored at 40°C (blue symbols) and 60°C (orange symbols); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time

Figure 54 shows the individuals' projection on the factorial map following their similarities. It includes the proportion of variance for PC1 and PC2 that are 47.2% and 35.4%, respectively, the individuals' projection quality and the scores of each samples on PC1 and PC2.

On the factorial map, the individuals' projection are satisfying. Moreover, it appears that the scores on PC1 seemed to increase as the lactose content increased. WPI ^[-] and WPI had negative scores on PC1 whereas WPC had high positive scores. PC1 was thus independent of powders storage time. The differences in PC1 were not due to the contribution of free lactose in the powders as the IR signatures were out of the 1900 cm⁻¹ to 1200 cm⁻¹ wavenumbers range (W.-Q. Wang et al. 2013). The scores on PC2 seemed to increase with the increasing storage temperature and time.

Figure 55 shows the mean spectrum and the spectral patterns of PC1 and PC2. They indicate, by their intensity, the wavenumber at which the individuals differ. Spectral pattern of PC1 (or PC2) can be interpreted in two ways: i) peaks are correlated (negative peak at 1501 cm⁻¹ is correlated to the positive peak at 1547 cm⁻¹) and ii) for a positive peak on PC1 (or PC2), the higher the scores on PC1 (**Figure 54**), the higher the peak intensity will be.



Figure 55: The mean spectrum (black) and the spectral pattern of PC1 (dotted line) and PC2 (dashed line) weighed by their standard deviations; some particular wavelengths on PC1 and PC2 are indicated on the curves

Regarding the spectral pattern of PC1, a positive peak at 1547 cm⁻¹ and a negative peak at 1501 cm⁻¹ reflect a great shift of the Amide II band towards higher frequencies for powders with a higher lactose content. This may be due to the presence of additional hydrogen bonding, which increased the bending vibrations frequency of H-C-N by producing an additional restoring force (Barth 2007).

Moreover, a positive peak was observed at 1655 cm⁻¹, which is attributed to a greater content of α helices (Oboroceanu et al. 2010). This is in agreement with the shift previously mentioned in samples with high PC1 scores. A negative peak on PC1 at 1695 cm⁻¹ was assigned to the protonation of the Arginine amino acid as reported by Barth (2007), reflecting a decrease in pH. The spectral pattern of PC2 was characterized by 3 positive peaks at 1717, 1533 and 1630 cm⁻¹, and 2 negative peaks at 1580 and 1398 cm⁻¹. It is stated in the literature that the protonation of the carboxylate group results in a displacement of the absorption band around 1715 cm⁻¹ corresponding to the stretching vibration of C=O (Dufour and Robert 2000) and a concomitant decrease of the bands 1580 $\rm cm^{-1}$ and 1402 $\rm cm^{-1}$ corresponding to the asymmetric and symmetric stretching vibration of the COO⁻ group, respectively (Dufour and Robert 2000; Barth 2007). Hence, the most discriminating positive peak on PC2 at 1717 cm⁻¹ and the two negative peaks at 1580 cm⁻¹ and 1398 cm⁻¹ could be linked to the acidification of the medium due to Maillard reaction (Beck et al. 1990; Martins et al. 2000). Previous studies on whey protein denaturation assigned the 1630 cm⁻¹ band to a loss of the secondary structure of the protein (Oboroceanu et al. 2010) and also to antiparallel β -sheets (Dufour and Robert 2000; Boye et al. 1996; Kher et al. 2007) that are strongly bonded (Kehoe et al. 2008). Moreover, the last positive peak of PC2 at 1533 cm⁻¹ also refers to β -sheets (Dufour and Robert 2000). This means that the samples with higher PC2 scores were more aggregated.

In summary, the presence of lactose seems to have a stabilizing effect on the protein structure through a higher content of α -helices and β -sheets as PC1 was correlated with the bulk lactose content. From previous studies on the role of co-solute during drying or whey protein heat-induced aggregation, the lactose appeared to act as a hydrophilic protective agent toward whey proteins (Baier and McClements 2001; Chanasattru et al. 2007; Sun et al. 2011; Vignolles et al. 2009; W. Wang and Zhong 2014). The presence of sugar would cause protein molecules to fold more tightly with higher level of H-bonding (Baier and McClements 2001; Parsegian et al. 1995) in accordance with our results. On the other hand, a 3-order interaction between lactose content, storage time and temperature is suggested on PC2. The higher this interaction, the lower the pH and the higher the β -sheets content. This is associated to the extent of the Maillard reaction generating acid molecules (Beck et al. 1990; Martins et al. 2000) and reactive molecules for protein crosslinking (Norwood, Chevallier, et al. 2016).

However, the minor structural modifications of WPI^[-] seemed to be hidden by the WPC influence on the spectral PCA. Thus, it was chosen to perform another spectral PCA on the sole WPI and WPI^[-] powders so as to evaluate the effect of reducing the level of lactose on the 3-months ageing of WPI powders (**Figure 56**, **Figure 57** and **Figure 58**).

Chapter 4



Figure 56: All spectra of the WPI and WPI^[-] powders as Ref or stored at 40°C and 60°C up to 3 months



Figure 57: The mean spectrum (black) and the spectral pattern of PC1 (dotted line) and PC2 (dashed line) weighed by their standard deviations; some particular wavelengths on PC1 and PC2 are indicated on the curves



Figure 58: PC1–PC2 factorial map of the samples characterised by FTIR analysis in the region of amide I and II bands of WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders for Ref (black symbols) and stored at 40°C (blue symbols) and 60°C (orange symbols); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time

The proportion of variance of PC1 and PC2 are 45.3% and 24.4%, respectively. From this analysis, it is worth noting that the differences between samples consisted in only very minor modifications of absorbance as all the spectra appeared superimposed (Figure 56). Graphically, the mixing up of all samples makes only PC1 relevant to discriminate WPI^[-] and WPI powders. On the factorial map (Figure 58), it appeared that the scores on PC1 slightly increased as the lactose content in the powders decreased. WPI^[-] and WPI had positive and negative scores, respectively. A positive peak was observed on PC1 at 1628 cm⁻¹ (Figure 57), meaning that high scores on PC1 corresponded to a greater amount of β -sheets. In the fresh WPI ^[-] powder, it can be hypothesized that proteins are more aggregated than in the fresh WPI powder and this through intermolecular β -sheets even though it is located at higher frequencies than those found in the literature. This would only confirms that the higher the lactose content, the more stable the protein structures against aggregation. Regarding the samples distribution on the other principal components, it is hard to attribute the difference induced by the storage conditions even if the FTIR method still showed small changes. However, and as it has been said previously, the changes between WPI^[-] and WPI were very small, and FTIR might not be the most accurate method to investigate such tiny changes in protein structure (Desfougères, Jardin, et al. 2011).

4.4.5. AGGREGATION IN THE DRY STATE

QUANTIFICATION OF AGGREGATED PROTEINS

Figure 59 shows the evolution in the amount of aggregated proteins in the 4 powders during 3 months storage at 40°C and 60°C (**Figure 59**, A and B, respectively).



Figure 59: Amount of aggregated proteins for WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time

The gel permeation chromatography was used to determine the protein aggregation rates in the 4 powders as a function of storage time by difference with samples at t_0 . First, the results for powders

stored at 40°C showed that the process of aggregation was delayed in the WPC powder. This can be related to the protective effect of the high lactose content against whey proteins aggregation discussed in the previous paragraph.

The amount of aggregated proteins was not different for WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI after 3 months of storage at 40°C and reached $11 \pm 2\%$, $13 \pm 3\%$ and $13 \pm 1\%$, respectively, whereas it reached $6 \pm 1\%$ for the WPI^[-] powder. Considering a 3 months storage at 60°C, this amount increased with lactose content and reached 100 ± 20%, 87 ± 17%, 48 ± 1% and 29 ± 1% for WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-], respectively.

These results are in agreement with the findings of the RP-HPLC and FTIR analysis showing first a decrease in the amount of native proteins and a greater β -sheets content with higher storage time, temperature, and lactose content. Except WPI^[-], it is likely that the effect of lactose content starts to make a difference in the ageing of WP powders after 3 months of storage at 40°C. The former is indeed significantly different from the 3 others, whereas WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI are not significantly different from each other. At 60°C, apart from the WPC sample presenting an insoluble material, the other WPI samples (WPI^[+], WPI, WPI^[-]) were made of soluble aggregates. However, this study does not distinguish the soluble and insoluble aggregates. Therefore, both are included in the **Figure 59**. Nevertheless, the evolution of aggregated proteins is correlated with lactose content in WP powders. Lactose is playing a significant role on protein aggregation during powder ageing. The formation of the insoluble fraction in WPC is probably due to the Maillard induced protein polymerization (Le, Holland, et al. 2013; Serpen et al. 2007).

CHARACTERIZATION OF AGGREGATED PROTEINS

In order to observe possible differences in protein aggregation depending on storage conditions, SDS-PAGE were performed with the 4 WP powders stored for up to 3 months at 40°C and 60°C (**Figure 60**, **Figure 61** and **Figure 62**, **Figure 63**, respectively).

At 40°C, very slight or nil differences were observed regarding the aggregation state after 3 months of storage, which confirmed the results obtained above in GPC-HPLC. However, regarding the WPC powder after one month of storage, the bands of monomeric α -LA and β -LG (around 14 kDa and 18 kDa, respectively) seemed to evolve towards a higher molecular weight. This can be related to the observations of the RP-HPLC profiles (**Figure 51**), in which more hydrophilic species were supposed to be formed in place of native proteins, probably thanks to lactose molecule binding. These entities were not quantifiable in mass spectrometry, meaning that changes other than protein lactosylation also occurred in the dry state. The shift is only visible in the WPC as the lactose is in greater quantities

compared to the 3 other powders. In addition, mainly disulphide bound aggregates were also formed. It is interesting to note that these molecular species remain soluble among storage at 40°C, in accordance with the study of Hsu and Fennema (1989).



Figure 60: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPC (1,2,3) and WPI^[+] (4,5,6) powders at 40°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_{W} , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 month; 3, 3 months; 4, Ref; 5, 1 month; 6, 3 months



Figure 61: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPI (1,2,3) and WPI^[-] (4,5,6) powders at 40°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_W , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 month; 3, 3 months; 4, Ref; 5, 1 month; 6, 3 months

At 60°C, long dark smears were observed on the gels from the first week of storage of the powders that were assigned to aggregates in accordance with the GPC-HPLC results. Moreover, they were mainly linked by covalent bonds. Disulphide bridges formed part of these, which were dissociated by DTT under reducing conditions. The other part was made of a different type of covalent bonding. During storage, the aggregates increased in size, as highlighted in the wells after two weeks storage for the WPC and much later for the WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-]. In addition, after one month of storage at 60°C, the aggregates of WPC became insoluble and are covalently bonded with a large number of bonds other than disulphide bridges. Lower lactose content in the powder delayed protein aggregation during powder ageing. These results are in agreement with those previously showed.



Figure 62: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPC (1,2,3,4) and WPI^[+] (5,6,7,8) powders at 60°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_W , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 week; 3, 2 weeks; 4, 1 month; 5, Ref; 6, 1 week; 7, 2 weeks; 8, 1 month



Figure 63: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPI (1,2,3,4,5) and WPI^[-] (6,7,8,9) powders at 60°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_{W} , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 2 weeks; 3, 1 month; 4, 2 months; 5, 3 months; 6, 2 weeks; 7, 1 month; 8, 2 months; 9, 3 months

These results indicated that, during WPI powder ageing, the presence of lactose accelerated protein polymerization. Protein in the aggregates were linked by disulphide bridges and by other types of covalent bond. In presence of lactose in adequate amount (around 16%), these aggregates became insoluble and their kinetics of formation was function of the severity of the storage conditions and the lactose content in the powders.

4.4.6. HEAT-INDUCED AGGREGATION PROPERTIES

The heat-induced aggregation properties of reconstituted WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] powders were studied at pH 6.6, according to the operating mode used in Chapter 3, Part 3. Reconstituted solutions of fresh WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] powders (Ref) and of these same powders stored for up to 3 months were analysed visually before and after heat treatment at pH 6.6 (**Figure 64**).



Figure 64: Pictures of samples arranged in pairs per conditions; unheated (left side) and heat treated (right side) solutions

The solutions made of the Ref samples were milky after heat treatment. They were a little less turbid for the WPC, WPI^[+] powders than for WPI, WPI^[-] powders. This difference was assigned to powder

composition as small molecules such as lactose and salts are known to affect whey protein heatinduced aggregation properties (Kulmyrzaev et al. 2000; Phan-Xuan et al. 2013, 2014; Schmitt et al. 2011; Vignolles et al. 2009; W. Wang and Zhong 2014). Heat treated solutions of stored WPC, WPI^[+] and WPI powders became less and less turbid with ageing time. The turbidity decreased much faster for the WPC powder, followed by WPI^[+] and WPI. In contrast, the solution of fresh and stored WPI^[-] did not seem to change at all. In order to go further in the characterization of heat-induced solutions, the size of heat-induced aggregates was studied through DLS.



Figure 65: Average aggregate sizes as a function of storage time for WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C after heat treatment at pH 6.6, with experimental relative error < 5%

Figure 65 shows the evolution of heat-induced aggregate size as a function of powder storage time and temperature of heat treated solutions of WPC, WPI ^[+], WPI and WPI ^[-] powders adjusted to pH 6.6. The aggregate size of Ref was around 133 ± 1.56 nm, 131 ± 3.05 nm, 215 ± 4.99 nm and 188 ± 4.19 nm for WPC, WPI ^[+], WPI and WPI ^[-], respectively. Whey powders stored at 40°C showed small decrease in the heat-induced aggregate size (**Figure 65**, A). However, a study on longer storage time at 40°C would be necessary in order to compare the kinetics of decrease in the heat-induced aggregate size even though the WPI ^[-] powders (**Figure 65**, B). For solutions of WPI and WPI ^[-] powders, aggregate size decreased to 84 nm and 34 nm after 3 months, respectively. Moreover, the reduction of heat-induced aggregate size was lower for WPI ^[+] than WPI, meaning that a reduction in the lactose content would prevent the decrease in the heat-induced aggregate size. Different results were obtained for solutions of WPC and WPI ^[+] powders. The DLS analysis showed poly-dispersed aggregate size. These results demonstrated that lactose content greatly impacted protein heat-induced aggregation properties.

4.4.7. DISCUSSION

From Chapter 2, it has been demonstrated that the level of lactosylated proteins increased from the first months of storage reaching a maximum, then decreased to an undetectable level with storage time. The decrease was concomitant with an increase in the level of aggregated proteins and powder browning. The hypothesis was that proteins were extensively modified by lactosylation. The degradation of the Maillard reaction products contributed to the formation of aggregated proteins in the dry state and the browning of the powder. Hence, varying the lactose content in whey powders would give a better understanding of the role played by lactosylated proteins on protein aggregation in the dry state, whether or not it is essential to the aggregation process, and if controlling its content is decisive for controlling powders ageing.

Based on the results obtained in this study, the lactose content was shown to have a significant effect on WP powder ageing. In the early stages of storage (up to 3 months storage at 40°C or during the first weeks at 60°C), the protein lactosylation was observed as the first step of powder ageing. For a lactose content of 1.2%, the same trend as in Chapter 2 was observed. For a content of 0.1%, the level of lactosylation did not increase during storage at 40°C and quickly decreased at 60°C without reaching 10% of lactosylated proteins. For higher lactose contents (\geq 2.6%), the quantification of the level of lactosylation on non-aggregated proteins was not possible probably due to the rapid degradation of lactosylated proteins (Guyomarc'h et al. 2000; Van Boekel 1998). For identical storage conditions, this difference in lactosylation rate may be found in the lactose/protein molar ratio, which varied from 12 to 0.06 for WPC and WPI^[-] powders, respectively The Maillard reaction in powders with more than one lactose molecule per protein (WPC, WPI^[+]) proceeded very rapidly and in a much more extensive way than for the two other powders. By contrast, the reaction was more limited for lactose/protein molar ratio \leq 0.7% (WPI). For the WPI powder, over than 70% of the proteins can be lactosylated (if one protein binds no more than one molecule of lactose), but only a maximum of 30% was reached in this study. The most plausible explanation relates to the number of lactose bound per protein. Morgan, Bouhallab, et al. (1998) have distinguished several populations of glycosylated β -LG differing by the number of lactose bound per protein, which can range up to 11 lactose molecules. Thanks to the mass spectrometry analysis, it was observed that 2 to 3 lactose molecules were bound per protein. Consequently, the maximum level measured would approach half of the theoretical maximum, which corresponds to our results. Another explanation could involve the kinetics of the Maillard reaction. Immediately after lactosylation, bound lactose molecules are degraded. However, it seems less likely since no aggregation was observed before or at the time of the maximum protein lactosylation was reached, suggesting that the kinetics of protein lactosylation is faster than the kinetics of lactosylated protein aggregation. The disappearance of lactosylated proteins resulted in a parallel increased in protein aggregation from the first weeks of storage at 60°C. Furthermore, the higher the lactose content, the more the aggregation was boosted. This is the case of the WPC powder (16%) for which the extent of the Maillard reaction led to a high Browning Index and covalent aggregation of all proteins present in the medium. These results are in agreement with previous studies on WPC (M. N. Kim et al. 1981). With storage time, aggregates grew and were stabilized by more and more covalent bonding resistant to reducing agent, up to their insolubilization. On the other hand, a reduced lactose content ($\leq 0.1\%$) significantly limited the rate of protein aggregation and the browning of the whey powders during storage by reducing the level of lactosylated proteins. This shows that the ageing of WP powders was mostly due to the Maillard reaction and the step of lactosylation was essential for the aggregation as demonstrated in Chapter 2. This effect was much more pronounced on storage at high temperature.

The absence of lactose also allowed the observation of lactose-independent ageing mechanisms to take place in the powders. Studies on dry heating of purified whey proteins showed that the changes are not the same with and without lactose (Gulzar et al. 2013; Guyomarc'h et al. 2014). Dry heating in the absence of lactose caused changes in non-aggregated proteins. A high proportion of non-aggregated α -LA was converted into a non-native form corresponding either to the formation of a pyroglutamic acid or to the formation of an internal cyclic imide at position Asp₆₄ (Gulzar et al. 2013). This non-native form, more hydrophobic than the native form, seems to be observed on the

Chapter 4

chromatographic profiles (**Figure 51**, B) at a content inversely proportional to the lactose content. These small structural changes can lead to a variation of functional properties, *e.g.* improved foaming and interfacial properties (Ibrahim et al. 1993). Desfougères et al. (2008) showed that the dry heating of pure hen egg white lysozyme resulted in a significant improvement in its foam ability. This is due to the formation of succinimidyl residues providing greater hydrophobicity of the protein and an increased flexibility promoting the adsorption and intermolecular interactions at the interface (Desfougères, Jardin, et al. 2011; Desfougères, Saint-Jalmes, et al. 2011). However, Zhou and Labuza (2007) showed that the absence of lactose in the WPI powder did not lead to greater structural changes compared to pure β -LG powder during storage, although the conditions applied (storage at 45°C for 2 weeks) appeared too soft to assess any differences between powders in views of our previous results. We can therefore conclude that the storage of a WPI powder with a lactose-reduced content may lead to the formation of new molecular species, the properties of which still have to be determined.

As already shown in Chapter 3, heat-induced aggregation is generally referred to a 2-stage mechanism. First proteins exposed their hydrophobic groups by unfolding. They assembled into oligomers to finally form larger aggregates thanks to hydrogen and hydrophobic interactions and subsequently, they stabilized through covalent disulphide bridges (Schmitt et al. 2010). Numerous studies displayed that protein glycation modified the process of protein heat-induced aggregation. One of them reported that glycation of WPI with lactose enabled to produce transparent dispersion after heating 7% (w/v) WPI solutions at 88°C for 2 minutes, whereas WPI control solution formed turbid solutions (G. Liu and Zhong 2013). The transparent solution was composed of particles smaller than 14 nm. Mulsow et al. (2008) also stated that covalent attachment of lactose to the whey proteins significantly improved the heat-stability of whey proteins. Three hypothesis have been formulated to explain the decrease of the aggregate size after heat treatment. The first, as stated in Chapter 3, would be that clustering of oligomers upon heating might rapidly reach a critical charge density, thus limiting aggregation, and smaller aggregates would form preferentially. However, Broersen et al. (2007) stated that the inhibition effect of glycosylation on heat-induced aggregation cannot be explain by this mechanism. Thereby, another mechanism has been proposed. The inhibition of aggregate growth would result from an increase in heat-induced aggregation kinetics. Indeed, glycosylation is believed to facilitate protein denaturation when heated at their denaturation temperature or above in the preliminary stage of aggregation (Broersen et al. 2007; Sun et al. 2011). Lastly, Mulsow et al. (2008) hypothesized that the increase in hydrophilicity resulting from lactose molecule binding to the protein may have weakened the hydrophobic interactions and thus hinder aggregation. This is partly in accordance with our results showing that heat-induced aggregates were smaller and smaller and heat-treated solutions of whey proteins became more and more transparent when the lactose content of whey protein WP powders and the storage time and temperature increased.

Most of these studies stated that glycosylated proteins are responsible for these changes. By varying the lactose content in the WP powders, it was possible to demonstrate that heat induced-aggregation are affected by the Maillard reaction products resulting from the degradation of lactosylated proteins. Indeed, in chapter 2 we showed that the changes in heat-induced aggregation of whey proteins couldn't be explain by the sole protein lactosylation (results at 20°C). It is possible that the glycated protein powders considered in the previous stated works also contained some Maillard reaction products. For example, WPI dispersion exhibited a darkest colour in G. Liu and Zhong (2013) study and a higher furosine content in Mulsow et al. (2008) study. Moreover, Broersen et al. (2007) might have overestimated protein glycation using the OPA method, which refers to the blocking of free amine groups by reducing sugar. The quantification informs on protein glycation and its degradation products, but is not able to differentiate one from the other. This agrees with our results showing that the more lactose in the WP powder, the more degradation products are formed and thus the smaller the heat-induced aggregates. Indeed, heat-induced aggregation is almost completely prevented by ageing of powders due to the neo species. It is notable that the WPC powder stored two weeks at 60°C, corresponding to a high BI and aggregation rate in the dry state, seemed almost non-aggregated after heat treatment suggesting a non-participation of Maillard reaction products in the mechanism of heat-induced aggregation.

Therefore, controlling the lactose content in WPI powders is essential to control their properties. It determines the heat-induced aggregation rate of the proteins through the changes that occur in WPI powders during storage.

PART 5. CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this study provides important information regarding how to limit the storage-induced changes of WPI powders. Varying the particle size of the powder is not a relevant tool as it does not influence the powder ageing. Moreover, the drying mode (Bionov and Minor) does not seem to change the properties of the powder particle as it does not induce change either among storage. The powder composition, especially its lactose content is responsible for most of the storage-induced changes in WPI powders.

Varying the lactose content in WP powders gave useful details for further understanding of the changes occurring in whey protein isolate powder during storage. A WPC powder, widely used in food industry as an ingredient, turned out to be very unstable during storage. WPI powder is definitely

more stable among time than WPC. Although the presence of lactose stabilized the protein structure in a fresh powder, high lactose content greatly accelerated the kinetics of protein aggregation and the powder functional properties changes. On the contrary, the control of lactose content in a WPI powder is of major importance for its long-term preservation. In a WPI powder whose lactose content was greatly reduced (lactose/protein molar ratio <1), the Maillard reaction was not stopped but its occurrence was considerably limited. Increasing the diafiltration of lactose before spray drying would be an issue for food industrials so as to have a very stable WPI powder during storage. Moreover, at very low lactose content in WPI powder other reactions can occur due to the decreased competitiveness of the Maillard reaction and would affect the protein-ageing path by other aggregation mechanisms (Gulzar et al. 2013). They would eventually have an effect on the WPI powders properties after rehydration.

CHAPTER 5. KNOWLEDGE INTEGRATION

This chapter aims to clarify the ageing path of whey protein isolate powders when stored under specific conditions in order to provide industrials monitoring indicators and thus anticipate or predict the powder behaviour after different periods of storage and/or shipment. By graphically correlating the variables related to the changes of industrial interest, the objective was to evaluate the powder behaviour when stored, and more particularly the path they would follow for specific conditions of time and temperature. Several correspondences were found between the samples stored under different conditions. Finally, and in view of the previous results, a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed in order to draw an ageing path of the whey protein isolate powder. This statistical approach helped in identifying a *catching up* behaviour from the changes obtained at lower temperatures to those at highest temperatures reflecting a clear and relevant ageing path of the WPI powder.

The aims of this chapter were to:

- *x* highlight the ageing path of a whey protein isolate powder
- x suggest ageing indicators of WPI powders in order to predict and to better control WPI powder
 storage

TABLE OF CONTENTS

С	hapter 5. Knowledge integration	
	Part 1. Introduction	. 127
	Part 2. Statistical analysis	. 128
	Part 3. Ageing path of whey protein isolate powders	. 128
	5.3.1. Correspondence between aged samples	. 128
	5.3.2. WPI ageing path determined by PCA	. 130
	Part 4. Beneficial contributions for industrials	. 133
	Part 5. Conclusions	. 135
PART 1. INTRODUCTION

The previous chapters have shown that the ageing of WPI powders is accompanied by changes in their functionalities depending on storage conditions (heat-induced aggregation, foam stability, colour). In parallel, global changes in protein structure were identified after powders rehydration. It has been shown that the presence of remaining lactose in the WPI powder was in major part responsible for these structural changes through the Maillard reaction causing the observed functional changes. Indeed, the Maillard reaction enhances protein interactions and aggregation, resulting in a better foam stability and a decrease in the heat-induced aggregate size (Norwood, Chevallier, et al. 2016; Norwood, Le Floch-Fouéré, et al. 2016).

Several authors showed that molecular mobility is favoured upon ageing (Fan and Roos 2016; Haque et al. 2012; Thomas, Scher, Desobry-Banon, et al. 2004), which is believed to be at the origin of the Maillard reaction (Thomas, Scher, and Desobry 2004). Evidences from the literature show that thermal history impacts molecular mobility in relation to the glass transition temperature (T_g). This implies fast dynamics (motions that involve small length scales), which is correlated to storage stability (Abdul-Fattah et al. 2007). Therefore, significant differences in overall ageing dynamics are observed according to the storage temperature conditions underwent by the powders. Namely, this is what seemed to happen in our study. The WPI powders were relatively stable during storage at 20°C. On the other hand, they presented significant levels of aggregation and protein modifications for storage at temperatures higher than 20°C. Storage temperature and relative humidity have been considered as the predominant factors involved, but our study made it possible to further demonstrate that time and milk components were also implied in these changes. The 3-order interaction – storage time and temperature, and powder composition – seems thus to determine the ageing kinetics of the WP powders (WPC and/or WPI). The more severe the storage conditions, the more pronounced the structural and functional changes in the WP powders.

However and to date, no relationship was established between the ageing-induced changes of stored WPI powders inherent to different and specific conditions of time and temperature. Two hypotheses have been proposed: 1. WPI powders undergo a *catching up* phenomenon or 2. WPI powders follow different paths according to the storage conditions. In the case of *catching up*, one model of ageing for all storage conditions is expected, which seems to already meet our previously stated results. The hypothesis of individual ageing paths is not completely excluded depending on the composition of WP powders.

In order to study which phenomenon occur in the WPI powders depending on the storage conditions, graphical correlation have been established between the most relevant structural markers of the

powder ageing. Moreover, a principal component analysis has been performed in order to draw the current ageing path of the WPI powder.

PART 2. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The complete data set was analysed using PCA, which has been described in Chapter 4 (cf. 4.2.4., p95). PCA was applied to the whole set of 11 variables including structural and functional experiments, which characterize 20 samples, using the Facto-MineR package of the R software (Lê et al. 2008). The variables were standardized (mean-centred and scaled to unit variance) by the software in order to give all of them the same weight on the analysis, regardless of the numerical magnitude and units of the original variables. The original variables used in PCA were *amount of monomers* and *aggregated proteins* in the WPI powders, *lactosylation* level, *thiols* level, *browning index*, ellipsometric variables (*D*, Γ_0 and ϑ), *air volume fraction*, *density* and *heat-induced aggregate size*. Hierarchical clustering on principal components was also performed onto the principal components and allows to evidence similarities between groups of individuals (Husson, Josse and Pagès 2010). Each of these groups, called clusters, has a characteristic inertia reflecting its homogeneity.

PART 3. AGEING PATH OF WHEY PROTEIN ISOLATE POWDERS

5.3.1. CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN AGED SAMPLES

First, the possible relationships between the different ageing points were studied graphically by correlating variables of industrial interest, namely the browning index with either the aggregation level in the dry state, or the lactosylation level of the monomeric β -LG (**Figure 66** and **Figure 67**).

In **Figure 66**, several storage conditions come out to be equivalent by correlating the level of aggregation and the browning index. Indeed, the points corresponding to WPI powders stored 18 months at 20°C and 40°C were superimposed on those of powders stored 15 days at 40°C and 60°C, respectively. Furthermore, the storage accidents corresponding to 3, 6 and 9 days at 60°C were located in the following ranges: around 3 months, 6 to 9 months and around 12 months at 40°C, respectively. The results, including all storage temperatures and times, showed a positive correlation between the BI and the amount of aggregated proteins of 0.94. Figure 67 shows the level of β -LG lactosylation according to the browning index. The evolutions of the samples stored at 20°C are more visible than in Figure 66 making it possible to confirm the correspondences discussed above.





Figure 66: Correlation between the amount of aggregated proteins and the browning index for WPI powders stored at 20°C (black symbols), at 40°C (blue symbols) and at 60°C (orange symbols); and subjected to a number of storage accidents (green); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time



Figure 67: Correlation between the amount of lactosylated t -LG and the browning index for WPI powders stored at 20°C (black symbols), at 40°C (blue symbols) and at 60°C (orange symbols); and subjected to a number of storage accidents (green); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time

Despite the exploratory nature of this approach, patterns emerge and this in a clearer manner for most samples. In Chapter 2, we had already foreseen a shift in the time scale from the changes induced at low temperatures to those at higher temperatures (**Figure 29**). Samples stored at 20°C, showing only an increase in protein lactosylation during storage, seemed to move towards the samples stored for a shorter time at 40°C where the lactosylation level was high without displaying an initiation of protein aggregation. For longer storage time at 40°C, the latter seemed to catch up the samples stored for a short time at 60°C by a decrease in the level of lactosylation and an increase in the amount of aggregates in the dry state. However, no overlapping between the ageing paths of the similar WPI powders stored in different conditions could be highlighted, maybe due to not long enough storage times.

5.3.2. WPI AGEING PATH DETERMINED BY PCA

In order to characterize the samples, which are described by quantitative variables, a principal component analysis was performed. As a reminder, this statistical analysis allows to identify an individual profile or a group of individuals and illustrates the links between variables from characteristic individuals through the study of individuals' similarities with a global view of all variables.

The factorial map summarised about 84% of the total inertia (**Figure 68**, projection of variables; **Figure 69**, projection of individuals), including PC1 that explained almost ¾ of the total variability alone. This means that only 16% of initial information has been lost while projecting a 20-dimension space (individuals) or an 11-dimension space (variables) on the 2-dimensions of the factorial map. This can be considered as a very satisfactory representation considering the 20 active individuals and the 11 variables included in this analysis.



Figure 68: Correlation circle of the principal components analysis (PCA)

Figure 68 displays the correlation circle, which is a projection of the variables on the factorial map. Two ways of interpretation have to be considered in order to analyse the results: i) the angle between the variables projections in the circle shows the correlations between each other and alignment of the vectors results from high correlations between the variables, and ii) the projection quality is shown by the proximity of the vector to the circle (for example, aggregated proteins and BI have a very good projection and they are highly correlated). In our study, the variables were thus pretty well projected on the 2-D graphic. The first principal component (PC1) was positively and highly correlated with the amount of monomeric proteins and the air volume fraction in the foam (96% and 91%, respectively). It was also positively correlated to the heat-induced aggregate size, the protein lactosylation and the ellipsometric variables to a lesser extent (80%, 72% and ~70%, respectively). On the contrary, the aggregated proteins, the amount of free thiols groups, the foam density and the browning index were negatively correlated to PC1 (96%, 94%, 91% and 90%, respectively). It can thus be considered that this axis exposes the functional changes according to the protein structure. The second principal component (PC2) was positively correlated with one of the ellipsometric variables, namely Γ_0 (66%) representing the surface concentration at which π is different from zero. It can be interpreted as the moment when structural changes begin to impact the protein properties in solution or once at the interface, either because they are lactosylated or aggregated. To summarise, the first and the second principal components tended to scatter individuals through their functions highly correlated with the protein structure and the protein properties, respectively.



Figure 69: Graphic of individuals (dot) with hierarchical clustering on principal components; black, cluster 1; red, cluster 2; green, cluster 3; square, geometrical centre of clusters

The individuals' projections on the factorial map following their similarities are shown in **Figure 69**. The geometrical centres of the clusters formed by hierarchical clustering on principal components is also projected. Cluster 1 (in black) was clearly different from the other two clusters. It presented negative scores on PC1 and PC2. Considering **Figure 68**, it can be clearly interpreted as a "highly aged powder" cluster including protein aggregation, powder browning and great changes in the functional properties (foam and interfacial properties, and heat-induced aggregation properties). Cluster 2 (in red) was the largest cluster and is made of individuals that are not very different from Ref. Thus it was seen as the "Ref" cluster, the reference being the closest point to the cluster inertia. Cluster 3 (in green) contained all individuals with an intermediate rate of protein modification impacting only the heat-induced aggregation properties.

Chapter 5



Figure 70: Drawing of the ageing path of WPI powder resulting from the PCA

Figure 70 shows the complexity of WPI powders ageing, which is composed of three interdependent stages. To date, this has never been clearly stated in the literature.

The first stage of WPI powder ageing is represented by the cluster 2 of the PCA (Figure 70, 1). It is characterized by the increase in protein lactosylation without affecting the aggregation state of the protein (which remains in a monomeric form) nor the functional properties. The second stage of ageing involves the consumption of lactosylated proteins previously formed feeding into aggregated products (Figure 70, 2). This phase is characterized by the presence of these two type of entities, the second having a significant impact on the heat-induced aggregation properties after rehydration. The third and final stage reflects the progress of the Maillard reaction with a total consumption of the lactosylated proteins, a high rate in aggregated proteins and a pronounced browning of the powder. Ultimately, these changes are accompanied by a change in foaming and interfacial properties, in addition to the heat-induced aggregation properties already modified under more moderate storage conditions. This stage is observed for very old WPI powders which have undergone high temperature episodes.

PART 4. BENEFICIAL CONTRIBUTIONS FOR INDUSTRIALS

It is now well known that high protein dairy powders represent a use-deferred strategy on a highvalue market. Indeed, the market share allocated to these products has continuously increased in these recent years thanks to their change of status from a co-product to an ingredient itself and by being involved in the production of many food and/or dairy products as infant formula. Securing specifications of high protein dairy powders proposed on the current market is therefore an issue of major importance for the French dairy industry. The advances provided by this PhD-project were needed to better understand and thus to better control the changes that occur during storage and/or transport of high protein dairy powders, considered as stable, but whose properties can significantly be changed depending on the conditions (time, temperature, a_w, etc.) to which they are subjected. According to the results of this chapter, keys are given for monitoring the evolution of WPI powders in order to better anticipate their use after storage.

Figure 66 and Figure 67 allow to quickly identify the ageing path of a WPI powder by performing one or more test of accelerated ageing. The corresponding points would be placed on one of these 2 graphics. Figure 67 is more appropriate for short storage time while Figure 66 is for longer ones. This method can easily and rapidly predict the deterioration of the protein structure via the browning index and thus by analogy (PCA), the impact on the functional properties. A control of protein lactosylation and powder browning can actually considerably help to see what the WPI powders endured during storage or exportation. The sole measure of protein lactosylation would show that the powder is old while the measure of protein lactosylation accompanied by a browning would reflect one or more period of time at temperatures $\geq 40^{\circ}$ C. However, it has to be noted that protein lactosylation can also come from pre-treatment of milk and powder manufacture preceding storage (milk or liquid concentrate heat-treatment, drying temperatures...). Thus, characterizing the average level of lactosylation of fresh WPI powder would be the first point to measure in order to run a good monitoring of its ageing.

From a more practical point of view for industrials, **Figure 66** and **Figure 67** allowed to establish correspondences, which are presented in **Table 9**. These are giving a quick estimation of accelerated ageing of WPI powders.

 Table 9: Correspondences between samples stored in different conditions based on the Browning Index

 correlated with the amount of aggregated proteins in the powder and the level of lactosylation

20°C	18 mo	Х	Х	Х	Х
40°C	15 d	3 mo	6 – 9 mo	12 mo	18 mo
60°C	х	3 d	6 d	9 d	15 d

Moreover and by considering the Browning Index only, it was also possible to estimate the theoretical correspondences between the samples stored at 40°C and those stored at 60°C for times below 3 days. **Figure 71** shows the equation of the curve followed by the samples stored for times below 3

days at 60°C. Thanks to this quadratic equation, the correspondences between ageing at 40°C and 60°C presented in **Table 9** have been completed with theoretical correspondences below 3 days (**Table 10**).



Figure 71: Determination of the curve equation considering the Browning Index of WPI powders stored at 60°C for up to 15 days

Table 10: Correspondences of the Browning Index at 40°C related to an accelerated storage at 60°C

Storage time at 40°C (days)	Storage time at 60°C (days)
0	0
15	0.5
30	1.2
60	1.3
90	2.5

These results allow to predict the WPI powder ageing by accelerated storage tests defined as several days at 60°C and these under identical conditions of a_w to those currently used by industrials (a_w of 0.23).

PART 5. CONCLUSIONS

This study presents a new approach to the drawing of WPI powder ageing regarding protein functional changes according to protein structure changes. A new draw describing WPI powders ageing was displayed. It takes into account the different phenomena occurring during WPI powders ageing such as protein lactosylation, protein aggregation, powder browning and powder functional properties. WPI

powders ageing follows a path of a *catching up* type depending on storage conditions, and started from low temperatures towards higher ones. The WPI powders present a 3-stage ageing, beginning with protein lactosylation, then protein aggregation and browning which finally end up by altering protein and thus powder functional properties. The colour remains thus a good indicator, easy to measure and reliable regarding structural or functional changes during storage of WPI powders. When the powder turns brown, the functional properties are affected. A very aged powder will be brown and its properties will be different from the original manufactured powder.

Our study provides new understanding by analysing more closely the specificity of the influence of the storage conditions on the ageing of WPI powders. Moreover, as WPI powders ageing is following a path of *catching up* type, it shows that temperature has an accelerating effect on structural and functional properties of whey proteins.

GENERAL CONCLUSION

This PhD project is a continuation of a major project undertaken by INRA in collaboration with the CNIEL which was initially focused on identifying methods for assessing the evolution of functional properties of proteins in connection with changes in their structures. This first step was needed to refine the strategy of this PhD project and ultimately optimize the times and conditions of storage of dairy powders in terms of maintaining their functionality during ageing. Indeed, one of the biggest challenges of this study was that it involved long storage times, up to 18 months. Hence previous work on qualifying methods was necessary. Another key element of our strategy was that the studied WPI powders were produced on the Bionov pilot workshop (Rennes, France) and therefore their initial state (t₀) was controlled, meaning WPI powders studied in this project were fresh powders – they have never been stored before.

This study focused on whey protein isolate powders, which are dry ingredients with high added value and whose structural and functional properties are strongly influenced by the storage conditions they are subjected to. WPI powders were stored under monitored storage conditions (20°C, 40°C and 60°C for up to 18 months) and the molecular changes (protein denaturation, protein lactosylation, protein aggregation) and functional changes (foaming and interfacial properties, heat-induced aggregation properties) were investigated in order to answer the 3 main objectives displayed earlier in Chapter 1:

1. Identify and quantify changes in protein structure and functional properties during ageing under controlled storage conditions

This research project has shown that the protein structural changes were minor and difficult to characterize, although the choice of working on a WPI powder reduces the complexity of the studied system because of its high protein content and its low lactose and minerals contents. This can be explained by storage temperatures and times much lower than those required for protein denaturation in the dry state (increased thermal resistance) and/or more likely to the fact that the Maillard reaction seems to be the main reaction taking place during WPI powders ageing. Indeed, the latter relates to the modification of most of the proteins in the powder and therefore, only a minor fraction of the proteins would be denatured. Protein changes would thus concern a change in the stability of side chains in interaction with lactose more than a change in their secondary structure. Bound lactose would favored protein aggregation in the dry state.

2. Identify the relevant structural markers of the evolution of WPI powders during storage affecting their functionality and understand their role in the properties modifications

It was found that lactosylated proteins did not affect the properties of WPI powders as their functional properties were not significantly different from the non-aged WPI powder. On the other hand, protein aggregation in the dry state led to a decrease in aggregate size after heat treatment at 5.8 d pH d 6.6 with concomitant changes in the heat-induced aggregate shape. Only a high amount of aggregated proteins (\geq 65%), would eventually lead to an improved foam stability although the diffusion coefficient of the proteins at the air/water interface decreased. However, it is worth noting that protein lactosylation is one of the major critical step to protein aggregation in the dry state even if it does not interfere with the protein's functionality. Ultimately, the structural changes – in the protein state – induce a variability of functional properties in WPI powder after storage (**Figure 72**).

3. Validate these changes and define optimal storage conditions [initial state, duration t, temperature ϑ] allowing to maintain the powders properties in the expected specifications, and conversely the extreme storage conditions above which these properties are irreversibly affected

In this PhD project, we have shown that protein structural and functional changes during ageing of WPI powders depended on storage temperature, a key storage parameter, and the powder a_w . However, other parameters had a significant influence, namely the initial composition (contents in non-protein components, initial state / structure of these latter) of the powder. Playing on these, especially on the lactose content, will help to extend the shelf life of a WPI powder. From an industrial point of view, several levers have been provided to anticipate functional changes of whey proteins (level lactosylation, the powder color). Moreover, as the temperature appears as a key parameter in WPI powder ageing, storage at $\theta \le 20^{\circ}$ C may help to extend the shelf life of the powder. Another solution would be the implementation of a further diafiltration. However, costs remain to be evaluated in terms of powder shelf life gains. Lastly, several days at 60°C are sufficient to cause irreversible structural modifications.



Advanced glycated End products





FURTHER OUTLOOK

This PhD project provided new and valuable conclusions considering the storage of whey protein powders; consequently this work brought us to new research questions exposed in **Figure 73**. The short-term continuation of this work lies in the understanding of the **other molecular interactions** that occur in the powder when stored in order to have a complete view of WPI powders ageing. Indeed, the powder being composed of more than 90% proteins, protein-protein interactions or protein modifications seem difficult to be avoided. Moreover, investigating the effect of **WPI powders composition** (*e.g.* level of storage-induced entities) on the **functional properties** would clear some grey areas as a part of our results on the foaming properties differ from those found in the literature. Lastly, long-term outlook would also focus on whey protein **powders composition** (*e.g.* variation of the initial composition), on the **process** as it greatly affects the powder quality and on the **nutritional & health aspects**, the Maillard reaction being already a hot topic in the nutrition area.



Figure 73: Diagram of the proposed future outlook of this PhD project with the short-term (blue) and long-term upstream (green) and downstream (orange) outlook

Short-term outlook – directly related to the PhD project

The study of interactions in the whey protein powder is not limited to the Maillard reaction, even if it seems to be mainly responsible for this powder kind ageing. Indeed, the characterization of aggregates formed in the powder during ageing has shown that the latter were formed by disulphide bridges and other covalent bonds possibly due to protein denaturation and Maillard reaction, respectively. However, the lowering of lactose content has restricted covalent aggregation without stopping it completely. One approach would be to investigate the different types of ageing-induced covalent bonds by mass spectrometry, including the monitoring of deamination, dehydration and/or protein cyclisation and to link these changes with aggregation in the dry state. A complementary approach would be the investigation of fast dynamics (Abdul-Fattah et al. 2007) in the solid state by light and inelastic neutron scattering. This kind of investigations would eventually lead to a better understanding of the formation of specific bonds by studying reaction competitiveness (interactions kinetics and forces) occurring during storage (Lerbret et al. 2012). This may be particularly interesting on powders with low lactose content or a model of whey protein powder made of pure whey proteins in an appropriate proportion.

Regarding the functional properties, further investigations still need to be done. On one hand, further study on the foaming properties would be necessary to elucidate such disparate results between our study and the literature. In the latter, it is found that dry-heated proteins make foam more stable (Desfougères et al. 2008) whereas in the case of our study, the results are not that obvious. Here, a matter of powder composition is suspected. Moreover, it would be interesting to further investigate the role of aggregates in the foam stability as they are of heterogeneous size (the literature often stated that the aggregate size is of major importance to stabilize foam). The idea would be to characterize the interface by its elasticity thanks to the interfacial dilatational rheometry or interfacial shear rheometry (Desfougères, Saint-Jalmes, et al. 2011), to determine the adsorbed molecules with foam film measurements (Rullier et al. 2009) or atomic force microscopy (AFM) coupled with imaging ellipsometry for more precise measurements (Ying et al. 2003), and finally to characterize the aqueous phase by rheological analysis. Another route for studying foam formation and stability, and for evaluating the role of every entities that were present in the solution at first has been initiated with the soft matter department located at the Institute of Physics – Rennes, more particularly with the Pr. A. Saint-Jalmes, and would need further investigations. On the other hand, even if our study made it possible to highlight that lactosylated proteins didn't interfere with the formation of heat-induced aggregates, the role of AGEs and the more advanced Maillard reaction products (e.g. melanoidins) still need to be considered. A proposed experiment to achieve this goal should be inspired from the one given by Schmitt et al. (2011), who determined the content of native protein, soluble and insoluble aggregates, and heat-induced aggregates after heat treatment.

Long-term outlook – other focus of research

Process. Efforts should be made to better control the parameters of pre-treatments and especially spray drying as they define the powder properties. The powders characteristics are related to end-use properties of the powders and are known to affect their storage stability: water content and water activity for stability, size and size distribution for powder mixing and handling, bulk density and flowability for transportation, and wettability and dispersibility for instant properties (Aguilera and Lillford 2007; Huntington 2004).

Special attention should be accorded to:

- x the drying temperature and time as it can lead to different component initial state (eg, level of initial protein lactosylation)
- x the size of the droplet as it determines the particle size and the powder handling
- x and the liquid concentrate properties (composition, concentration, viscosity...)

Playing on these parameters will eventually modify the spray dried powder particle properties, namely the component distribution, the component native state and thus will affect the molecular mobility which is related to the interactions occurring during storage.

Powder composition. Whey protein powders are more and more used in infant formulas, beverages and health-care products. However, the initial composition of the powders involved in the formulation of these food products differs, leading very likely to another ageing path of the powders. The first interesting point to study would be the addition of purified phospholipid fractions in whey protein isolate powders and study the storage-induced changes as we did in our PhD project. Blending new components like lipids will engender new interactions and potentially lead to the production of new molecules upon storage, some of which having already been highlighted (Almansa et al. 2013; Angulo et al. 1998; Cesa et al. 2015). However, a possible two-way relationship might also be possible between the presence of lipids and the Maillard reaction products as we know that some of the latter have anti-oxidant properties. This hasn't been studied yet.

Nutritional & health aspects. The Maillard reaction has been observed in the stored whey protein powders. Beside the fact that this reaction produced odorous and brown compounds, which are desired by the food industry for appealing and palatability of foods, the nutritional and health aspects of these same compounds still has to be clearly determined: for example the melanoidins (brown

compounds) are given antioxidant (Cheriot 2007) and prebiotic properties (Tuohy et al. 2006). However, their effect on the intestinal microbiota remains uncertain to date. On the other hand, a nutritional loss is observed by the blocking of lysine residues, which results in an unavailability during digestion. Proteins can be further modified into other compounds whose digestion is still little known. In these are found AGEs that are particularly undesirable. They were originally discovered *in vivo* and involved in the complications of diabetes and renal failure (Basta 2004; Lalla et al. 2001; Uribarri et al. 2003). These compounds are found in food at varying levels. Their potentially deleterious health effects have led American researchers to rename them as glycotoxins. In summary, the scientific data on the biological effects (beneficial or deleterious) of AGEs and other Maillard products are insufficient to definitively conclude. A collaboration with a group of research specialised in this field could be considered in the future (*e.g.* Pr. F. Tessier, Université Lille-2/INSERM U995-LIRIC).

REFERENCES

- Abdi, H., & Williams, L. J. (2010). Principal component analysis. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics*, 2(4), 433–459. doi:10.1002/wics.101
- Abdul-Fattah, A. M., Kalonia, D. S., & Pikal, M. J. (2007). The challenge of drying method selection for protein pharmaceuticals: Product quality implications. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 96(8), 1886–1916. doi:10.1002/jps.20842
- Aguilera, J. M., & Lillford, P. J. (2007). *Food Materials Science: Principles and Practice*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Almansa, I., Miranda, M., Jareño, E., & Silvestre, D. (2013). Lipid peroxidation in infant formulas: Longitudinal study at different storage temperatures. *International Dairy Journal*, *33*(1), 83– 87. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2013.06.005
- Alsteens, D., Dague, E., Rouxhet, P. G., Baulard, A. R., & Dufrêne, Y. F. (2007). Direct Measurement of Hydrophobic Forces on Cell Surfaces Using AFM. *Langmuir*, *23*(24), 11977–11979. doi:10.1021/la702765c
- Anema, S. G., Pinder, D. N., Hunter, R. J., & Hemar, Y. (2006). Effects of storage temperature on the solubility of milk protein concentrate (MPC85). *Food Hydrocolloids*, *20*(2–3), 386–393. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.03.015
- Angulo, A. J., Romera, J. M., Ramírez, M., & Gil, A. (1998). Effects of storage conditions on lipid oxidation in infant formulas based on several protein sources. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *75*(11), 1603–1607. doi:10.1007/s11746-998-0100-1
- Arrondo, J. L., & Goñi, F. M. (1999). Structure and dynamics of membrane proteins as studied by infrared spectroscopy. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, 72(4), 367–405.
- Ayache, J., Beaunier, L., Boumendil, J. P.-, Ehret, G., & Laub, D. (2007). *Guide de préparation des échantillons pour la microscopie électronique en transmission: Techniques*. Publications de l'Université de Saint-Étienne.
- Aymard, P., Gimel, J. C., Nicolai, T., & Durand, D. (1996). Experimental evidence for a two-step process in the aggregation of β-lactoglobulin at pH 7. In *Journal de chimie physique* (Vol. 93, pp. 987–997). Presented at the Faraday Discussions, EDP Sciences. http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=3067751. Accessed 30 July 2015
- Azzam, R.M.A., Bashara, N.M. (1977). Ellipsometry and Polarized Light. Pub. Co, North-Holland.
- Baechler, R., Clerc, M.-F., Ulrich, S., & Benet, S. (2005). Physical changes in heat-treated whole milk powder. In *Le Lait* (Vol. 85, pp. 305–314). Presented at the International Symposium on Spray Drying of Milk Products, EDP Sciences. http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=17064737. Accessed 19 April 2016
- Báez, G. D., Busti, P. A., Verdini, R., & Delorenzi, N. J. (2013). Glycation of heat-treated β-lactoglobulin:
 Effects on foaming properties. *Food Research International*, 54(1), 902–909.
 doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2013.08.013

- Baeza, R., Carrera Sanchez, C., Pilosof, A. M. R., & Rodríguez Patino, J. M. (2005). Interactions of polysaccharides with β-lactoglobulin adsorbed films at the air–water interface. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 19(2), 239–248. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2004.06.002
- Baier, S., & McClements, D. J. (2001). Impact of Preferential Interactions on Thermal Stability and Gelation of Bovine Serum Albumin in Aqueous Sucrose Solutions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49(5), 2600–2608. doi:10.1021/jf001096j
- Barth, A. (2007). Infrared spectroscopy of proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Bioenergetics*, *1767*(9), 1073–1101. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2007.06.004
- Basta, G. (2004). Advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation: implications for accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetes. *Cardiovascular Research*, *63*(4), 582–592. doi:10.1016/j.cardiores.2004.05.001
- Beck, J., Ledl, F., Sengl, M., & Severin, T. (1990). Formation of acids, lactones and esters through the Maillard reaction. *Zeitschrift für Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und Forschung*, 190(3), 212–216. doi:10.1007/BF01192968
- Berge, B., & Renault, A. (1993). Ellipsometry Study of 2D Crystallization of 1-Alcohol Monolayers at the Water Surface. *EPL (Europhysics Letters), 21*(7), 773. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/21/7/010
- Bhandari, B. R., & Hartel, R. W. (2005). Phase transitions during food powder production and powder stability. Taylor & Francis. http://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:72058. Accessed 19 February 2016
- Bhandari, B. R., & Howes, T. (1999). Implication of glass transition for the drying and stability of dried foods. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 40(1–2), 71–79. doi:10.1016/S0260-8774(99)00039-4
- Boye, J. I., Ismail, A. A., & Alli, I. (1996). Effects of physicochemical factors on the secondary structure of β-lactoglobulin. *Journal of Dairy Research*, *63*(1), 97–109. doi:10.1017/S0022029900031575
- Briggs, D. (1994). Practical surface analysis: Auger and x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (2nd ed.), Vol. 1, Wiley-Blackwell
- Broersen, K., Elshof, M., De Groot, J., Voragen, A. G. J., Hamer, R. J., & De Jongh, H. H. J. (2007). Aggregation of β-Lactoglobulin Regulated by Glucosylation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(6), 2431–2437. doi:10.1021/jf063178z
- Broersen, K., Voragen, A. G. J., Hamer, R. J., & de Jongh, H. H. J. (2004). Glycoforms of β-lactoglobulin with improved thermostability and preserved structural packing. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, *86*(1), 78–87. doi:10.1002/bit.20030
- Bromley, E. H. C., Krebs, M. R. H., & Donald, A. M. (2006). Mechanisms of structure formation in particulate gels of β-lactoglobulin formed near the isoelectric point. *The European Physical Journal E*, *21*(2), 145–152. doi:10.1140/epje/i2006-10055-7
- Burgain, J., El Zein, R., Scher, J., Petit, J., Norwood, E.-A., Francius, G., & Gaiani, C. (2016). Local modifications of whey protein isolate powder surface during high temperature storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 178, 39–46. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.01.005
- Burin, L., Jouppila, K., Roos, Y., Kansikas, J., & Buera, M. del P. (2000). Color Formation in Dehydrated Modified Whey Powder Systems As Affected by Compression and Tg. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 48(11), 5263–5268. doi:10.1021/jf000240y

- Busti, P., Gatti, C. A., & Delorenzi, N. J. (2006). Binding of alkylsulfonate ligands to bovine βlactoglobulin: Effects on protein thermal unfolding. *Food Research International*, 39(4), 503– 509. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2005.10.009
- Cesa, S., Casadei, M. A., Cerreto, F., & Paolicelli, P. (2015). Infant Milk Formulas: Effect of Storage Conditions on the Stability of Powdered Products towards Autoxidation. *Foods*, *4*(3), 487–500. doi:10.3390/foods4030487
- Chanasattru, W., Decker, E. A., & McClements, D. J. (2007). Modulation of thermal stability and heatinduced gelation of β-lactoglobulin by high glycerol and sorbitol levels. *Food Chemistry*, 103(2), 512–520. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.08.020
- Cheriot, S. (2007, December 11). *Rôle des produits de la réaction de Maillard dans l'inhibition de l'oxydation enzymatique des phénols et des lipides*. AgroParisTech. Retrieved from http://pastel.archives-ouvertes.fr/pastel-00003240
- CNIEL. (2016). L'économie laitière en chiffres, édition 2016. http://www.maison-du-lait.com/chiffrescles/des-donnees-reference. Accessed 17 August 2016
- Croguennec, T., Jeantet, R., & Brulé, G. (2008). *Fondements physicochimiques de la technologie laitière*. Lavoisier TEC & DOC. https://hal-agrocampus-ouest.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-00729142. Accessed 16 January 2015
- Croguennec, T., O'Kennedy, B. T., & Mehra, R. (2004). Heat-induced denaturation/aggregation of βlactoglobulin A and B: kinetics of the first intermediates formed. *International Dairy Journal*, *14*(5), 399–409. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2003.09.005
- Da Silva Pinto, M., Bouhallab, S., De Carvalho, A. F., Henry, G., Putaux, J.-L., & Leonil, J. (2012). Glucose Slows Down the Heat-Induced Aggregation of β-Lactoglobulin at Neutral pH. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *60*(1), 214–219. doi:10.1021/jf2037664
- Davis, J. P., & Foegeding, E. A. (2004). Foaming and interfacial properties of polymerized whey protein isolate. *Journal of food science*, *69*(5), C404–C410.
- De Feijter, J. A., Benjamins, J., & Veer, F. A. (1978). Ellipsometry as a tool to study the adsorption behavior of synthetic and biopolymers at the air-water interface. *Biopolymers*, *17*(7), 1759–1772. doi:10.1002/bip.1978.360170711
- Desfougères, Y., Jardin, J., Lechevalier, V., Pezennec, S., & Nau, F. (2011). Succinimidyl Residue Formation in Hen Egg-White Lysozyme Favors the Formation of Intermolecular Covalent Bonds without Affecting Its Tertiary Structure. *Biomacromolecules*, *12*(1), 156–166. doi:10.1021/bm101089g
- Desfougères, Y., Lechevalier, V., Pezennec, S., Artzner, F., & Nau, F. (2008). Dry-Heating Makes Hen Egg White Lysozyme an Efficient Foaming Agent and Enables Its Bulk Aggregation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *56*(13), 5120–5128. doi:10.1021/jf703715j
- Desfougères, Y., Saint-Jalmes, A., Salonen, A., Vié, V., Beaufils, S., Pezennec, S., et al. (2011). Strong improvement of interfacial properties can result from slight structural modifications of proteins: the case of native and dry-heated lysozyme. *Langmuir: the ACS journal of surfaces and colloids*, *27*(24), 14947–14957. doi:10.1021/la203485y

- Dickinson, E. (2001). Milk protein interfacial layers and the relationship to emulsion stability and rheology. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 20*(3), 197–210. doi:10.1016/S0927-7765(00)00204-6
- Dimitrova, T. D., Leal-Calderon, F., Gurkov, T. D., & Campbell, B. (2004). Surface forces in model oil-inwater emulsions stabilized by proteins. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, *108–109*, 73–86. doi:10.1016/j.cis.2003.10.003
- Donato, L., Schmitt, C., Bovetto, L., & Rouvet, M. (2009). Mechanism of formation of stable heatinduced β-lactoglobulin microgels. *International Dairy Journal*, *19*(5), 295–306. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2008.11.005
- Dufour, E., Robert, P. (2000). Spectres des constituants majeurs des aliments. Protéines. In: D. Bertrand, E. Dufour, La spectroscopie infrarouge et ses applications analytiques. 107-137. Collection Sciences et Techniques Agroalimentaires. Paris, FRA : Technique et Documentation.
- Dunlap, C. A., & Côté, G. L. (2005). β-Lactoglobulin–Dextran Conjugates: Effect of Polysaccharide Size on Emulsion Stability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(2), 419–423. doi:10.1021/jf049180c
- Ellman, G. L. (1959). Tissue sulfhydryl groups. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 82(1), 70–77. doi:10.1016/0003-9861(59)90090-6
- Enomoto, H., Li, C.-P., Morizane, K., Ibrahim, H. R., Sugimoto, Y., Ohki, S., et al. (2007). Glycation and Phosphorylation of β-Lactoglobulin by Dry-Heating: Effect on Protein Structure and Some Properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(6), 2392–2398. doi:10.1021/jf062830n
- Fäldt, P. (1995). Surface composition of spray-dried emulsions. Lund University Thesis, Department of Food Engineering, Scandinavia.
- Fäldt, P., Bergenstahl, B., & Carlsson, G. (1993). The Surface Coverage of Fat on Food Powders Analyzed by Esca (Electron Spectroscopy for Chemical Analysis). *Food Structure*, 12(2). http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/foodmicrostructure/vol12/iss2/10
- Fameau, A.-L., & Salonen, A. (2014). Effect of particles and aggregated structures on the foam stability and aging. *Comptes Rendus Physique*, *15*(8–9), 748–760. doi:10.1016/j.crhy.2014.09.009
- Fan, F., & Roos, Y. H. (2016). Structural relaxations of amorphous lactose and lactose-whey protein mixtures. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *173*, 106–115. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.10.047
- Fechner, A., Knoth, A., Scherze, I., & Muschiolik, G. (2007). Stability and release properties of doubleemulsions stabilised by caseinate-dextran conjugates. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 21(5–6), 943–952. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2006.10.021
- Fitzpatrick, J. J., Barry, K., Cerqueira, P. S. M., Iqbal, T., O'Neill, J., & Roos, Y. H. (2007). Effect of composition and storage conditions on the flowability of dairy powders. *International Dairy Journal*, 17(4), 383–392. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2006.04.010
- Fitzpatrick, J. J., Hodnett, M., Twomey, M., Cerqueira, P. S. M., O'Flynn, J., & Roos, Y. H. (2007). Glass transition and the flowability and caking of powders containing amorphous lactose. *Powder Technology*, 178(2), 119–128. doi:10.1016/j.powtec.2007.04.017

- Fitzpatrick, J. J., Iqbal, T., Delaney, C., Twomey, T., & Keogh, M. K. (2004). Effect of powder properties and storage conditions on the flowability of milk powders with different fat contents. *Journal* of Food Engineering, 64(4), 435–444. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2003.11.011
- Foegeding, E. A., Davis, J. P., Doucet, D., & McGuffey, M. K. (2002). Advances in modifying and understanding whey protein functionality. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 13(5), 151– 159. doi:10.1016/S0924-2244(02)00111-5
- Foegeding, E. A., Luck, P. J., & Davis, J. P. (2006). Factors determining the physical properties of protein foams. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *20*(2–3), 284–292. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.03.014
- Fogliano, V., Monti, S. M., Visconti, A., Randazzo, G., Facchiano, A. M., Colonna, G., & Ritieni, A. (1998).
 Identification of a β-lactoglobulin lactosylation site. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology*, 1388(2), 295–304. doi:10.1016/S0167-4838(98)00177-0
- FranceAgriMer. (2012). Étude sur l'évolution et les perspectives des utilisations de matières grasses et protéiques d'origine laitière par les industries agro-alimentaires dans l'Union Européenne.
- French, S. J., & Harper, W. J. (2003). Maillard reaction induced lactose attachment to bovine βlactoglobulin: Foam and emulsion functionality. *Milchwissenschaft*, *58*(5–6), 252–256.
- Fyfe, K. N., Kravchuk, O., Le, T., Deeth, H. C., Nguyen, A. V., & Bhandari, B. (2011). Storage induced changes to high protein powders: influence on surface properties and solubility. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 91(14), 2566–2575. doi:10.1002/jsfa.4461
- Gaiani, C., Ehrhardt, J. J., Scher, J., Hardy, J., Desobry, S., & Banon, S. (2006). Surface composition of dairy powders observed by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy and effects on their rehydration properties. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 49*(1), 71–78. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2006.02.015
- Gaiani, C., Morand, M., Sanchez, C., Tehrany, E. A., Jacquot, M., Schuck, P., et al. (2010). How surface composition of high milk proteins powders is influenced by spray-drying temperature. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 75(1), 377–384. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2009.09.016
- Gaiani, C., Scher, J., Ehrhardt, J., Linder, M., Schuck, P., Desobry, S., & Banon, S. (2007). Relationships between Dairy Powder Surface Composition and Wetting Properties during Storage: Importance of Residual Lipids. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(16), 6561–6567. doi:10.1021/jf070364b
- Gaiani, C., Schuck, P., Scher, J., Ehrhardt, J. J., Arab-Tehrany, E., Jacquot, M., & Banon, S. (2009). Native phosphocaseinate powder during storage: Lipids released onto the surface. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *94*(2), 130–134. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2009.01.038
- Ganzevles, R. A., Cohen Stuart, M. A., Vliet, T. van, & de Jongh, H. H. J. (2006). Use of polysaccharides to control protein adsorption to the air–water interface. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *20*(6), 872–878. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.08.009
- Gaucheron, F., Le Graet, Y., Piot, M., & Boyaval, E. (1996). Determination of anions of milk by ion chromatography. *Le Lait*, *76*(5), 433–443. doi:10.1051/lait:1996533

- Gauthier, F., Bouhallab, S., & Renault, A. (2001). Modification of bovine β -lactoglobulin by glycation in a powdered state or in aqueous solution: adsorption at the air–water interface. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 21(1–3), 37–45. doi:10.1016/S0927-7765(01)00182-5
- Gazi, I., & Huppertz, T. (2015). Influence of protein content and storage conditions on the solubility of caseins and whey proteins in milk protein concentrates. *International Dairy Journal*, *46*, 22–30. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2014.09.009
- Giroux, H. J., Houde, J., & Britten, M. (2010). Preparation of nanoparticles from denatured whey protein by pH-cycling treatment. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *24*(4), 341–346. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2009.10.013
- Guilmineau, F., & Kulozik, U. (2006). Impact of a thermal treatment on the emulsifying properties of egg yolk. Part 1: Effect of the heating time. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *20*(8), 1105–1113. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.12.005
- Gulzar, M., Bouhallab, S., & Croguennec, T. (2011). Structural consequences of dry heating on Beta-Lactoglobulin under controlled pH. *Procedia Food Science*, 1, 391–398. doi:10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.060
- Gulzar, M., Bouhallab, S., Jardin, J., Briard-Bion, V., & Croguennec, T. (2013). Structural consequences of dry heating on alpha-lactalbumin and beta-lactoglobulin at pH 6.5. *Food Research International*, *51*(2), 899–906. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2013.02.025
- Gulzar, M., Bouhallab, S., Jeantet, R., Schuck, P., & Croguennec, T. (2011). Influence of pH on the dry heat-induced denaturation/aggregation of whey proteins. *Food Chemistry*, *129*(1), 110–116. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.04.037
- Guyomarc'h, F., Famelart, M.-H., Henry, G., Gulzar, M., Leonil, J., Hamon, P., et al. (2014). Current ways to modify the structure of whey proteins for specific functionalities—a review. *Dairy Science & Technology*, 1–20. doi:10.1007/s13594-014-0190-5
- Guyomarc'h, F., Warin, F., Donald Muir, D., & Leaver, J. (2000). Lactosylation of milk proteins during the manufacture and storage of skim milk powders. *International Dairy Journal*, *10*(12), 863–872.
- Haque, E., Bhandari, B. R., Gidley, M. J., Deeth, H. C., Møller, S. M., & Whittaker, A. K. (2010). Protein Conformational Modifications and Kinetics of Water–Protein Interactions in Milk Protein Concentrate Powder upon Aging: Effect on Solubility. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(13), 7748–7755. doi:10.1021/jf1007055
- Haque, E., Whittaker, A. K., Gidley, M. J., Deeth, H. C., Fibrianto, K., & Bhandari, B. R. (2012). Kinetics of enthalpy relaxation of milk protein concentrate powder upon ageing and its effect on solubility. *Food Chemistry*, 134(3), 1368–1373. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.03.034
- Havea, P. (2006). Protein interactions in milk protein concentrate powders. *International Dairy Journal*, *16*(5), 415–422. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2005.06.005
- Hiller, B., & Lorenzen, P. C. (2010). Functional properties of milk proteins as affected by Maillard reaction induced oligomerisation. *Food Research International*, 43(4), 1155–1166. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2010.02.006

- Hirota-Nakaoka, N., & Goto, Y. (1999). Alcohol-induced denaturation of beta-lactoglobulin: a close correlation to the alcohol-induced alpha-helix formation of melittin. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, *7*(1), 67–73.
- Hoffmann, M. A. M., & van Mil, P. J. J. M. (1997). Heat-Induced Aggregation of β-Lactoglobulin: Role of the Free Thiol Group and Disulfide Bonds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45(8), 2942–2948. doi:10.1021/jf960789q
- Hoffmann, M. A. M., & van Mil, P. J. J. M. (1999). Heat-Induced Aggregation of β-Lactoglobulin as a Function of pH. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 47(5), 1898–1905. doi:10.1021/jf980886e
- Howell, N. K., & Taylor, C. (1995). Effect of ascorbic acid on the foaming and gelling of globular proteins. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 30(3), 321–334. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1995.tb01381.x
- Hsu, K.-H., & Fennema, O. (1989). Changes in the Functionality of Dry Whey Protein Concentrate During Storage. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 72(4), 829–837. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(89)79175-X
- Huntington, D. H. (2004). The Influence of the Spray Drying Process on Product Properties. *Drying Technology*, *22*(6), 1261–1287. doi:10.1081/DRT-120038730
- Husson, F., Josse, J., & Pagès, J. (2010). Principal component methods Hierarchical clustering Partitional clustering: Why would we need to choose for visualizing data?. Technical report-Agrocampus. Available at: http://factominer.free.fr/docs/HCPC_husson_josse.pdf.
- Ibrahim, H. R., Kobayashi, K., & Kato, A. (1993). Improvement of the Surface Functional Properties of β-Lactoglobulin and α-Lactalbumin by Heating in a Dry State. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, *57*(9), 1549–1552. doi:10.1271/bbb.57.1549
- IDF. (2015). The World Dairy Situation 2015. Bulletin of the IDF No. 481/2015
- Ipsen, R., & Hansen, P. S. (1988). Factors affecting the storage stability of whole milk powder. *Beretning. Statens Mejeriforsoeg (Denmark).* http://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=DK8920137. Accessed 16 January 2015
- Jeantet, R., Brulé, G., & Delaplace, G. (2011). *Génie des procédés appliqué à l'industrie laitière*. Lavoisier.
- Jeantet, R., Schuck, P., Six, T., Andre, C., & Delaplace, G. (2010). The influence of stirring speed, temperature and solid concentration on the rehydration time of micellar casein powder. *Dairy Science & Technology*, *90*(2–3), 225–236. doi:10.1051/dst/2009043
- Jolliffe, I. (2014). Principal Component Analysis. In *Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781118445112.stat06472/abstract. Accessed 29 July 2016
- Jones, O. G., Adamcik, J., Handschin, S., Bolisetty, S., & Mezzenga, R. (2010). Fibrillation of β-Lactoglobulin at Low pH in the Presence of a Complexing Anionic Polysaccharide. *Langmuir*, *26*(22), 17449–17458. doi:10.1021/la1026619

- Kam, S. I., & Rossen, W. R. (1999). Anomalous Capillary Pressure, Stress, and Stability of Solids-Coated Bubbles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *213*(2), 329–339. doi:10.1006/jcis.1999.6107
- Kehoe, J. J., Remondetto, G. E., Subirade, M., Morris, E. R., & Brodkorb, A. (2008). Tryptophan-Mediated Denaturation of β-Lactoglobulin A by UV Irradiation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(12), 4720–4725. doi:10.1021/jf0733158.
- Kher, A., Udabage, P., McKinnon, I., McNaughton, D., & Augustin, M. A. (2007). FTIR investigation of spray-dried milk protein concentrate powders. *Vibrational Spectroscopy*, 44(2), 375–381. doi:10.1016/j.vibspec.2007.03.006.
- Kieseker, F. G. and Clarke, D. T. (1984). The effect of storage on the properties of non-fat milk powders. *Australian Journal of Dairy Technology*, 39, 74-77.
- Kim, E. H.-J., Chen, X. D., & Pearce, D. (2002). Surface characterization of four industrial spray-dried dairy powders in relation to chemical composition, structure and wetting property. *Colloids* and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 26(3), 197–212.
- Kim, E. H.-J., Chen, X. D., & Pearce, D. (2005). Effect of surface composition on the flowability of industrial spray-dried dairy powders. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 46(3), 182–187. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2005.11.005
- Kim, E. H.-J., Chen, X. D., & Pearce, D. (2009a). Surface composition of industrial spray-dried milk powders. 3. Changes in the surface composition during long-term storage. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 94(2), 182–191. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.12.001
- Kim, E. H.-J., Chen, X. D., & Pearce, D. (2009b). Surface composition of industrial spray-dried milk powders. 2. Effects of spray drying conditions on the surface composition. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 94(2), 169–181. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.10.020
- Kim, M. N., Saltmarch, M., & Labuza, T. P. (1981). Non-Enzymatic Browning of Hygroscopic Whey Powders in Open Versus Sealed Pouches. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 5(1), 49–57. doi:10.1111/j.1745-4549.1981.tb00619.x
- Kim, Y. J., Hagiwara, T., Kawai, K., Suzuki, T., & Takai, R. (2003). Kinetic process of enthalpy relaxation of glassy starch and effect of physical aging upon its water vapor permeability property. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 53(3), 289–296. doi:10.1016/S0144-8617(03)00075-4
- Kingshott, P., Andersson, G., McArthur, S. L., & Griesser, H. J. (2011). Surface modification and chemical surface analysis of biomaterials. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*, 15(5), 667– 676. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.07.012
- Kulmyrzaev, A., Bryant, C., & McClements, D. J. (2000). Influence of Sucrose on the Thermal Denaturation, Gelation, and Emulsion Stabilization of Whey Proteins. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 48(5), 1593–1597. doi:10.1021/jf9911949
- Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, *227*(5259), 680–685. doi:10.1038/227680a0
- Lalla, E., Lamster, I. B., Stern, D. M., & Schmidt, A. M. (2001). Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products, Inflammation, and Accelerated Periodontal Disease in Diabetes: Mechanisms and Insights Into Therapeutic Modalities. *Annals of Periodontology*, 6(1), 113–118. doi:10.1902/annals.2001.6.1.113

- Lê, S., Josse, J., & Husson, F. (2008). FactoMineR : An *R* Package for Multivariate Analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *25*(1). doi:10.18637/jss.v025.i01
- Le, T. T., Deeth, H. C., Bhandari, B., Alewood, P. F., & Holland, J. W. (2013). Quantification of lactosylation of whey proteins in stored milk powder using multiple reaction monitoring. *Food Chemistry*, 141(2), 1203–1210. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.073
- Le, T. T., Holland, J. W., Bhandari, B., Alewood, P. F., & Deeth, H. C. (2013). Direct evidence for the role of Maillard reaction products in protein cross-linking in milk powder during storage. *International Dairy Journal*, *31*(2), 83–91. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2013.02.013
- Lee, D., Park, C. W., Paik, S. R., & Choi, K. Y. (2009). The modification of α-synuclein by dicarbonyl compounds inhibits its fibril-forming process. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Proteins and Proteomics*, *1794*(3), 421–430. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.11.016
- Leinberger, D. (2006). Temperature and humidity in ocean containers, Proceedings of Dimensions. International Safe Transit Association: East Lansing, MI, USA.
- Lerbret, A., Affouard, F., Hédoux, A., Krenzlin, S., Siepmann, J., Bellissent-Funel, M.-C., & Descamps, M. (2012). How Strongly Does Trehalose Interact with Lysozyme in the Solid State? Insights from Molecular Dynamics Simulation and Inelastic Neutron Scattering. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, *116*(36), 11103–11116. doi:10.1021/jp3058096
- Lévy, R., & Maaloum, M. (2002). Measuring the spring constant of atomic force microscope cantilevers: thermal fluctuations and other methods. *Nanotechnology*, *13*(1), 33. doi:10.1088/0957-4484/13/1/307
- Lhevender, C., Meunier, J., Hénon, S. (2000). Brewster angle microscopy. A. Baszkin, W. Dahlen (Eds.), Physical Chemistry of Biological Interfaces., Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 559–576.
- Li, Y., Lu, F., Luo, C., Chen, Z., Mao, J., Shoemaker, C., & Zhong, F. (2009). Functional properties of the Maillard reaction products of rice protein with sugar. *Food Chemistry*, *117*(1), 69–74. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.03.078
- Li-Chan, E. (1983). Heat-Induced Changes in the Proteins of Whey Protein Concentrate. *Journal of Food Science*, 48(1), 47–56. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1983.tb14786.x
- Liu, G., & Zhong, Q. (2013). Thermal aggregation properties of whey protein glycated with various saccharides. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *32*(1), 87–96. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2012.12.008
- Liu, Y., Bhandari, B., & Zhou, W. (2006). Glass Transition and Enthalpy Relaxation of Amorphous Food Saccharides: A Review. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *54*(16), 5701–5717. doi:10.1021/jf060188r
- Losito, I., Stringano, E., Carulli, S., & Palmisano, F. (2010). Correlation between lactosylation and denaturation of major whey proteins: an investigation by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, *396*(6), 2293–2306. doi:10.1007/s00216-010-3465-6
- Mackie, A. R., Gunning, A. P., Wilde, P. J., & Morris, V. J. (1999). Orogenic Displacement of Protein from the Air/Water Interface by Competitive Adsorption. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *210*(1), 157–166. doi:10.1006/jcis.1998.5941
- Maison de l'agriculture. (2014). Produire et transformer le lait en Bretagne en 2020.

- Martens, H., Nielsen, J. P., & Engelsen, S. B. (2003). Light Scattering and Light Absorbance Separated by Extended Multiplicative Signal Correction. Application to Near-Infrared Transmission Analysis of Powder Mixtures. *Analytical Chemistry*, *75*(3), 394–404. doi:10.1021/ac020194w
- Martin, A. H., Grolle, K., Bos, M. A., Stuart, M. A. C., & van Vliet, T. (2002). Network Forming Properties of Various Proteins Adsorbed at the Air/Water Interface in Relation to Foam Stability. *Journal* of Colloid and Interface Science, 254(1), 175–183. doi:10.1006/jcis.2002.8592
- Martinez-Alvarenga, M. S., Martinez-Rodriguez, E. Y., Garcia-Amezquita, L. E., Olivas, G. I., Zamudio-Flores, P. B., Acosta-Muniz, C. H., & Sepulveda, D. R. (2014). Effect of Maillard reaction conditions on the degree of glycation and functional properties of whey protein isolate Maltodextrin conjugates. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *38*, 110–118. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2013.11.006
- Martins, S. I. F. S., Jongen, W. M. F., & van Boekel, M. A. J. S. (2000). A review of Maillard reaction in food and implications to kinetic modelling. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, *11*(9–10), 364–373. doi:10.1016/S0924-2244(01)00022-X
- Maskan, M. (2001). Kinetics of colour change of kiwifruits during hot air and microwave drying. *Journal* of Food Engineering, 48(2), 169–175. doi:10.1016/S0260-8774(00)00154-0
- McClements, D. j., Monahan, F. j., & Kinsella, J. e. (1993). Disulfide Bond Formation Affects Stability of Whey Protein Isolate Emulsions. *Journal of Food Science*, *58*(5), 1036–1039. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1993.tb06106.x
- Médecin sans frontière. (2009). Kit in dry. Presentation
- Mimouni, A., Deeth, H. C., Whittaker, A. K., Gidley, M. J., & Bhandari, B. R. (2010). Investigation of the microstructure of milk protein concentrate powders during rehydration: Alterations during storage. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *93*(2), 463–472. doi:10.3168/jds.2009-2369
- Miron, S., Réfregiers, M., Gilles, A.-M., & Maurizot, J.-C. (2005). New Synchrotron Radiation Circular Dichroism end-station on DISCO beamline at SOLEIL synchrotron for biomolecular analysis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects*, 1724(3), 425–431. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.05.012
- Mistry, V. V. (2002). Manufacture and application of high milk protein powder. *Le Lait, 82*(4), 515–522. doi:10.1051/lait:2002028
- Morgan, F., Appolonia Nouzille, C., Baechler, R., Vuataz, G., & Raemy, A. (2005). Lactose crystallisation and early Maillard reaction in skim milk powder and whey protein concentrates. *Le Lait, 85*(4– 5), 315–323. doi:10.1051/lait:2005017
- Morgan, F., Bouhallab, S., Mollé, D., Henry, G., Maubois, J.-L., & Léonil, J. (1998). Lactolation of βlactoglobulin monitored by electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. *International dairy journal*, 8(2), 95–98.
- Morgan, F., Léonil, J., Mollé, D., & Bouhallab, S. (1997). Nonenzymatic Lactosylation of Bovine β-Lactoglobulin under Mild Heat Treatment Leads to Structural Heterogeneity of the Glycoforms. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 236(2), 413–417. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.6955

- Morgan, F., Léonil, J., Mollé, D., & Bouhallab, S. (1998). Modification of Bovine β-Lactoglobulin by Glycation in a Powdered State or in an Aqueous Solution: Effect on Association Behavior and Protein Conformation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 47(1), 83–91. doi:10.1021/jf9804387
- Morgan, F., Mollé, D., Henry, G., Vénien, A., Léonil, J., Peltre, G., et al. (1999). Glycation of bovine β-Lactoglobulin: effect on the protein structure. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, *34*(5–6), 429–435. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2621.1999.00318.x
- Moro, A., Báez, G. D., Busti, P. A., Ballerini, G. A., & Delorenzi, N. J. (2011). Effects of heat-treated βlactoglobulin and its aggregates on foaming properties. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *25*(5), 1009–1015. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2010.09.021
- Morr, C. V., & Ha, E. Y. W. (1993). Whey protein concentrates and isolates: Processing and functional properties. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 33(6), 431–476. doi:10.1080/10408399309527643
- Mulsow, B. B., Jacob, M., & Henle, T. (2008). Studies on the impact of glycation on the denaturation of whey proteins. *European Food Research and Technology*, *228*(4), 643–649. doi:10.1007/s00217-008-0973-0
- Murrieta-Pazos, I., Gaiani, C., Galet, L., & Scher, J. (2012). Composition gradient from surface to core in dairy powders: Agglomeration effect. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *26*(1), 149–158. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.05.003
- Nacka, F., Chobert, J. M., Burova, T., Léonil, J., & Haertlé, T. (1998). Induction of new physicochemical and functional properties by the glycosylation of whey proteins. *Journal of Protein Chemistry*, *17*(5), 495–503.
- Nicolai, T. (2015). Formation and functionality of self-assembled whey protein microgels. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2015.05.055
- Nicolai, T., Britten, M., & Schmitt, C. (2011). β-Lactoglobulin and WPI aggregates: Formation, structure and applications. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *25*(8), 1945–1962. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.02.006
- Nicolai, T., & Durand, D. (2013). Controlled food protein aggregation for new functionality. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science*, *18*(4), 249–256. doi:10.1016/j.cocis.2013.03.001
- Nijdam, J. J., & Langrish, T. A. G. (2006). The effect of surface composition on the functional properties of milk powders. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 77(4), 919–925. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2005.08.020
- Norwood, E.-A., Chevallier, M., Floch-Fouéré, C. L., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R., & Croguennec, T. (2016).
 Heat-Induced Aggregation Properties of Whey Proteins as Affected by Storage Conditions of
 Whey Protein Isolate Powders. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 9(6), 993–1001.
 doi:10.1007/s11947-016-1686-1
- Norwood, E.-A., Le Floch-Fouéré, C., Briard-Bion, V., Schuck, P., Croguennec, T., & Jeantet, R. (2016). Structural markers of the evolution of whey protein isolate powder during aging and effects on foaming properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *99*(7), 5265–5272. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-10788

- Oboroceanu, D., Wang, L., Brodkorb, A., Magner, E., & Auty, M. A. E. (2010). Characterization of β-Lactoglobulin Fibrillar Assembly Using Atomic Force Microscopy, Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis, and in Situ Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *58*(6), 3667–3673. doi:10.1021/jf9042908
- Oliver, C. M., Melton, L. D., & Stanley, R. A. (2006). Functional properties of caseinate glycoconjugates prepared by controlled heating in the "dry" state. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *86*(5), 732–740. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2406
- Özkan, N., Walisinghe, N., & Chen, X. D. (2002). Characterization of stickiness and cake formation in whole and skim milk powders. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *55*(4), 293–303. doi:10.1016/S0260-8774(02)00104-8
- Parsegian, V. A., Rand, R. P., & Rau, D. C. (1995). [3] Macromolecules and water: Probing with osmotic stress. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 259, pp. 43–94). Elsevier. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0076687995590390. Accessed 11 August 2016
- Patel, K.N., Modi, R., Patel, H., Aparnathi, K., (2013). Browning, its Chemistry and implications in Dairy Products: a Review.
- Pereyra Gonzales, A. S., Naranjo, G. B., Leiva, G. E., & Malec, L. S. (2010). Maillard reaction kinetics in milk powder: Effect of water activity at mild temperatures. *International Dairy Journal*, 20(1), 40–45. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2009.07.007
- Petit, J., Moreau, A., Ronse, G., Debreyne, P., Bouvier, L., Blanpain-Avet, P., et al. (2016). Role of Whey Components in the Kinetics and Thermodynamics of β-Lactoglobulin Unfolding and Aggregation. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 1–13. doi:10.1007/s11947-016-1726-x
- Phan-Xuan, T., Durand, D., Nicolai, T., Donato, L., Schmitt, C., & Bovetto, L. (2011). On the Crucial Importance of the pH for the Formation and Self-Stabilization of Protein Microgels and Strands. *Langmuir*, *27*(24), 15092–15101. doi:10.1021/la203357p
- Phan-Xuan, T., Durand, D., Nicolai, T., Donato, L., Schmitt, C., & Bovetto, L. (2013). Tuning the Structure of Protein Particles and Gels with Calcium or Sodium Ions. *Biomacromolecules*, 14(6), 1980–1989. doi:10.1021/bm400347d
- Phan-Xuan, T., Durand, D., Nicolai, T., Donato, L., Schmitt, C., & Bovetto, L. (2014). Heat induced formation of beta-lactoglobulin microgels driven by addition of calcium ions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 34, 227–235. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2012.09.008
- Pilet, V. (2016). *Overview of global markets. Dried Products And Cheese*. Presented at the IDF Parallel Symposia, Dairy Products Concentration & Drying Cheese Science & Technology., Dublin, Ireland.
- Potier, M. (2015). The global market for infant formulas: a key market.
- Razumovsky, L., & Damodaran, S. (1999). Surface Activity–Compressibility Relationship of Proteins at the Air–Water Interface. *Langmuir*, *15*(4), 1392–1399. doi:10.1021/la980873v
- Roefs, S. P. F. M., & De Kruif, K. G. (1994). A Model for the Denaturation and Aggregation of β-Lactoglobulin. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 226(3), 883–889. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1994.00883.x

- Roos, Y. H. (2002). Importance of glass transition and water activity to spray drying and stability of dairy powders. *Le Lait*, *82*(4), 475–484.
- Roudaut, G., Simatos, D., Champion, D., Contreras-Lopez, E., & Le Meste, M. (2004). Molecular mobility around the glass transition temperature: a mini review. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 5(2), 127–134. doi:10.1016/j.ifset.2003.12.003
- Rouyer, B. (2015). Dynamic of investment in dry dairy ingredients worldwide. CNIEL International press.
- Rullier, B., Axelos, M. A. V., Langevin, D., & Novales, B. (2009). β-Lactoglobulin aggregates in foam films: Correlation between foam films and foaming properties. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 336(2), 750–755. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2009.04.034
- Rullier, B., Axelos, M. A. V., Langevin, D., & Novales, B. (2010). β-Lactoglobulin aggregates in foam films: Effect of the concentration and size of the protein aggregates. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 343(1), 330–337. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2009.11.015
- Rullier, B., Novales, B., & Axelos, M. A. V. (2008). Effect of protein aggregates on foaming properties of β-lactoglobulin. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 330(2–3), 96–102. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2008.07.040
- Sağlam, D., Venema, P., van der Linden, E., & de Vries, R. (2014). Design, properties, and applications of protein micro- and nanoparticles. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science*, *19*(5), 428–437. doi:10.1016/j.cocis.2014.09.004
- Saint-Jalmes, A., Peugeot, M.-L., Ferraz, H., & Langevin, D. (2005). Differences between protein and surfactant foams: Microscopic properties, stability and coarsening. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 263*(1–3), 219–225. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2005.02.002
- Sawyer, L., Kontopidis, G., & Wu, S.-Y. (1999). β-Lactoglobulin–a three-dimensional perspective. International journal of food science & technology, 34(5–6), 409–418.
- Schmitt, C., Bovay, C., Vuilliomenet, A.-M., Rouvet, M., & Bovetto, L. (2011). Influence of protein and mineral composition on the formation of whey protein heat-induced microgels. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *25*(4), 558–567. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2010.05.010
- Schmitt, C., Bovay, C., Vuilliomenet, A.-M., Rouvet, M., Bovetto, L., Barbar, R., & Sanchez, C. (2009). Multiscale Characterization of Individualized β-Lactoglobulin Microgels Formed upon Heat Treatment under Narrow pH Range Conditions. *Langmuir*, *25*(14), 7899–7909. doi:10.1021/la900501n
- Schmitt, C., Moitzi, C., Bovay, C., Rouvet, M., Bovetto, L., Donato, L., et al. (2010). Internal structure and colloidal behaviour of covalent whey protein microgels obtained by heat treatment. *Soft Matter*, 6(19), 4876–4884. doi:10.1039/COSM00220H
- Schokker, E. P., Church, J. S., Mata, J. P., Gilbert, E. P., Puvanenthiran, A., & Udabage, P. (2011). Reconstitution properties of micellar casein powder: Effects of composition and storage. *International Dairy Journal*, *21*(11), 877–886. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2011.05.004

- Scholl, S. K., & Schmidt, S. J. (2014). Determining the physical stability and water–solid interactions responsible for caking during storage of alpha-anhydrous glucose. *Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization*, 8(4), 326–335. doi:10.1007/s11694-014-9193-4
- Schuck, P. (2002). Spray drying of dairy products: state of the art. In *Le Lait* (Vol. 82, pp. 375–382). Presented at the International Symposium on Spray Drying of Milk Products, EDP Sciences. http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=14033923. Accessed 19 April 2016
- Schuck, P., Jeantet, R., & Dolivet, A. (2012). *Analytical Methods for Food and Dairy Powders*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Schuck, P., le Floch-Fouere, C., & Jeantet, R. (2013). Changes in Functional Properties of Milk Protein Powders: Effects of Vacuum Concentration and Drying. *Drying Technology*, *31*(13–14), 1578– 1591. doi:10.1080/07373937.2013.816316
- Serpen, A., Capuano, E., Fogliano, V., & Gökmen, V. (2007). A New Procedure To Measure the Antioxidant Activity of Insoluble Food Components. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(19), 7676–7681. doi:10.1021/jf071291z
- Sethumadhavan, G. N., Nikolov, A. D., & Wasan, D. T. (2001a). Stability of Liquid Films Containing Monodisperse Colloidal Particles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *240*(1), 105–112. doi:10.1006/jcis.2001.7628
- Sethumadhavan, G. N., Nikolov, A., & Wasan, D. (2001b). Film Stratification in the Presence of Colloidal Particles. *Langmuir*, *17*(7), 2059–2062. doi:10.1021/la000936l
- Singh, H. (1991). Modification of food proteins by covalent crosslinking. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, *2*, 196–200. doi:10.1016/0924-2244(91)90683-A
- Smith, D. A., Connell, S. D., Robinson, C., & Kirkham, J. (2003). Chemical force microscopy: applications in surface characterisation of natural hydroxyapatite. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 479(1), 39–57. doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(02)01374-0
- Smithers, G. W. (2008). Whey and whey proteins—From "gutter-to-gold." *International Dairy Journal*, 18(7), 695–704. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2008.03.008
- Stapelfeldt, H., Nielsen, B. R., & Skibsted, L. H. (1997). Effect of heat treatment, water activity and storage temperature on the oxidative stability of whole milk powder. *International Dairy Journal*, 7(5), 331–339.
- Struik, L. C. E. (1977). Physical aging in plastics and other glassy materials. *Polymer Engineering & Science*, *17*(3), 165–173. doi:10.1002/pen.760170305
- Struik, L. C. E. (1978). Orientation effects and cooling stresses in amorphous polymers. *Polymer Engineering & Science, 18*(10), 799–811. doi:10.1002/pen.760181011
- Sun, W.-W., Yu, S.-J., Yang, X.-Q., Wang, J.-M., Zhang, J.-B., Zhang, Y., & Zheng, E.-L. (2011). Study on the rheological properties of heat-induced whey protein isolate–dextran conjugate gel. *Food Research International*, 44(10), 3259–3263. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2011.09.019
- Surroca, Y., Haverkamp, J., & Heck, A. J. R. (2002). Towards the understanding of molecular mechanisms in the early stages of heat-induced aggregation of β -lactoglobulin AB. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *970*(1–2), 275–285. doi:10.1016/S0021-9673(02)00884-1

- Tamime, A. Y., Robinson, R. K., and Michel, M. (2007). Microstructure of concentrated and dried milk products. In Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Oxford, UK (Ed.), Structure of Dairy Products, 104–133.
- Thomas, M. E. C. (2004). Influence de l'activité de l'eau sur les interactions lactose / β -lactoglobuline de poudres laitières modèles lyophilisées. Vandoeuvre-les-Nancy, INPL. http://www.theses.fr/2004INPL065N. Accessed 23 June 2015
- Thomas, M. E. C., Scher, J., & Desobry, S. (2004). Lactose/β-Lactoglobulin Interaction During Storage of Model Whey Powders. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *87*(5), 1158–1166. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73264-6
- Thomas, M. E. C., Scher, J., Desobry-Banon, S., & Desobry, S. (2004). Milk Powders Ageing: Effect on Physical and Functional Properties. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 44(5), 297– 322. doi:10.1080/10408690490464041
- Thomsen, M. K., Lauridsen, L., Skibsted, L. H., & Risbo, J. (2005). Temperature Effect on Lactose Crystallization, Maillard Reactions, and Lipid Oxidation in Whole Milk Powder. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *53*(18), 7082–7090. doi:10.1021/jf050862p
- Tuohy, K. M., Hinton, D. J. S., Davies, S. J., Crabbe, M. J. C., Gibson, G. R., & Ames, J. M. (2006). Metabolism of Maillard reaction products by the human gut microbiota – implications for health. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 50(9), 847–857. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200500126
- Uribarri, J., Peppa, M., Cai, W., Goldberg, T., Lu, M., Baliga, S., et al. (2003). Dietary glycotoxins correlate with circulating advanced glycation end product levels in renal failure patients. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, *42*(3), 532–538. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(03)00779-0
- Van Boekel, M. A. J. S. (1998). Effect of heating on Maillard reactions in milk. *Food Chemistry*, *62*(4), 403–414. doi:10.1016/S0308-8146(98)00075-2
- Vargaftik, N. B., Volkov, B. N., & Voljak, L. D. (1983). International Tables of the Surface Tension of Water. Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data, 12(3), 817–820. doi:10.1063/1.555688
- Vickerman, J.C., Briggs, D. (2001). ToF-SIMS: Surface analysis by mass spectrometry. IM
- Vignolles, M.-L., Jeantet, R., Lopez, C., & Schuck, P. (2007). Free fat, surface fat and dairy powders: interactions between process and product. A review. *Le Lait*, *87*(3), 187–236.
- Vignolles, M.-L., Lopez, C., Madec, M.-N., Ehrhardt, J.-J., Mejean, S., Schuck, P., Jeantet, R. (2009). Protein-lactose matrix effects on fat encapsulation during the overall spray-drying process of dairy powders. *Australian Journal of Dairy Technology*, 64, 75-79.
- Visschers, R. W., & de Jongh, H. H. J. (2005). Disulphide bond formation in food protein aggregation and gelation. *Biotechnology Advances*, *23*(1), 75–80. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2004.09.005
- Waller, G. R., & Feather, M. S. (1983). The Maillard reaction in foods and nutrition. ACS symposium series (USA). http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US8505073. Accessed 13 June 2016
- Walstra, P., Wouters, J. T. M., & Geurts, T. J. (2006). *Dairy Science and Technology, Second Edition*. CRC Press.

- Wang, W., & Zhong, Q. (2014). Improved thermal stability of whey protein–maltodextrin conjugates at pH 5.0 by d-Glucose, sucrose, d-cellobiose, and lactose. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *41*, 257–264. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2014.04.025
- Wang, W.-Q., Bao, Y., & Chen, Y. (2013). Characteristics and antioxidant activity of water-soluble Maillard reaction products from interactions in a whey protein isolate and sugars system. *Food Chemistry*, 139(1-4), 355–361. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.01.072
- Ward, A. F. H., & Tordai, L. (1946). Time-Dependence of Boundary Tensions of Solutions I. The Role of Diffusion in Time-Effects. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, *14*(7), 453. doi:10.1063/1.1724167
- Wierenga, P. A., van Norél, L., & Basheva, E. S. (2009). Reconsidering the importance of interfacial properties in foam stability. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 344(1–3), 72–78. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2009.02.012
- Wold, S., Esbensen, K., & Geladi, P. (1987). Proceedings of the Multivariate Statistical Workshop for Geologists and GeochemistsPrincipal component analysis. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems*, 2(1), 37–52. doi:10.1016/0169-7439(87)80084-9
- Wooster, T. J., & Augustin, M. A. (2007). Rheology of whey protein-dextran conjugate films at the
air/water interface. Food Hydrocolloids, 21(7), 1072–1080.
doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2006.07.015
- Yazdanpanah, N., & Langrish, T. A. G. (2013). Comparative study of deteriorative changes in the ageing of milk powder. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 114(1), 14–21. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.07.026
- Ying, P., Yu, Y., Jin, G., & Tao, Z. (2003). Competitive protein adsorption studied with atomic force microscopy and imaging ellipsometry. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 32(1), 1–10. doi:10.1016/S0927-7765(02)00133-9
- Zhou, P., & Labuza, T. P. (2007). Effect of Water Content on Glass Transition and Protein Aggregation of Whey Protein Powders During Short-Term Storage. *Food Biophysics*, *2*(2–3), 108–116. doi:10.1007/s11483-007-9037-4
- Zhu, H., & Damodaran, S. (1994). Heat-Induced Conformational Changes in Whey Protein Isolate and Its Relation to Foaming Properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 42(4), 846–855. doi:10.1021/jf00040a002
- Zylberman, V., & Pilosof, A. M. R. (2002). Relationship between the glass transition, molecular structure and functional stability of hydrolyzed soy proteins. In H. Levine (Ed.), *Relationship* between the glass transition, molecular structure and functional stability of hydrolyzed soy proteins (pp. 158–168). http://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/chapter/bk9780854048663-00158/978-0-85404-866-3. Accessed 29 April 2016

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1: World milk production - all milk species
Figure 2: Dairy trade balances in 2013 composed of surplus countries with a positive trade balanced of more than 2% (blue), balanced countries (grey) and deficit countries with a negative trade balanced of less than 2% (yellow)
Figure 3: Top 5 export flows per exporter exceeding 10 000 tonnes. Development 2013/14 as indicated in %
Figure 4: "Cracking" of milk
Figure 5: Identified uses of caseins and caseinates in the EU 27 in 2010 11
Figure 6: Distribution of WPC applications in the food sector in the EU 27 in 2010
Figure 7: Properties of dairy powders upon storage14
Figure 8: Colour development in samples treated under different experimental conditions. WPI means whey protein isolate and MD means maltodextrin. Numbers correspond to the reaction conditions: temperature (°C)/ relative humidity (%)/ time (h)/ and molar ratio, respectively
Figure 9: SEM images of particle surface of fresh powder after 10 and 80 min of rehydration (A, B respectively); of a 2 months stored powder at 20°C after 10 and 80 min of rehydration (C, D respectively)
Figure 10: Chemical structures of (a) N-terminal pyroglutamic acid resulting from the cyclization of the N-terminal glutamic acid of α -LA, (b) a cyclic imide resulting from the cyclization of an internal aspartyl residue
Figure 11: Temperature record during exportation: France toward Tchad
Figure 12: Temperatures reached by cumulative shipments
Figure 13: Organization of the PhD research project
Figure 14: A force distance curve showing the approach and retract parts of the cycle: A, tip is a large distance from the surface and no interaction is measured; B, the tip contacts the surface; C, the cantilever is bent and a repulsive force (positive) is measured; D, the cantilever holder is retracted from the surface and an adhesive interaction (negative) between tip and surface is observed; E, the pull-off point
Figure 15: Images of powders after 15 months of storage at 4°C, after 1, 3, 6, 9 and 15 months of storage at 20°C, 40°C and after 1, 3, 6 months of storage at 60°C
Figure 16: Evolution of Browning Index (Arbitrary Units, AU) for powders stored at 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) as a function of storage time, with experimental relative error < 0.7% 43
Figure 17: SEM images of A) Ref and B) aged powder. The bottom images are magnifications of their correspondent top ones
Figure 18: Evaluation of A) hydrophobic forces and representation of B) adhesion force maps for Ref and WPI powder stored 1 month at 60°C

Figure 20: A) RP-HPLC profile of WPI powders at t_0 (solid line) and stored 15 months at 20°C (longdashed line), at 40°C (dashed line) and stored 6 months at 60°C (dotted line). B) Influence of storage time and temperature on the amount of native β -LG at pH4.6 during storage à 20°C (circle), 40°C (triangle) and 60°C (square) for powders of a_w 0.23 (empty symbols) and a_w 0.36 (solid symbols) 49

Figure 32: A) RP-Phase profile of WPI powders at pH 4.6 at t_0 (solid line) and powders with 1 storage accident (long-dashed line), 2 storage accidents (dashed line) and 3 storage accidents (dotted line); B)
Amount of native (empty symbols) and aggregated (full symbols) proteins; and C) evolution of Browning Index for powders with 1 (circle), 2 (triangle) and 3 storage accidents (square)
Figure 33: Diagram of the ellipsometric measurements
Figure 34: Graphic determination of D
Figure 35: Graphic determination of θ and Γ_0
Figure 36: Average aggregate sizes as a function of storage time for powders stored at A) 20°C and B) 40°C after heat treatment at pH 5.8 (circle), pH 6.2 (square) and pH 6.6 (triangle)
Figure 37: TEM images of negatively stained WPI Ref (A, C, E) and powder stored for 12 months at 40°C (B, D, F) when heat treated at pH 5.8 (A, B), pH 6.2 (C, D) and pH 6.6 (E, F)
Figure 38: Proposed scheme for formation of heat-induced aggregates of native and stored powders as a function of pH
Figure 39: Effect of storage time and temperature on foam stability. Powders of $a_w 0.23$ at t_0 (full grey circle) and stored 12 months at 20°C (empty circle), at 40°C (empty square) and 6 months at 60°C (empty triangle). Powder of $a_w 0.36$ stored 6 months at 60°C (full black triangle)
Figure 40: Effect of storage temperature on foam density. Powders of $a_w 0.23$ at t_0 and stored 12 months at 20°C, 40°C and 6 months at 60°C (grey bar). Powder of $a_w 0.36$ stored 6 months at 60°C (white bar)
Figure 41: Diffusion coefficient (D, m ² .s ⁻¹) of surface active molecules in 3 mg.L ⁻¹ solutions reconstituted with powders stored at 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time
Figure 42: The surface concentration at which $\pi \neq 0$ (Γ_0 , mg.m ⁻²) of surface active molecules in 3 mg.L ⁻¹ solutions reconstituted with powders stored at 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time
Figure 43: The amplitude of molecular interactions (θ , mN.m.mg ⁻¹) of surface active molecules in 3 mg.L ⁻¹ solutions reconstituted with powders stored 20°C (circle), at 40°C (triangle) and at 60°C (square) as a function of storage time
Figure 44: Pictures of samples arranged in pairs per conditions; unheated (left side) and heat treated (right side) solutions
Figure 45: Average aggregate sizes as a function of the number of storage accidents at pH 5.8 (circle) and pH 6.6 (triangle)
Figure 46: RP-Phase profiles of WPI powders at t_0 (grey solid line) and WPI _{B37} (black solid line), WPI _{B62} (black long-dashed line triangle), WPI _{B74} (black dashed line) and WPI _{M37} (black dotted line) stored 3 months at A) 40°C and at B) 60°C
Figure 47: Evolution of t -LG lactosylation for WPI_{B37} (circle), WPI_{B62} (triangle), WPI_{B74} (square) and WPI_{M37} (solid circle) stored at 40°C as a function of storage time
Figure 48: Amount of aggregated proteins for WPI_{B37} (circle), WPI_{B62} (triangle), WPIB74 (square) and WPI_{M37} (solid circle) stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time
Figure 49: Images of Ref powder and WPC, WPI ^[+] , WPI and WPI ^[-] stored for 1 and 3 months at 40°C; and stored for 1 week to 3 months at 60°C

Figure 50: Evolution of Browning Index for WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time 103 Figure 51: RP-HPLC profiles of WPI powders at t₀ (grey, solid line) and WPC (black, long-dashed line), WPI^[+] (black, dotted line), WPI (black, solid line) and WPI^[-] (black, dashed line) stored 3 months at A) **Figure 52:** Evolution of lactosylation of β -LG (in % in regards to the native form) for WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C as a function of storage time. The fraction of Figure 53: All spectra of the WPC, WPI^[+], WPI and WPI^[-] powders as Ref or stored at 40°C and 60°C up to 3 months 108 Figure 54: PC1–PC2 factorial map of the samples characterised by FTIR analysis in the region of amide I and II bands of WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders for Ref (black symbols) and stored at 40°C (blue symbols) and 60°C (orange symbols); the darker the inner Figure 55: The mean spectrum (black) and the spectral pattern of PC1 (dotted line) and PC2 (dashed line) weighed by their standard deviations; some particular wavelengths on PC1 and PC2 are indicated Figure 56: All spectra of the WPI and WPI^[-] powders as Ref or stored at 40°C and 60°C up to 3 months Figure 57: The mean spectrum (black) and the spectral pattern of PC1 (dotted line) and PC2 (dashed line) weighed by their standard deviations; some particular wavelengths on PC1 and PC2 are indicated Figure 58: PC1–PC2 factorial map of the samples characterised by FTIR analysis in the region of amide I and II bands of WPI (triangle) and WPI^[-] (circle) powders for Ref (black symbols) and stored at 40°C (blue symbols) and 60°C (orange symbols); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time112 Figure 59: Amount of aggregated proteins for WPC (diamond), WPI^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI Figure 60: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPC (1,2,3) and WPI^[+] (4,5,6) powders at 40°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_w, low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 month; 3, 3 months; 4, Ref; 5, 1 month; 6, 3 months..... 115 Figure 61: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPI (1,2,3) and WPI^[-] (4,5,6) powders at 40°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_W , low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 month; 3, 3 months; 4, Ref; 5, 1 month; 6, 3 months...... 115 Figure 62: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPC (1,2,3,4) and WPI^[+] (5,6,7,8) powders at 60°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_w, low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 1 Figure 63: SDS–PAGE profile of fresh and stored WPI (1,2,3,4,5) and WPI^[-] (6,7,8,9) powders at 60°C A) in the absence and B) presence of reducing agent DTT. M_w, low molecular weight markers; 1, Ref; 2, 2 weeks; 3, 1 month; 4, 2 months; 5, 3 months; 6, 2 weeks; 7, 1 month; 8, 2 months; 9, 3 months 117

Figure 64: Pictures of samples arranged in pairs per conditions; unheated (left side) and heat treated (right side) solutions
Figure 65: Average aggregate sizes as a function of storage time for WPC (diamond), WPI ^[+] (square), WPI (triangle) and WPI ^[-] (circle) powders stored at A) 40°C and B) 60°C after heat treatment at pH 6.6, with experimental relative error < 5%
Figure 66: Correlation between the amount of aggregated proteins and the browning index for WPI powders stored at 20°C (black symbols), at 40°C (blue symbols) and at 60°C (orange symbols); and subjected to a number of storage accidents (green); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time
Figure 67: Correlation between the amount of lactosylated t-LG and the browning index for WPI powders stored at 20°C (black symbols), at 40°C (blue symbols) and at 60°C (orange symbols); and subjected to a number of storage accidents (green); the darker the inner colour, the longer the storage time
Figure 68: Correlation circle of the principal components analysis (PCA)
Figure 69: Graph of individuals (dot) with hierarchical clustering on principal components; black, cluster 1; red, cluster 2; green, cluster 3; square, geometrical centre of clusters
Figure 70: Drawing of the ageing path of WPI powder resulting from the PCA
Figure 71: Determination of the curve equation considering the Browning Index of WPI powders stored at 60°C for up to 15 days
Figure 72: Highlights of the PhD project findings and conclusions
Figure 73: Diagram of the proposed future outlook of this PhD project with the short-term (blue) and long-term upstream (green) and downstream (orange) outlook

TABLE OF TABLES

Table 1: Overall production of the main dairy powders between 2010 and 2014
Table 2: Industrial uses in EU 27 between 2005 and 201010
Table 3: Progressive reactivity of β -LG sites towards lactose in dry way glycation; protein/lactose ratioof 1:50 under 65% relative humidity at 50°C24
Table 4: Composition of the fresh powder
Table 5: XPS analysis of WPI powder (relative atomic percentage, %)
Table 6: Parameters set used to produce the four powders of different particle size
Table 7: Composition of the four powders of different particle size
Table 8: Composition of the powders with different lactose content 94
Table 9: Correspondences between samples stored in different conditions based on the BrowningIndex correlated with the amount of aggregated proteins in the powder and the level of lactosylation
Table 10: Correspondences of the Browning Index at 40°C related to an accelerated storage at 60°C

RÉSUMÉ ABSTRACT

Modifications moléculaires et fonctionnelles au cours du vieillissement des poudres d'isolats de protéines solubles

cautions sont prises pour assurer des fonctions technologiques structurales et fonctionnelles surviennent lors du stockage. Ce et 60°C), et leurs évolutions structurales et fonctionnelles après réguliers. Les résultats montrent que le vieillissement suit une trajectoire définie impliquant d'abord la lactosylation d'une partie des protéines, puis leur agrégation à l'état sec. De plus, tés fonctionnelles est contrasté : les résultats montrent que les que les propriétés d'agrégation thermo-induites sont grandement modifiées. Pour minimiser ces modifications, deux pistes d'améla teneur en lactose résiduel. La différence de granulométrie n

Mots-clés : poudre d'isolat de protéines solubles, poudre, stockage,

Molecular and functional changes occurring during ageing of whey protein isolate powders

functional properties appear during storage. This project aimed for 15 months), and their structural and functional changes after rehydration were experimentally monitored at regular intervals. The results showed that ageing follows a specific path involving first protein lactosylation and then their aggregation in the dry state. In addition, this path was characterized by a catching up behaviour from the changes obtained at lower temperatures to st temperatures. The impact of these structural changes on the functional properties was mixed: the results showed that the foaming and interfacial properties were only slightly affected, while the heat-induced aggregation properties changes, several areas for improvement were followed, playing on either the powder particle size, or on lactose content whos

Keywords: whey protein isolate powder, storage, protein structures,



AGROCAMPUS OUEST • Institut supérieur des sciences agronomiques, agroalimentaires, horticoles et du paysage 65 rue de Saint-Brieuc - CS84215 - F-35042 Rennes Cedex Tél.: 02 23 48 50 00 www.agrocampus-ouest.fr

